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Definitions

TAFEREG I - BRI X P77 BT - AR T 9 e AA LT 26 -

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms and expressions have the meanings set forth below.

VTS BTN
“AGM”

(A ) B [ AR AR A

“Articles” or

“Articles of Association”

i IN

“associate(s)”

[ & A g

“Audit Committee”

ESg
“Board”

[ ]

“China”, “PRC” or
“People’s Republic of
China”

(AN ) |5 T IE SR |

“Company” or

“Zhenro Services”

(Bt ]

«

connected person(s)”

[ PR |

“Controlling Shareholders”

[ SRS

“Corporate Governance Code”

[#

“Director(s)”

ARNFR ZF ZIUAEN A N H BT BOR AR &
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 14 June 2024

AN TR ERANA (SRR

the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time

HA i AR % 2 3%

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

ERGEILZAY

the audit committee of the Board

HEE

the board of Directors

P NRICME B AE G A RAEE2 B S - BRCE S A s
Oh > NEFERWE - WITRRITEUR I A

the People’s Republic of China, but for the purpose of this annual report and for
geographical reference only and except where the context otherwise requites, excluding

Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan

EARMRBEEARAR > 7 ZF— /N A L H 7B &3 5 Aoz
WA REEATR > HB BT B (B 5% - 6958)

Zhenro Services Group Limited, an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability on 17 December 2018, whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 6958)

HA L AT % 2 1828

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

HA L AT % 2 1828

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

EHAIR R 4 (B ER AR R SRCL - B R = A E— HEAER
L dlibEe e il

Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 (which has been renumbered to
Appendix C1 with effect from 31 December 2023) to the Listing Rules

AN A ER

director(s) of the Company

2 EZ B M A R/ Zhenro Services Group Limited
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Definitions

[
“GFA”

[kt ]
“Global Offering”

[ AL
“Group”

[#oc
“HK$” or “HKD” or
“Hong Kong Dollars”

[ it |
“Hong Kong” or “HK”

[ P st e |
“IAS”

[ L]

“Listing”

[ b B

“Listing Date”

[k
“Listing Rules”

[

“Main Board”

[ RSy )

“Model Code”

exZag]

“Nomination Committee”

jeie E

gross floor area

AR AT R ) A 0 B 3 R 4 4y
the Hong Kong public offering and the international offering of the Shares pursuant to

the Prospectus

A5 B SLHR A7) (BT » 7/ RS — M I 4 )
the Company and its subsidiaries (or as the context refers, the Company and any one or

more of its subsidiaries)

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

FprE N BRI 7 i L 7
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

E3epigt il

International Accounting Standards

B AR T

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board

TERTHAELHATH > BRBERECHT B H
10 July 2020, the date when the Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange

W P 2 A (REARBRR BT ~ e s AR At U B 0
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended,

supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

WS BB R I 8 2 5 o BT R LA RE TS ) - S 58 B GEMOIE BELHL G 4778
(8

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock Exchange which
is independent from and operates in parallel with the GEM of the Stock Exchange

TRk 10 (EEARIEEM BkCs - B -F =+ A= BB
Frfiz CETgsT N SigErT 520 5 IR ST I

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 (which has been renumbered to Appendix C3 with effect from 31 December
2023) to the Listing Rules

ERGRAZAR

nomination committee of the Board

£ Annual Report 2023 3
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Definitions

[ AR PR

“Over-allotment Option”

[RIERE

“Prospectus”

[FrZ 5 g ]

“Remuneration Committee”

Eispiil
“Reporting Period”

[ AR
“RMB” or “Renminbi”

[ AR b )
“SFO”

[ ety )
“Share(s)”

s s
“Shareholder(s)”

RYES

sq.m.

[ 52 i |
“Stock Exchange”

[ B I 2 i |

“subsidiary(ies)”

BARB SR T % i

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Prospectus

AN HMAZZ ZREAH ZFIUH MR ER
the prospectus of the Company dated 29 June 2020

EHEHMERE

the remuneration committee of the Board

BEZF - =HFT A= HIEEE
for the year ended 31 December 2023

o E B LR
Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

BB AR 571 B IR KW B UR ] (RORRFIERT ~ Wi sl bl b7 X
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as

amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

A RS T (EL0.002 8 TERY A » H LAV TT A 5y Bt E R Tl
ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company with a par value of US$0.002 each,
which is (are) traded in Hong Kong dollars and listed on the Main Board

LS ZEDN
holder(s) of the Shares

Ik

square meter(s)

B A A R
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

HA BB 2% < 2

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

4 E 5{ % % " Pk 22 %] Zhenro Services Group Limited
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Definitions

[EAEF 18

“Zhenro Commercial

Management”
[ESSEE AR | I
“Zhenro Group Company”
[IE 42 | 1

“Zhenro Properties”

[ IE 5 3 i 4 A | 18

“Zhenro Properties Group”

[1E S PE I | 18

“Zhenro Properties Holdings”

[%] i
g

* fHEEAY

IEREREE A RAR > A= F—ELH — 48 HAER BB A REAEL
A RAEEMIgEREEZ A A A =T HRE AL R R EH
Ja& 22 )

Zhenro Commercial Management Co., Led.* (IE4E P £ E A BRA A, a company
established in the PRC with limited liability on 26 May 2014 which has been a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company since 30 June 2021 upon the acquisition by the
Group

IEASSEMA R R (MG AR @ IEREMARAR) - R—JULAEAA =+ —
FAE BB B A PR AL A 7] - o R 2 500 A B R 388 S5 A 0 Tl A 91.9% [t
8.1%

Zhenro Group Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Fujian Zhenro Group Co., Ltd.), a company
established in the PRC with limited liability on 31 August 1994, which is owned as to
91.9% by Mr. Ou Zongrong and 8.1% by Mr. Ou Guoqiang

IEAMAERMARATR R F—WEEA A+ — HAER 28 &L AL
WA REEATR > HB BT L (B AU5E - 6158)

Zhenro Properties Group Limited, an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability on 21 July 2014, whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 6158)

RS ] HL M 2~ 7]

Zhenro Properties and its subsidiaries

RS IR AT PR 7] (BRG 2 LE 6 eI IRy AT BR A /) > T —F — AL
A+ Z BB AL A REAE A R - R4 ) 2 G M8 4 7

Zhenro Properties Holdings Company Limited* (EZR M E P A R A H], formerly
known as 1E4&HEE 2 S 4 A FR /A Fl), a company established in the PRC with
limited liability on 22 July 2015 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Zhenro Properties

E‘ﬁ} It *  For identification only

percent
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Corporate Information
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E R
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W EAATHH
5 18 52
5 T S
s E

EilZAE

RARESEAE (FH)
R
B s oA

HMZHE

Ik B B W e R ()
BRI

(R —F =L — HIEEE)

MRIBEE SEE

(R ZFZ=4FLH— HEHE)

s fat s

RAZHE

BRI (M)

(R ZF =4 —H = HH#EZA(TE)

FALAL G

(R =F =4 —H =+ HEHE)

5 LS
IES 9 5
TR B 4w Bl

FSEE
Bttt

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Deng Li (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 1 July 2023)

Mr. Lin Xiaotong (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 1 July 2023)

Mr. Wang Wei
(appointed on 1 July 2023)

M:r. Kang Hong
(resigned on 1 July 2023)

Non-executive Directors
Mzr. Liu Weiliang (Chairman)

(appointed as the Chairman of the Board on 20 January 2023)

Mr. Huang Xianzhi
(resigned on 20 January 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ma Haiyue
Mzr. Au Yeung Po Fung
Mr. Zhang Wei

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Zhang Wei (Chairman)
Mr. Ma Haiyue
Mr. Liu Weiliang

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung (Chairman)
Mzr. Deng Li
(appointed on 1 July 2023)
M. Lin Xiaotong
(resigned on 1 July 2023)
Mr. Zhang Wei

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Liu Weiliang (Chairman)
(appointed on 20 January 2023)
Mr. Huang Xianzhi
(resigned on 20 January 2023)
Mr. Ma Haiyue
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Wang Yi
Ms. Lin Sio Ngo

6 IERMBEMA AT Zhenro Services Group Limited
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Corporate Information

MK

HRAE ek

(W ZF =L H—HEZET)
MRIBE e R

(H ZF =L —HEHE)
FZEE
SR (BTN R

734

2 7K w2 T
HLEEG T

A 2 AR i B A SR
5 v f) £

Y EIE 9795
Koy Vi — e 27 4

i 2 T s 2 2 e i 8 ) o il A
B A

Walkers Corporate Limited
190 Elgin Avenue

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-9008

Cayman Islands

s 200 8
Fils o YR 5 B R A IR D
i

BT

BJE RER183 5%
AR
17#1712-1716 %8 8

D 50 T 0y 3 1

Walkers Corporate Limited
190 Elgin Avenue

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-9008

Cayman Islands

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mzr. Deng Li

(appointed on 1 July 2023)
Mzr. Lin Xiaotong

(resigned on 1 July 2023)
Mr. Wang Yi

Ms. Lin Sio Ngo (Alternate authorized representative)

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE AND TRANSFER AGENT IN THE
CAYMAN ISLANDS

Walkers Corporate Limited

190 Elgin Avenue

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-9008

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Walkers Corporate Limited
190 Elgin Avenue

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-9008

Cayman Islands

48 Annual Report 2023
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Corporate Information

v T O N A A PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS AND
HEADQUARTH“IN(}HNA

R AT 1/F, Building 7, Hongqiao Zhenro Center

ESERa) Lane 666 Shenhong Road

T % 666 77 Minhang District

AR TE A8 rh L7 SR 1 Shanghai, PRC

BT EBRLY PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG

ERTE 40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre

HAF No. 248 Queen’s Road East

B R KB R 248 5% Wanchai

B4l oL 40 4 Hong Kong

FEARPUT PRINCIPAL BANKS

H I R BRAT R T A AT
Hh B R LR AT R B T Rl AT
B SRAT VL RR B 0T

Hh B A AR AT b B S AT
v [ T 7 SR AT AR P S [ S AT

China Construction Bank, Putian Licheng Branch

China Construction Bank, Nanchang Qingyunpu Branch
Bank of China, Jiangsu Province Branch

China Construction Bank, Shanghai Caoyang Road Branch

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China, Hongqiao Business District Branch

A ) i hE COMPANY’S WEBSITE
heep://www.zhenrowy.com http://www.zhenrowy.com

JBe Ay 5 STOCK CODE

6958 6958

|| i Y 8 TE 5% R o 4 1B AT B A ) Zhenro Services Group Limited
il N

‘ T /‘wﬁ
Pl 0
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Chairman’s Statement

R 5 AL BOR

AR NI i) 2% 7 J5e SR 41 52 A 3 TR i 5 30
PSR o

5% 5t 1]

WA AREBMIA S AR 1,145.5
HHEIT W F AR ALY AR
1,141.3 @ B 0I5 EAERY 5 AL
BHAANRMES Lo\ #T > M F -
AR B R 29 N R 5280.7 F B UG 5 RFAA ]
BEA NFERE M R4 AR Es1 28 ot »
Mo AR ERA AR 28130
BT o

Il % A N i A R
e

TR SR RS 1 B R
R 2 I o R T 0 AT B
180 54 10 2 FEGUSEIRE ~ MG TR ) ~
B 5 1 - 9 i~ IR ) Ik %
%o OHHAIREPMEZ S - FHEE
AIRHE 2 K o B S O A
TRRFER AR I LT R R R A
BRI BRI B o 2
i

A i T I 1 S BRI Ay BEARME ~ Ja o Bk BRI
IS T » AEBMBREENEH
WSSOSO BB > BRF T RES th
o SEAR By R AR E LA e
15 &~ TR I B AR R NS BB
HEEH > PG TS NSRRI A -

SIS 7 WU IE 45 TS 2 8 L
R EL A (1 B -

Dear Shareholders,

I 'am pleased to present to you the annual results of the Group for the Reporting
Period.

RESULTS REVIEW

During the Reporting Period, the revenue of the Group was approximately
RMB1,145.5 million, which was quite stable as compared with the revenue of
approximately RMB1,141.3 million for the corresponding period of 2022; the
loss of the Group during the period was approximately RMB81.9 million, as
compared to the loss of approximately RMB280.7 million for the corresponding
period of 2022; the loss attributable to owners of the parent during the period
was approximately RMB81.2 million, as compared to the loss of approximately
RMB281.3 million for the corresponding period of 2022.

REVIEW OF 2023: FORGING AHEAD WITH STABLE
OPERATION

In 2023, the world economy was struggling with new setbacks and challenges
even though the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic was fading away.
Multiple factors including the escalating Russia-Ukraine conflicts, intensifying
geopolitical risks, rising trade protectionism and enhanced inflationary pressure
led to a sluggish growth of global economy and increasing uncertainties and
risks. Chinese economy maintained an overall stable development trend, but
it also faced multiple pressures such as insufficient domestic demands, great

employment pressure and disruption of industrial chain supply.

In such severe context of complex environment at home and abroad and
coexistence of risks and challenges, the Group strictly followed the core values
of “attaining prosperity with integrity” (1IF Bl % 4%), upheld the brand
concept of “providing heartfelt and personalised services for your well-being (A
B0, SEAE A IR)”, overcame numerous difficulties and achieved encouraging
operating results with its strong determination, tenacious perseverance and

tactics wisdom.

The business achievements are attributable to Zhenro Services focus on the

philosophy of high-quality development:

43R Annual Report2023 9
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Chairman’s Statement

A Jog AR S GEIB > % T L

FAM R Fp R RS > FRATE i -
A BRI AR SRR = A RO T I R AR
SR R AR o R > T
1514 S5 R i A e 22 Bk = £ - BRISD I AL
PG M o 7ETH HOBUAREE E > M E
BRI of - EXEESFHRENE
R A 0 R - o 399 P B A R 4 AR R R
AR A 2RI - o iR 7 S I
SHEEEA - BRESBUEREEE > &
] & B AR R R -

i

FEEER > AT B

8

M ER RO - BELG  BEL IR
BrH G > RS R AL - AR AL A
BRI o L E M RGP
HALREL R BRY - MBEZHEILN
B B WA A R AR B R A T
FAMEE W T T RGEE B ZET B &R
BB U - @ R ST
B RE Y AT BEAS & - AR TH IR 2 R A
HEREE o IR FRAMBE AR At &
FAL > PR SEtm a4 ] ROUA S0 6
B mEE KA EMELERE > @A
SRR o TE T W 368 T T - FRAMHE
[ROCATE) | R 4R T 7 5 > AE4R TH R 3L
it~ BALRFALS - s s E STy
T AR T IHE AR > BRIR
THLF ANEN G AT 2 B o

Embracing competitive segments and tapping deep into prime
regions

We continued our focus on prime regions and stepped up efforts to expand into
core cities in Yangtze River Delta including Shanghai, Nanjing, Suzhou and
Fuzhou, in a bid to extend our management radius coverage. At the same time,
we extended our business layout to Pearl River Delta, Bohai Rim and other
economically vibrant regions. In terms of project type selection, we mainly
focus on the segments with great growth potential such as commercial and
office buildings, public construction and industrial parks. Our new expansions
during the Reporting Period included 4 large commercial complexes, 2 urban
services, 9 industrial parks and other quality projects, and the effect of resource
integration has continued to emerge with the contracted management coverage

area increasing steadily.

Increasing quality and efficiency for comprehensive intelligent

service reform

We continued to provide services in a “high-quality, caring and intelligent (/i
B~ BED ~ FEL)” manner and promoted the standardized, process-
oriented and intelligent service reform in a comprehensive manner. We set
up a dedicated quality management team and established a service quality
evaluation system covering multiple dimensions including safety, environment
and service to ensure standard and orderly management. We also completed the
development and a pilot run of “Ronglehui” (58442%), an intelligent customer
service system, which effectively improved our service efficiency and customer
experience through the organic combination of artificial and intelligent system
optimization. At the same time, we took the initiatives to shoulder corporate
social responsibility by launching the “Prosperity and Pleasure (3£-4f 2% 4%)”
community cultural series activities to convey positive energy to property
owners and the community and enhanced our humanistic care. In terms of
commercial property operation, we launched the “Rongguang Action (43t
FTH))”, an overall boost scheme which effectively enhanced the commercial
atmosphere of projects and improved the consumption experience of the tenants
and visitors by upgrading hardware facilities, optimizing merchant portfolio,

strengthening marketing and publicity, etc.

10 IEMFEEEA AT Zhenro Services Group Limited
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BN H A > LSRR

A ERAE - 50 B LR 4 3 P Rr Al
BERARAMRE - ZF =4 RO
TEATEEWR  @REFIIKE . KA
TR TR A B R e 22 T 2 Tl A
FIRAE - VIE T B TH ALK © [
B> AR BN EWHEH - EEH
ROEAZ AN R B R B B T ANE
o RNIE  IEWIE S R IR BT o JLAh
TAM R BR3P0 B 75 19 HSE A A
AN By o w A KB - T3 —
TRERE - BB -

SR > BRAM i R A AR S S i
RIBETIEA7H) | UL HBEFH#] > # [ 1E
TSR A | 0 {5 L AR A A L IE 56
ANEBEFAATE b - B LA SULE
PARIIE <8 2 PALUE DI F i Rl |
SRR > I B Y KRS
Al 1 B — 2P PR SR T ER AR ARG
AE A AR - BAF R E R
EATHAET -

JRE TR TN HRETHTREUE

U AR % U AR R R G > e SR 5 A
5 5 T8 B w2 AN RREE R MU EUR
T 28 AR 0 AR B A R B e > (TR 3
B AT 56 1A 5% R i SR AR (EL A A o A 4R
A B AR B — R I EUR SR S
BATHEAR BN - MRTHAR > (R SR
ALY T8 T — SRR
A7 i L (7] 300 2 o R R R YRR OB B
Bt o (e A BB LR AR S A
BEIRARGL R HEEAL A R > A
RETEAT 2E0 — S vt W 0 = 98 TR IS S b -

TR TPUAE > IE BEIROBS I SRR [ B A
W HEAA MRS — Bk
By BB AR o BT -
o UL AR A SRS

Attaching importance to talent cultivation and strengthening

cultural development

We firmly believe that an excellent workforce is the basic safeguard for the
sustainable development of an enterprise. In 2023, we continued to refine our
talent cultivation system and improved the training mechanism to provide
our employees with ample room for their career development and various
professional training channels, so as to improve employees’ professional levels.
At the same time, we vigorously optimized our human resources management
and improved the performance assessment and compensation incentive
mechanism to create a fair, just and transparent career development environment
for employees. In addition, we actively introduced industry-leading professionals
and compound talents to build cohesion amongst new comers in the Company

and create a high-quality and professional service team.

Moreover, we also attached great importance to corporate culture development.
We vigorously advocated the “Integrity  Action (IEefTH))” culture practice
plan in an effort to root the values of “atraining prosperity with integrity” (1F
HHESEZA) into the thoughts and behaviors of every staff and boosted the
Company’s comprehensive cultural strength and social influence. Under the
immersion of the corporate cultural concept, our staff further improved their
service professionalism and service awareness, strengthened their resilience in
personalities and fostered a teamwork spirit, injecting everlasting momentum

for the Company’s high-quality development.

Outlook for 2024: embracing a bright future with enhanced quality

and efficiency

We are embracing a new 2024. Although the world economic recovery will
face many uncertainties and the geopolitical conflicts will continue to affect the
economic development, the prospect of China’s property service industry remains
promising. In recent years, China has rolled out a series of policies to support
the property service industry for its improvement of quality and efficiency, as
well as transformation and upgrade. The residential property and non-residential
property market’s potential will be unlocked further, and the two segments will
both embrace a new historical stage for high-quality development. Only those
players who see high-quality products and services as a development cornerstone
and continuously improve professional and intelligence levels can be at the

forefront of the new round of industrial reshuffle and reshaping.

In 2024, Zhenro Services will adhere to the development concept of “pragmatic,
innovative, quality-oriented (B ELAIHT ~ B /7%)" and continue to focus on
the high-quality development, striving for providing professional, intelligent

and heartfelt products and services.

£ Annual Report2023 11
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RHERAE > O LA

AN Fr MK BB > A [ 58
R IVEBEMAR - [RER |2
R R > PR SR e
HES- 5 IO DT B 2 B - AT 4R R Y R e
fe~ aEife - KERAILAKF > B 5 THIBS
VESER B~ IBRCRM%E F 5 - [
A AR T AR B RAAM > ST H
PRMEARANIZ S AE 1 > NS A AL K RE -

ANF R A > B

M SEE A AR AT A
S Al 58 B R O
o RERTHE (B TAR SR
BE B ALKOT AR 3k BEIL A ¥
VR IR E 5 T 5 H A T
R LI EE ST LR g
B EMBOEARAA  EHEHRAL
B RPN BRI - AARRERE
BRGNS R -

XALSEE > BERIERER

FA Ao — 2 AL [ IE E R SR A | IO
BB BE S AE 20w B ~ PO oh G
BIABAT - A H AL 2 F A 38 P A
ERLHE RN B TAT S o [l > FRAM
o R A AL B AT B A R A B
ALARTE Z WAL I~ AT IR AR 0 2R 1
B o MFIESANRE R R N E L
GRERIDN R R PN § N ]
ENEAR S B FRAM R R K
MIERER > 228 Al B R R AR IB E)
91 .

Seeking digital and intelligent transformation with technology

empowerment

We will continue to increase investment in science and technology, and
effectively promote the “Ronglehui” (5644%%) intelligent customer service
system, the “Rongguanijia (£ %K)” intelligent operation and maintenance
system and other intelligent operation products, accelerate the research and
development and construction of enterprise-level intelligent operation and
maintenance platforms, comprehensively improve the intelligent, automatic and
refinement levels of operation, significantly enhance the service quality, service
efficiency and customer experience. At the same time, we will continue to
upgrade the back-office system architecture to lift our data summarization and

mining capabilities for the empowerment of refined operation.

Providing talent-based professional services

We will further refine our talent cultivation system, innovate the training
modes, strengthen the combination of theoretical study and practical operation,
systematically improve every employee’s overall professionalism, professional
levels and service awareness. In addition, we will optimize our human
resources management system and create the excellent talents introduction and
cultivation mechanism to introduce and cultivate batches of compound talents
who understand management, seek for innovation and focus on practice, so as to
drive the specialization of the managerial staff and the professional development
of the service staff to provide a talent guarantee for the Company’s high-quality

development.

Passing positive energy with corporate culture

We will further demonstrate and implement our core values of “attaining
prosperity with integrity” (IE B % 2€) during our strategic planning,
decision-making and operation, making it a deep-rooted concept for the
Company’s development, management mechanism and the code of conducts
for employees. At the same time, we will deepen and broaden our corporate
social responsibility practice by organizing more community-oriented, people’s
livelihood-concerned public welfare activities to benefit more communities and
people with our kindness and professional services and highlight the Company’s
humanistic care. With the same aspirations and concerted efforts, we are
bound to form a strong positive energy to inject continuous momentum for the

Company’s high-quality development.

12 M EE AR A Zhenro Services Group Limited
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BEALfi)m - RS R B )

A 8 S 53 O A > e M — 2 R B A
W R N R AL T R R
Ml > TR IR S A SORTE S RS
A T D T 953 0 R o e SRR
T A (A U T M
KA AH - MO EER
W kIS 6 AT G R T B
PO S O W AL 7 KOR B 5
BLYEUR G o R T AT R R TR A SR )
1 o

Rtz > e 2O - LEE - S8
P DL IR SRR A B B T % — 4RI R R
85 J3 A0 B AT R B S A AR A R0
A EERMTET LS B
O~ SURER > JLIE 55 7Y IE S E = R
BRI RS

TEZR R 5 45 P AT B2 ]
HHE LI
Blfstse

CECWE=H -+ \H

Optimizing layout to keep growth momentum

In terms of regional layout, we will further cement our leading position in
Shanghai, Nanjing, Suzhou and other core cities in Yangtze River Delta, and
focus on expanding the market share in economically vibrant regions including
Pearl River Delta, Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei and Chengdu-Chongqing. In terms of
type selection, we will continue to optimize the existing resources and focus on
the sought-after segments with great growth potential such as large commercial
complex, urban complex, industrial park and urban service, and keep thickening
our reserves of quality resources by mergers and acquisitions and other ways, so

as to inject strong momentum for the Company’s sustainable growth.

Last but not least, I would like to express my high respect and sincere
appreciation to all shareholders, investors, partners and all employees of Zhenro
Services for their dedication and hard work! Let us move forward with the same
aspirations, forge ahead with determination, open a new chapter of high-quality

development of Zhenro Services together!

Zhenro Services Group Limited
Liu Weiliang
Chairman of the Board

28 March 2024
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Business model of the Group

The Group has four business lines, namely, (i) property management services;
(ii) value-added services to non-property owners; (iii) community value-added
services; and (iv) commercial operational management services, forming an
offering of integrated services to its customers that covers the entire value chain

of property management.

o Property management services. The Group provides a wide range of
property management services to property developers, property owners,
residents and commercial property tenants. The Group’s property
management services primarily include (i) cleaning services; (ii) security
services; (iii) landscaping services; and (iv) repair and maintenance services
for both residential and non-residential properties and commercial

properties.

J Value-added services to non-property owners. The Group offers a
comprehensive range of property-related business solutions to non-
property owners, which primarily include property developers. The
Group’s value-added services to non-property owners primarily consist
of (i) sales assistance services (involving assistance to property developers
in showcasing and marketing their properties, cleaning and maintenance
services, security and visitor management services); (ii) additional tailored
services customised to meet specific needs of customers on an as-needed
basis and sales of goods; (iii) housing repair services; (iv) preliminary
planning and design consultancy services; and (v) pre-delivery inspection

services.

J Community value-added services. The Group provides community value-
added services to property owners and residents. The community value-
added services primarily include (i) home-living services; (ii) car park
management, leasing assistance and other services; and (iii) common area
value-added services to improve the living experience of customers and to

maintain and enhance the value of their properties.

o Commercial operational management services. The Group provides
commercial operational management services to the tenants and the
customers, which primarily include (i) brand and management output

services and (ii) sublease services.

14 IERMFEEEG AT Zhenro Services Group Limited
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The Group believes that its property management service business line serves
as the basis for the Group to generate revenue, expand its business scale, and
increase its customer base for its community value-added services to property
owners and residents. The Group’s provision of value-added services to non-
property owners enables it to gain early access to property development projects
and establish and cultivate business relationships with the property developers,
enhancing the Group’s competitive advantage in securing engagements for
property management services. The comprehensive range of the Group’s
community value-added services business line helps to enhance its relationship
with customers and improve their satisfaction and loyalty. The Group believes
that its four business lines will continue to enable it to gain greater market

shares and expand its business presence in China.

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT SERVICES

Continuous and Steady Growth in Both Area and Scale

The Group adhered to the strategic target to steadily expand its management
coverage area, and has achieved steady growth in contracted GFA and GFA
under management through multiple efforts. As at 31 December 2023, the
Group's contracted GFA amounted to approximately 109.6 million sq.m.,
representing an increase of 0.5% as compared with that as at 31 December
2022, and the number of contracted projects totalled 468. As at 31 December
2023, GFA under management of the Group’s property management services
reached approximately 80.8 million sq.m., representing an increase of
approximately 0.8% as compared with that as at 31 December 2022, and the

number of projects under management totalled 384.
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The table below indicates the movement in the Group’s contracted GFA and
GFA under management for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022

respectively:

REFZA=+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December
“RC=EH e S
2023 2022
AR TR AREE TR
T T I (1]

Contracted GFA under Contracted GFA under
GFA management GFA management
(FTx) (FITkK) (FIrTK) (FIrTxK)
(000 sq.m.) ('000 sq.m.) (000 sq.m.) ('000 sq.m.)
A As of the beginning of the period 109,093 80,128 104,055 70,982
MR A ew engagements 47 ,
BT H0 New engag ® 992 974 5,475 9,481
ko Terminations® (442) (339) (437) (335)
¥ s of the end of the perio , R , ,
i IES As of the end of the period 109,643 80,763 109,093 80,128
B &E Notes:
(1) HRAEMEEMETHE > Wi HE Tl (1) With respect to residential communities the Group managed, new engagements primarily

0 2 B T R T 0 S P A B (] R AR
B O 5 R T MRS AL R T 0 A AL I 4 A
RS A o

@ EHERILEEAREENET RSN SEE
HRAS A T] > T o AR G A SR i A S T A
IR BB ER A ET 4 > DML A SE I 2%

EHAS -

included preliminary management contracts for new properties developed by property
developers and property management service contracts for residential communities replacing

their previous property management service providers.

(2) These terminations included the Group’s voluntary non-renewal of certain property
management service contracts as it reallocated its resources to more profitable engagements

in an effort to optimise its property management portfolio.
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Geographic presence of the Group

As of 31 December 2023, the Group has expanded its geographic presence to
55 cities in China.

The table below sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s total GFA under
management as of the dates indicated and total revenue generated from
property management services by geographic location for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 respectively:

BtZAZt—HEBEF A= H IR

As at 31 December or for the year ended 31 December

SR TR
2023 2022

b [ i 2 TE [T

iy e Y Ul En A =& T} g ol v

Regional Regional

revenue as a revenue as a

percentage percentage

GFA under oftotal  GFA under of total

management Revenue revenue  management Revenue revenue

(FIrTx) AR¥TL % (FHFK) AREFE %

(000 sq.m.)  RMB'000 %  (000sqgm)  RMB000 %

R=AWHIEY  Yangtze River Delta Region™” 27,073 373,703 46.8 26,403 326,023 51.1

R R Bohai Rim Region® 3,435 51,768 6.5 2,755 44,617 5.9

HIPGHAS TS Midwest Economic Region® 24,287 165,963 20.8 25,403 154,690 19.0

TR Western Straits Region® 25,968 206,912 259 25,567 181,183 24.0

Gt Total 80,763 798,346 100.0 80,128 706,513 100.0

Wik Notes:

() ZREEEFE R T = I T A 0 5 L0 0 0 (1) Cities in which the Group has property management projects in the Yangtze River Delta

TEHE L - B B AL R
BRI~ %~ W)~ N A k- B
B B B T R B N R
9 o

() ASRITEE) I S A 2R BE H T R
FERTE PR ~ I SR o

Region include Shanghai, Nanjing, Suzhou, Hefei, Jiaxing, Taizhou, Chuzhou, Lu'an,
Wuhu, Changzhou, Suzhou, Xuancheng, Chaohu, Fuyang, Hangzhou, Taizhou, Nantong,
Xuzhou, Sugian, Chizhou and Wuxi.

(2) Cities in which the Group has property management projects in the Bohai Rim Region

include Tianjin, Jinan, Luoyang and Zhengzhou.
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(3) Cities in which the Group has property management projects in the Midwest Economic
Region include Nanchang, Yichun, Changsha, Wuhan, Xi'an, Ganzhou, Suizhou,
Xiangyang, Yueyang, Chongqing, Chengdu, Ji'an, Huanggang, Guangyuan, Baoji,
Kunming and Xianyang.

(4) Cities in which the Group has property management projects in the Western Straits Region

include Fuzhou, Putian, Pingtan, Nanping, Quanzhou, Sanming, Zhangzhou, Xiamen and

Foshan.

VALUE-ADDED SERVICES TO NON-PROPERTY
OWNERS

The Group provides value-added services to non-property owners, which
mainly comprise (i) sales assistance services (involving providing assistance to
property developers in showcasing and marketing their properties, cleaning
and maintenance services, and security and visitor management services); (ii)
additional tailored services customised to meet specific needs of its customers
on an as-needed basis, and sales of goods; (iii) housing repair services; (iv)
preliminary planning and design consultancy services; and (v) pre-delivery

inspection services. Most of these non-property owners are property developers.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue from value-added services
provided to non-property owners decreased by 48.7% to approximately
RMB95.7 million compared to approximately RMB186.5 million in the same
period of 2022, mainly due to the decreased demand for services such as sales
assistance services and additional tailored services in the projects developed by
the Group and the partner property developers. For the year ended 31 December
2023, the revenue from value-added services to non-property owners accounted

for 8.4% of the total revenue of the Group.
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The following table sets forth the revenue breakdown of value-added services

provided to non-property owners for the years ended 31 December 2023 and

2022:

BETA=Z+—HILEE

For the year ended 31 December

R S
2023 2022
ARHT7T % ARETL %
RMB’000 % RMB'000 %
T s AR Sales assistance services 50,238 52.5 95,011 50.9
RO E il s Additional tailored services 25,789 26.9 62,081 33.3
Izl Eﬂlkﬂ&i% Housing repair services 15,886 16.6 19,714 10.6
HI AR ) R et Preliminary planning and design
e AR S consultancy services 1,109 1.2 5,694 3.1
A ARt A R B Pre-delivery inspection services 2,702 2.8 4,017 2.2
At Total 95,724 100.0 186,517 100.0

38 00 5

A AR ) 1) 7R W SN 36 E R AT P AR BERY A
s 34 (6 e 55 = B A48 ) % S A0 RS 5 i)
FUALE B~ R e B A A B ¢ M (iid)
O3 I S (A AR o

BE_ZZ=FTH=1T—HIEFE
A L (B R B AR & L AR R A
ANRW143 s H B Ro.39% 24 AR
143.9 @ ot > F 2 i R IRE H SR 1
12 DA R A3 1 22 BR AL 5% AR 338 2 4 B
- BEEZ=HFT A= HIEE
BE > A& B A AL I 38 (B R 5 1 A 7 A 4 T
AU AL EEE R 12.6% o

COMMUNITY VALUE-ADDED SERVICES

The Group provides community value-added services to property owners and

residents of properties under management, which mainly comprise (i) home-

living services; (ii) car park management, leasing assistance and other services;

and (iii) common area value-added services.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue from community value-

added services increased by 0.3% to approximately RMB143.9 million

compared to approximately RMB143.5 million in the same period of 2022,

mainly due to the increase in the number of service users and the increase

in provision of diversified home-living products. For the year ended 31

December 2023, revenue from community value-added services accounted

for 12.6% of the total revenue of the Group.
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The following table sets forth the revenue breakdown of community value-
added services for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022:

BET A=+ —HILEE

For the year ended 31 December

2023 2022
AR % ARWTT %
RMB’000 % RMB000 %
KT g o Home-living services® 111,883 77.8 108,684 75.8
N - HE W) Car park management, leasing assistance
A R B5 and other services” 15,299 10.6 21,324 14.9
N Flm b (R Common area value-added services® 16,710 11.6 13,466 9.4
it Total 143,892 100.0 143 474 100.0
i & Notes:
(1) HIETORmEE - W sCRRKE - ZFER (1) It mainly includes services such as cleaning, group purchase, turnkey furnishing, home
MRS ~ P SEFH P B (MRS S N S SR B RS - maintenance, value-added services related to tenants of commercial properties and utility fee
collection services.
2  HEZGFEEH LB 0EE - mEER
L) 3 T A5 HE A K B S R A RO R At AR (2) It mainly includes management and assistance of parking lot leasing, provision of real estate
o brokerage services related to properties and parking spaces to owners and other services.
(3) L AR A T [ 07 DA B I [ e L i (3) It mainly includes common area advertising space and service income from common area

BUA -

ﬁ%?ﬁ%‘%ﬂﬂﬁ%

B A 4 [ A T AR R A 2 A
AR A > AR B S B S A A B
2 A IR S AL ) i W
WO 5 B Gii) WA RS o

MEFZ=FET = H o AREY

PEESASEHHEEE M BAEE
MRS AL .7 Tk o WS
W P EEEAEIEA AN - BRY
HH N~ BB PG AT o i
Ao HEEESERRBRAL S AR
107.5A & T °

leasing.

COMMERCIAL OPERATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES

Since the Group’s acquisition of Zhenro Commercial Management Co., Ltd. in
2021, it has engaged in the provision of commercial operational management
services to tenants and customers, which primarily include (i) brand and

management output services; and (ii) sublease services.

As at 31 December 2023, the number of commercial operation projects under
management of the Group reached 33, and the total GFA under management
was approximately 1.7 million sq.m.. During the Reporting Period, the
commercial operation projects under management were located in, among other
cities, Fuzhou, Changsha, Putian, Changzhou, Taixing and Xi'an. During the
Reporting Period, the revenue of commercial operational management services

was approximately RMB107.5 million.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue is mainly derived from four major businesses: (i) property
management services; (ii) value-added services to non-property owners; (iii)
community value-added services; and (iv) commercial operational management
business. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s revenue amounted to
approximately RMB1,145.5 million, which was quite stable as compared with
RMBI1,141.3 million in the same period of 2022.

The following table sets out the revenue contribution of each business segment

during the periods indicated:

BRETZAZT—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December

“FOCRE WA —F A N4 R
Percentage Percentage Growth
2023 of revenue 2022 of revenue rate
AR T8 % ARETIT % %
RMB000 % RMB000 % %
WIS PR Property management services 798,346 69.6 706,513 61.9 13.0
IR Value-added services to non- 95,724 8.4 186,517 163 -48.7
property owners
Al 58 R Community value-added 143,892 12,6 143 474 12.6 03
services
HEESEMRE  Commercial operational 107,541 9.4 104,789 9.2 2.6
management services
oK Total 1,145,503 100.0 1,141,293 100.0 0.4

Py 278 B OG5 A% 2 A 4R T Y e R i A B
TR o AN > YA BRI K
ANRHE798.3H &0 > M54 L B AIA N
69.6% ° H B ARG RS &R m
TR » MY d A 7 42 ] BEL 1F 2 b s 4 [
HIFF G AR OB IR IR S = R P 3
BERTEL o JEEF I ERB WD > Ty F =
H A Toh 8 AR B B R A0 S RS S RS 1) 75
SRR T R AT B 26 B AL 8 1 (IR B ik
A1 2 B R RS P B R R A K
ALY 2 bR AL R AR 0 B i BT S

Property management services is still the largest source of income for the Group.
During the Reporting Period, revenue from property management services
reached approximately RMB798.3 million, accounting for 69.6% of the total
revenue of the Group. Such revenue growth was attributable to the growth of
GFA under management, which was due to the Group’s continuous cooperation
with Zhenro Properties Group and its commitment to expanding the third-
party customers base. The decrease in value-added services to non-property
owners was mainly due to the substantial decrease in the demand for services
such as sales assistance services and additional tailored services. The increase in
revenue from community value-added services was mainly due to the increase
in the number of service users and the increase in provision of diversified home-

living products.
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Cost of Sales

The cost of sales of the Group mainly includes staff costs, subcontracting
costs, greening and landscaping costs, utilities expenses, tax and surcharges,

depreciation and amortisation, office expenses and community activity costs.

During the Reporting Period, the cost of sales of the Group was approximately
RMB900.8 million, representing an increase of approximately 1.4% as
compared with approximately RMB888.4 million in the same period of 2022.
The increase in the cost of sales was mainly due to the growing property

management business scale of the Group.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s gross profit decreased by
approximately 3.2% from approximately RMB252.9 million for the same period
in 2022 to approximately RMB244.7 million.

During the Reporting Period, the gross profit margin of the Group decreased to
21.4% from 22.2% for the same period in 2022.

The gross profit margin of the Group by business line is as follows:

BETZH=1—HIEE
For the year ended 31 December

SRoSE SRS SRR
Changes in
gross profit
2023 2022 margin
L% EFIF F 15
Gross profit Gross profit Percentage
margin margin points

% %
W25 PR Property management services 20.0 22.9 -2.9
I3 F e E MRS Value-added services to non-property owners 2.8 3.6 -0.8
A [ 2 (B R 55 Community value-added services 25.7 28.4 -2.7
PSSR Commercial operational management services 42.0 41.6 0.4
At Total 214 22.2 0.8
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Other income and gains

During the Reporting Period, the other income and gains of the Group
decreased by approximately 52.1% from approximately RMB33.0 million for
the same period in 2022 to approximately RMB15.8 million. The decrease was
mainly due to the decrease in government grants from approximately RMB18.2
million during the corresponding period in 2022 to approximately RMB3.4

million for the Reporting Period.

Administrative expenses

During the Reporting Period, the administrative expenses of the Group
decreased by approximately 7.6% from approximately RMB157.7 million for
the same period in 2022 to approximately RMB145.8 million. During the
Reporting Period, administrative expenses accounted for 12.7% of the revenue,
representing a decrease of 1.1 percentage points as compared with 13.8% in the
same period of 2022, mainly due to the Group’s efforts to upgrade management

system and strengthen cost control.

Income tax

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded income tax expense of
approximately RMB25.3 million, and the income tax credit for the same period
in 2022 was RMB22.2 million.

Loss attributable to owners of the parent

During the Reporting Period, the loss attributable to owners of the parent for
the period was approximately RMB81.2 million, which was approximately
RMB281.3 million in the same period in 2022.

Property and equipment

The property and equipment of the Group mainly included buildings, office
equipment, electronic equipment and other assets. As of 31 December 2023,
the property and equipment of the Group was approximately RMBS.7 million,
representing a decrease of approximately RMBO0.2 million or 3.5% as compared

with approximately RMB5.9 million as at 31 December 2022.
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Trade receivables

The Group's trade receivables mainly derived from its revenue from property
management services and value-added services provided to non-property
owners. As of 31 December 2023, the Group’s trade receivables amounted to
approximately RMB309.7 million, representing an increase of approximately
RMB27.0 million or approximately 9.6% as compared with approximately
RMB282.7 million as at 31 December 2022. The increase was basically in
line with the revenue growth of property management services as a result of

undertaking new projects and the business expansion in recent years.

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

The Group's prepayments, deposits and other receivables primarily consisted
of payments made on behalf of our property owners such as payments for the
utility bills and public facility maintenance fund, as well as security deposits
with local authorities and deposits in relation to the public biddings. As of
31 December 2023, the Group's prepayments, deposits and other receivables
amounted to approximately RMB108.1 million, representing a decrease of
15.5% as compared with approximately RMB127.8 million as at 31 December
2022.

Trade payables
As of 31 December 2023, the Group's trade payables amounted to

approximately RMB165.4 million, representing an increase of approximately
10.7% from approximately RMB149.5 million as at 31 December 2022. The
increase was mainly due to the growth of the Group’s business scale and the

increase in subcontracting services to independent third-party service providers.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach towards
its treasury policy. The Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position
to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and
other commitments can meet the funding requirements of the Group in the

foreseeable future.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s cash was mainly used for working
capital and acquisition of subsidiaries, which was mainly funded from cash flow
generated from operations and proceeds raised from the Company’s initial public

offering.
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The Group’s interest-bearing and other borrowings were all denominated in
RMB and bore interest at fixed rates. As at 31 December 2023, the borrowings
of the Group amounted to RMB73.1 million, compared to RMB100.1 million
as at 31 December 2022. From the respective drawdown dates, the Group’s
interest-bearing and other borrowings repayable within one year were RMB64.0
million and repayable over one year were RMB9.1 million as at 31 December
2023, while the Group’s borrowings repayable within one year were RMB85.0
million and repayable over one year were RMB15.1 million as at 31 December
2022. Except as disclosed herein and apart from intra-group liabilities, the
Group did not have any outstanding loan capital, bank overdrafts and liabilities,
or other similar indebtedness, debentures, mortgages, charges or loans as at 31
December 2023.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As of 31 December 2023, the Group's bank borrowings, in amount of
RMB15,100,000 (31 December 2022: RMB21,140,000) were pledged by 70%
equity interests of Jiangsu Sutie Property Management Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of

the Group.

As of 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank borrowings of RMB21,000,000 (31
December 2022: nil) were pledged by the Group’s car park spaces.
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FINANCIAL RISKS

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to risk for changes in interest rates is primarily related
to the Group's interest-bearing bank and other borrowings. The Group was not
exposed to material risk directly relating to changes in market interest rates.
The Group did not use derivative financial instruments to hedge interest rate

risk. The Group's all bank borrowings were obtained with fixed interest rates.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group primarily operates its business in the PRC. The currency in which
the Group denominates and settles its transactions is mainly RMB. Any
depreciation of RMB would adversely affect the value of any dividends the
Group pays to shareholders outside of the PRC. The Group has no cash at banks
denominated in foreign currencies. The Group currently does not engage in

hedging activities designed or intended to manage foreign exchange rate risk.

Debt to asset ratio

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s debt to asset ratio was 0.07 times, 0.02
times lower as compared with the debt to asset ratio of 0.09 times as at 31
December 2022. Debt to asset ratio equals interest-bearing bank and other

borrowings divided by total equity.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES

On 22 December 2023, Zhenro Property Services Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement with two independent
third parties to acquire 100% equity interest in Suzhou Xinqirui E-Commerce
Co., Ltd. (#FMFZBLEE T 7% A FR/A 7)) (the “Target Company”) at a
cash consideration of RMB1,100,000 (the “Acquisition”). The principal
asset of the Target Company is the rights-of-use of approximately 1,400
underground car parking spaces in Tianjin Ruijinyuan (K% #[# ),
a residential property development which is situated at Xiqging District,
Tianjin, the PRC. Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 23
December 2023 for further details of the Acquisition.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any material acquisition or
disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the Reporting
Period.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE GROUP

During the Reporting Period, there were no significant investments held by the

Group.
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FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

As of 31 December 2023, save as disclosed under “USE OF PROCEEDS FROM
THE INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING” below, the Group had no plans to make

any material investments or capital assets.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had approximately 3,485 employees
(31 December 2022: approximately 4,197 employees). During the Reporting
Period, the total staff costs were approximately RMB431.2 million (31
December 2022: approximately RMB446.3 million).

In terms of talent training, the Group will further enhance its employee training
program with internal and external resources. The employee training program
primarily covers key areas in the Group's business operations, which provides
continuous training to its existing employees at different levels to specialise and

strengthen their skill sets.

The Group adopts remuneration policies similar to its peers in the industry.
The remuneration payable to its staff is fixed by reference to the duties and
the prevailing market rates in the region. Discretionary performance bonus
is paid to employees after assessments to reward their contributions. The
Group also participates in social insurance contribution plans or other pension
schemes prescribed by the local governments and is required to pay on behalf
of its employees a monthly social insurance funds covering pension fund,
medical insurance, work-related injury insurance, maternity insurance and
unemployment insurance, and the housing provident fund, or to contribute

regularly to mandatory provident fund schemes on behalf of its employees.

In determining the remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors
and senior management, the Group will take into account salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors

and performance of the Group.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE INITIAL PUBLIC
OFFERING

The net proceeds raised in connection with the initial public offering of

the Company in July 2020 (including the exercise of the over-allotment

option) amounted to approximately HK$1,267.7 million (equivalent to
approximately RMB1,141.7 million) (the “Net Proceeds”).

The proposed use of the Net Proceeds (as reallocated and announced on 19

May 2021) and the actual usage of the Net Proceeds up to 31 December

2023 are set out below:

REZZ=H
REHA gEf FoAZtH
s H R BUR T Proposed use of Net Fi sk CEm Firf s WABE - FEEA
il Proceeds FHERME  ORSHRE FEBEE O REUREE o
Utilised Net Unutilised
Proceeds Net Proceeds
during the Total asof  Expected
Net Proceeds Reporting Utilised 31 December  time of full
Re-allocated Period Net Proceeds 2023 utilisation
ANEFGET  ARWOET  ARBGHET  ARFEET
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million
B A A Development of the 2283 38.3 125.5 1028 REFZUE
REEHRS Group's information FZA=F—Hiil
management system Before
31 December 2024
HE— LR ARERN  Purcher development 171.2 232 94.6 766 HEJUAE
R | s e of the Group’s TZA= =R
“Rong Wisdom Before
(BHEY service 31 December 2024
software
—WEREE N General business operations 1142 - 114.2 - AEH
BEES and working capital Not applicable
POREAMEES  Acquisition of Zhenro 628.0 - 628.0 - NERA
Commercial Management Not applicable
At Total L1417 615 962.3 1794
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Note: In light of tightened monetary policy, constrained financial conditions, and sluggish

global trade and investment in 2023, certain industries and companies faced significant
employment pressures, supply chain disruptions, and delay in undertaking large-scale
contracts. In such case, the Group has adopted a responsible and cautious implementation
of the business strategy, which resulted in delay in the use of the net proceeds, it is expected

that the remaining net proceeds will be fully utilized by 31 December 2024.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 28 February 2024, an extraordinary general meeting was held to consider,
approve and ratify (i) the 2024 Fuzhou Mabao Lease Agreement (as defined
in the Company’s circular dated 9 February 2024 (the “Circular”)) and the
transactions contemplated thereunder; (ii) the 2024 Fuzhou Mawei Lease
Agreement (as defined in the Circular) and the transactions contemplated
thereunder; (iii) the 2024 Putian Fortune Centre Lease Agreement (as
defined in the Circular) and the transactions contemplated thereunder; and (iv)
the 2024 Putian Street Lease Agreement (as defined in the Circular) and the
transactions contemplated thereunder.

For further details on the transactions, please refer to the joint announcement
issued by the Company and Zhenro Properties dated 29 December 2023 and
the Circular.

Saved as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, no other significant
event has taken place subsequent to 31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. DENG Li (B8 ) , aged 44, was appointed as an executive Director and
chief executive officer on 1 July 2023. He is also a member of the remuneration
committee of the Board. Mr. Deng has over 21 years of experience in corporate
operation management, general management and other related matters. Mr.
Deng joined Zhenro Properties, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 6158) in June 2020 and had held various senior management positions
within its subsidiaries. From June 2020 to February 2023, Mr. Deng served as a
standing deputy manager and a general manager of Suzhou and Shanghai region
for Zhenro Properties. From March 2023 to June 2023, he served as an assistant

to President for Zhenro Properties, in charge of service quality.

Prior to joining Zhenro Properties, Mr. Deng held senior management related
positions in various corporations. From July 2002 to February 2014, he had
worked for Hopson Development Holdings* (A4 £l R4 ) and successively
served as the project manager in municipal company, project director in
Northern China, and general manager in Regal Park in Northern China
Company* (HE [ 35 /2 AIVEVLA 5t) . From February 2014 to April 2020,
he had worked for China Fortune Peacock City Residential Group* (& SE45
FLEW A ELEM) and successively served as the district general manager, and

general manager of branch company.
In July 2002, Mr. Deng graduated from Hohai University with a bachelor’s

degree, and in March 2020, he graduated from Shanghai Jiao Tong University

with a master’s degree in management.
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Mr. WANG Wei (EH), aged 42, was appointed as an executive Director on
1 July 2023. He joined Zhenro Commercial Management in March 2016 and
served as a general manager since. Since 30 June 2021, Zhenro Commercial
Management has been a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. In the
meantime, Mr. Wang was promoted to be the Assistant to President of the
Group. Prior to joining Zhenro Commercial Management, Mr. Wang held
senior management related positions in various corporations. From August
2007 to July 2010, he served as a manager of investment promotion department
for Beijing Seasons Place Shopping Centre Co., Led.* (b 5 4 fl B4 0
HFAT]) . From August 2010 to June 2014, he served as a manager of the
investment promotion operation department for COFCO Properties (Tianjin)
Co., Led.* (et (Ki) AFRAH]) . From July 2014 to February 2016,
he served as the head of commercial property research department for Dalian
Wanda Commercial Properties Co., Led.* (K &2 i 3 b 2 B A BR A
).

In July 2003, Mr. Wang graduated from Heilongjiang Institute of Science and
Technology with a bachelor’s degree.
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. LIU Weiliang (BIf#3%) (“Mr. Liu”), aged 40, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 11 November 2022 and chairman of the Board on 20
January 2023. He is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee. He is also the executive director and chairman
of the board of Zhenro Properties, whose shares are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6158).

Mr. Liu has over 14 years of experience in the real estate industry. He obtained
a bachelor’s degree in engineering management from Changsha University of
Science & Technology in 2007. Mr. Liu joined Zhenro Properties in June 2016
and has held various key positions successively, including: (i) the deputy general
manager of Zhenro (Changsha) Real Estate Co., Led. (IEZ€(RVD) B A WA
) and the project manager for Yichun project of Zhenro Properties Holdings
from June 2016 to August 2017; (ii) the general manager of the merger
department of the strategic investment centre and subsequently the general
manager of the strategic investment centre of Zhenro Properties Holdings
from August 2017 to May 2019; (iii) the vice president of Zhenro Properties
Holdings from May 2019 to January 2021; and (iv) a director of Zhenro
Properties Holdings since November 2019. Mr. Liu has held several positions
in Zhenro Group Company since November 2018. He served successively as the
deputy general manager of the strategic operation centre, the general manager of
the human resources department, the assistant to the president and the executive

vice president.

Before joining Zhenro Properties Group, Mr. Liu worked in several real estate
companies in the PRC, including (i) the development manager of Evergrande
Properties Changsha Real Estate Co., Ltd. (EXMERDEZEN F]) and the
deputy general manager of Chenzhou Real Estate Co., Led. (HlH & /3 7])
successively from July 2008 to May 2012; and (ii) the deputy general manager
of Heneng Properties Changsha Real Estate Co., Led. (£ ez VD & 3£ /A )
from May 2012 to June 2016.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. MA Haiyue (J5if§), aged 47, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 10 June 2020. He is also a member of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee. He is primarily responsible for
providing independent advice on the operations and management of the Group.
Mr. Ma has over 19 years of experiences in financing and auditing. Prior to
joining the Group, from May 2002 to November 2004, Mr. Ma worked at
Ernst & Young Da Hua. From November 2004 to July 2017, Mr. Ma held
various positions at KPMG Huazhen LLP, including as an audit manager
from November 2004 to June 2007, a senior audit manager from July 2007
to September 2011 and an audit partner from October 2011 to July 2017.
From July 2017 to June 2018, Mr. Ma served as an executive director at the
investment banking division of Morgan Stanley Huaxin Securities Co., Led..
He worked at Venus Medtech (Hangzhou) Inc. (W‘I‘Iﬁﬂlfﬂi%ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬂ%}
A MR/ T]), a company principally engaged in manufacture and research and
development of medical device and listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2500) from June 2018 to May 2023, where he served as
the chief financial officer, mainly responsible for its finance management and

also a joint company secretary from July 2019 to May 2023 .

Mr. Ma obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from Shanghai University of
Finance and Economics (J:@E]f@j(%) in the PRC in June 1998. Mr. Ma is a

member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Mr. AU Yeung Po Fung (BB, aged 56, was appointed as the
independent non-executive Director on 10 June 2020. He is the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee.

He is primarily responsible for providing independent advice on the operations

Chief financial officer
at Sun Hung Kai
Real Estate Agency
Led. GHrifB AL
REAFRA ),

a subsidiary of Sun
Hung Kai Properties
Limited (Mainland

operations)

FR o BB AR B AT T and management of the Group. Mr. Au Yeung has extensive work experience
ﬁz REEI o PG WAL LAR 5 P S RIS in the real estate industry. He held various senior management positions in the
A fﬁﬁﬁkﬂ% : following companies in the real estate industry:
v R B 5%
NGB FEEE Place of listing 74 i A
Name of company Principal business and stock code Position Period of service
B E A PR [HE ST E 3 S B T B S ok S
Powerlong Real Estate & ER (A% © 1238)  Chief financial officer HEZF——
Holdings Limited T i B g Main Board of the 1A
(%ﬁéfﬂ%ﬁtﬂiﬁ FRAT])  Commercial real estate Stock Exchange November 2007 to
development and (stock code: 1238) October 2011
investment, property
management and
hotel development
FEEER S ARAR  PIEYSERUIEE B AR Wi EAMAR —F A
Sun Hung Kai Properties YEid (et 16) N (TR EShe S
Limited (i AEHb 2 Development of Main Board of the B A PR ) £ +=H
PR A PR A properties for sale Stock Exchange J& ) B B October 2011 to
and investment (stock code: 16) B (NHZER) December 2013
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v R B 5%
VNGB FEEH Place of listing L 20A gz ]
Name of company Principal business and stock code Position Period of service
E R ELERA PR F] EHRFEHERE B2 B 1A RBHsREwMEE —F-NFE-A
(15 2 B A R A F BLE (AR L5E © 656)  Vice president and Z R4
— R E AT Global real estate Main Board of the chief financial officer J\H
Fosun Industrial Holdings investment and Stock Exchange February 2014 to
Limited ({8 5L b 2 management (stock code: 656) August 2014
HIRAF) G subsidiary of
Fosun International Limited
(2 BIBA R 7))
SRR M) AIRAT WEBEELE W32 T 4R R E AR ZE LA
Sansheng Holdings (Group) Property development (et : 2183) i 7 4 [ R A 2R )\E
Co. Ltd. (=42 B (ZE ) and investment Main Board of the Chief financial officer —H
AR H) Stock Exchange and vice president of  August 2017 to
(stock code: 2183) Sansheng Real Estate January 2018
Group
L HEE A () UESiE A Rl “EJETHA
AR 7] Property development ~ N/A Vice president BT AE
Shanghai Huadong Properties —H
(Group) Limited (FigEEE February 2019 to
e (BB A R A A January 2021

B E SE A — UV AR — A RN
M A TR (BAEHHE T RR) » %
PRPTEREL LB o R “F T TAE+—H
WA AR ETHMAENEREE >
TEEZETARATEGTIAGNE
wE R MR =T — LA RS T
LR R a A g ERE B o B
B S AL TR A XA U I R e
G B B B < 0 A R

Mr. Au Yeung graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known
as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in Hong Kong in November 1990
with a bachelor’s degree in business studies. He was admitted as a fellow of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in November 2000, a fellow of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in May 2003, and a
fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales in July
2015. Mr. Au Yeung was also certified as a chartered financial analyst (CFA) of
the CFA Institute in September 2006.
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During the period between 1998 and 2001, Mr. Au Yeung was a director of
Uniford Asia Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong and dissolved by
striking off pursuant to section 291 of the then Companies Ordinance (Chapter
32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (as in force before 3 March 2014) on 18 May
2001. Mr. Au Yeung has confirmed that such company was not in operation and
was solvent at the time of dissolution. Mr. Au Yeung has further confirmed that
there was no fraudulent act or misfeasance on his part leading to the striking off
of such company and he is not aware of any actual or potential claim that had

been or will be made against him as a result of the striking off of such company.

Mr. Au Yeung holds or had held directorships in the following listed companies:

i R iy R
TIEA FEEE Place of listing and Jfiz TR
Name of company Principal business stock code Position Period of service
(BB A A R GREAAMEESE  BWRRER (RHAS 380 BIFATES “ENERAZES
Kiu Hung International Holdings Toys, resources and Main Board of the Stock Exchange  Independent non- F—~EA
Limited (ﬁ%tﬁ@ PR TR i) leisure-related business (stock code: 381) executive director May 2016 to
September 2016
PR ARERARAR B BT REIR B 8 BB £ (BmACEE - 030 BuEHiTES “E-NELAED
China LNG Group Limited Asset management and Main Board of the Stock Exchange  Independent non- F=NEILA
(PERIRRERARAH) new energy development (stock code: 931) executive director July 2016 to
September 2019
BB R ESTIY - # Boch Et (R i - 108) B FHAES “ELEEAES
GR Properties Limited Property development Main Board of the Stock Exchange  Independent non- F_FEZA
(Bt R ) and management (stock code: 108) executive director July 2017 to
February 2020
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Ak

Name of company

PERMERR AR AT

Shanshan Brand Management Co., Ltd.

(K SRR A R A )

LB AR AT
Redsun Properties Group Limited

(L ERAARAH)

ETRAERARAT
eBroker Group Limited
(BT RAHEIARAH)

R A R

Zhongliang Holdings Group
Company Limited
(FREBERARAHA)

AR () A RAR
Sinic Holdings (Group)
Company Limited
G PR R R A )

b ERRAR AT

Sunkwan Properties Group Limited

it

R F T AR A = H AR I TR T

FEEH

Principal business

waf T S
SRR P UN

Design, marketing and sales of
formal and casual business

menswear

TR

Real estate development

SRR 7 R BRER
Financial technology solution

provider

YR - YR
ESIYE T
Property development, property
management, property leasing

and management consulting

ESE I LIE ik
Property development and

property leasing

R glEclizayE S
HIAT
A holding company that develops

and sells residential property

Note:

LR

Place of listing and

stock code

Boe B L (R RR - 1749)
Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1749)

BB AR (BB CHE - 1996)
Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1996)

WA B GEM (RS - 8036)
GEM of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8036)

B SE A L (R ALSE - 2772)
Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 2772)

BiAEHT AR (BB - 2103) #
Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 2103) N«

A A (e U - 6900)
Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 6900)

Whfi:

Position
BukdnES
Independent non-

executive director

BukdnES
Independent non-

executive director

BATES
Independent non-

executive director

BATES
Independent non-

executive director

BATES
Independent non-

executive director

BATES
Independent non-

executive director

TREs A

Period of service

“E-NELAED
FEAN
May 2018 to
June 2021

“E-NERAZS
June 2018 to present

“F-NERAES
June 2018 to present

“E-NEAAES

June 2019 to present

“ENEARE
“RZEHIA

August 2019 to
April 2023

“ROEELAES
October 2020 to present

Delisted from the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with effect from 13 April 2023
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Mr. ZHANG Wei (if#), aged 48, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 10 June 2020. He is also the chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee. He is primarily
responsible for providing independent advice on the operations and management
of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, from December 2011 to January
2015, he served as a director at asset management department at Legend
Holdings Corporation (i A8 % 177 FR/A 7)), a company principally
engaged in strategic investment business, whose shares are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3396). From January 2015 to
February 2019, he worked as the general manager of legal department at China
Vanke Co., Led. (EFHBZER A PR F), a joint stock company principally
engaged in the property development and property services whose shares are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (H share stock code: 2202)
and on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (A share stock code: 00002). Since July
2018, he has served as an independent director at Appotronics Corporation
Limited (RYIDEIERHEL A A PR/ 7), a company principally engaged in
laser display technology development, whose shares are listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 688007). From February 2019 to September 2021,
he has worked at 360 Security Technology Inc. (Z/NZF L RFHE A A R
/~T]), an internet and mobile security product and service provider listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601360), where he served as the
vice president and chief legal consultant mainly responsible for legal affairs,
investment and urban industry cooperation segment. Since December 2021, he
has served at Appotronics Corporation Limited (FINGIERHE AR A BR 2
7l), a laser display technology development company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 688007), where he has served as a director and
vice president responsible for legal affairs, human resources, administration,

infrastructure.

Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in law and a master’s degree in civil and
commercial law from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (" g B 58 B
N (formerly known as Zhongnan University of Law (PRI EL jﬁ%)), in
the PRC in July 1996 and June 2000, respectively. He also obtained a master’s
degree and a juris doctor’s degree from the Indiana University McKinney School
of Law, in the United States in May 2004 and August 2007, respectively.
Mr. Zhang also holds the New York qualification certificate to practice as
an attorney and counselor at law, conferred by the Appellate Division of the
Supreme Court of the State of New York in the United States in April 2008.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Wang Yi and Ms. Lin Sio Ngo are joint company secretaries of the

Company.

Mr. WANG Yi (F£28), aged 42, has over 15 years of experience in financial
management, internal control and risk management, as well as audit related
matters. From May 2005 to December 2012, Mr. Wang worked as regional
financial controller at China United Travel Co., Led. (BUiRE & A A R
Al), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600358),
during which he was mainly responsible for financial management, financial
and auditing related matters. From December 2012 to August 2014, he served
as financial manager of Qoros Automotive Co. Ltd. (%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ/ﬁﬁj)
From August 2014 to April 2016, Mr. Wang served as audit director at Dalian
Wanda Group Co., Ltd. (ﬁ@%%% L] FE/AEJ), a multinational
conglomerate headquartered in Beijing, PRC. Mr. Wang joined Zhenro
Properties, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6158) in
September 2016 and had held various senior management positions within
its subsidiaries. From September 2016 to April 2017, he served as the chief
financial officer of the finance department at Zhenro Properties Holdings.
From April 2017 to December 2017, he served as the chief financial officer
of Zhengzhou Zhenro Real Estate Development Co., Led. (M| IF4¢ & 3£34%
JEAHBR/AF]). From December 2017 until immediately prior to joining the
Company in August 2020, he served successively as deputy general manager and

general manager of the finance department at Zhenro Properties Holdings.

Mr. Wang graduated from Nanjing Audit University in the PRC with a

bachelor’s degree in management in 2002.
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WA OME IR FE 4+ U Ms. Lin Sio Ngo (S84 #) was appointed as one of the joint company
WRAT BB A A EZ — - secretaries on 24 December 2021.

B B O E S IRH AR 1 (5 ) A BR A Ms. Lin is a manager of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong)
A S A R AL AT BUE Limited with over 20 years of working experience in corporate secretarial and
AR TARREER o A H WA RNR A administration areas. She is an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered
g RETATREAGEA - Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute.

R 1R L P LB A 2R Ms. Lin holds a bachelor’s degree in business administration and a master’s

B degtee in corporate governance.

BN R] IR AT FOA 26 581 i 2 m) B e s She currently also serves as the joint company secretary of other several listed
AR o companies.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group has four business lines, namely, (i) property management services;
(ii) value-added services to non-property owners; (iii) community value-added
services; and (iv) commercial operational management services, forming an
integrated service offering to its customers that cover the entire value chain of

property management.

Analysis of the principal activities of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2023 is set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and

Analysis” of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

General

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion on the
Group's future business development are set out in the Chairman’s Statement, as
well as the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 9 to 13 and pages 14
to 30, respectively, of this annual report. An analysis of the Group’s performance
during the year using financial key performance indicators is set out in the
Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 14 to 30 of this annual report.
The Group has no significant events after the end of the financial year ended 31

December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Principal risks and uncertainties the Group faces include (i) its future growth
may not materialize as planned; (ii) uncertainty as to securing new or renewing
the existing property management service agreements on favourable terms, or at
all; (iii) uncertainty related to acquisitions which may not be successful and the
Group may face difficulties in integrating acquired operations with its existing
operations; (iv) no control over a majority of revenue generate from connected
persons of the Company; (v) risks related to development in the government
policies and regulations regarding the PRC property management services; and

(vi) risks related to the increasing raw materials price and labor costs.
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The Group is not subject to significant credit risk and liquidity risk. The
financial risks of the Group is mainly foreign exchange rate risk. A substantial
portion of the Group’s businesses are conducted in the PRC and denominated in
RMB. Foreign currency transaction included mainly receipts of proceeds from
the Listing and payment of professional fees which are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and US dollars. As at 31 December 2023, major non-RMB assets
are cash and cash equivalents denominated in Hong Kong dollars in the amount
of RMBO0.1 million. Fluctuation of the exchange rates of RMB against foreign
currency could affect the Group’s results of operations. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy, and manages its foreign

currency risk by closely monitoring the movement of foreign currency rate.

These financial risks, and the related risk management policies and practices
used by the Group are discussed in note 33 headed “Financial Risk Management
Objectives and Policies” to the consolidated financial statements of this annual

report.

Environmental Policies and Performance

It is the Group's corporate and social responsibility in promoting a sustainable
and environmental friendly environment, and the Group strives to minimize its
environmental impact and comply with the applicable environmental laws and
regulations. The Group has implemented reasonable measures in the operation
of its businesses to comply with all applicable requirements. Given the nature of
the Group's operations, it is believed that the Group is not subject to material

environmental liability risk or compliance costs.

The measures the Group took to ensure compliance with the applicable
environmental laws and regulations include: (i) formulating and improving
management measures and operational guidelines for energy conservation,
emission reduction and waste management; and (ii) actively adopting

environmentally friendly equipment and designs.
The Group had not received any material fines or penalties associated with
the breach of any environmental laws or regulations during the year ended 31

December 2023.

The 2023 Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Group will be

published separately.
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group continues to keep itself updated over the requirement of the relevant
laws and regulations applicable to it to ensure compliance. The Group had
complied with all relevant laws and regulations in all material aspects and have
obtained all applicable material licenses, approvals and permits from relevant
regulatory authorities. During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no
material breach of, or non-compliance, with applicable laws and regulations by

the Group.

Relationship with Employees

The Group believes that high-quality employees who value its corporate culture
are essential elements to promote the Group's sustainable growth. The Group
intends to attract and retain skilled and talented employees from reputable
universities of PRC through various initiatives, including its creative trainee

programs, competitive compensation packages and effective incentive system.

For details regarding employees and staff costs and the emolument policy of the
Group, please refer to the section headed “Directors” Report — Employees and

Remuneration Policy”.

Relationship with Suppliers

The Group is dedicated to developing good relationship with suppliers as
long-term business partners to ensure stability of the Group’s businesses. We
reinforce business partnerships with suppliers by ongoing communication in a

proactive and effective manner.

For further details regarding our major suppliers, please refer to the section

headed “Directors’ Report — Major Customers and Suppliers”.

Relationship with Customers

Customers’ satisfaction with our services and products has a profound effect on
our profitability. Our dedicated sales team is in constant communication with
our customers and potential customers to uncover and create customer needs
and help customers make informed decisions. Identification of customers’ pain
points alongside grasping the market trend are critical for the Group to timely

adjust the Group's operating strategies to fit the market requirement.

For details regarding the Group’s major customers, please refer to the sections

headed “Directors’ Report — Major Customers and Suppliers”.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the Group's

financial position as at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages
108 to 235.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board resolved not to recommend any final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: nil).

AGM AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The AGM will be held on Friday, 14 June 2024. A notice convening the
AGM will be published on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website and dispatched to the shareholders of the Company in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules in due course. For the purpose of
determination of eligibility to attend, speak and vote at the AGM, the register
of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 11 June 2024 to
Friday, 14 June 2024 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of
shares of the Company will be registered. In order to attend, speak and vote at
the AGM to be held on Friday, 14 June 2024, all transfer of shares accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong branch share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on
Friday, 7 June 2024.
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RESERVES

Details of movement in reserves of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity

and note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Changes to the property, plant and equipment of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 13 to the

consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 are set out in

note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023

amounted to approximately nil.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the

last five financial years is set out on page 236 of this annual report.
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Directors Name

HOERSCE
M. Deng Li

MRBEFE SEA
Mr. Lin Xiaotong

FHEEE
Mr. Wang Wei

R S
M:r. Kang Hong

HAIRSEE
Mr. Huang Xianzhi

Mr. Liu Weiliang

it
M. Ma Haiyue

B B S
M:r. Au Yeung Po Fung

SRRt
Mr. Zhang Wei

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the Company nor any its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed securities of the

Company.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up

to the date of this annual report are:

L/ {DA

Position

NEBHATES (R =F = FLH—HEFET)
Chief executive officer and executive Director (appointed on 1 July 2023)

TBABHPITE SR (F = F = =F L —HEHT)

Chief executive officer and executive Director (resigned on 1 July 2023)

WITHES (R F ==L H—HEZET)
Executive Director (appointed on 1 July 2023)

WS (R F =L — HEHT)
Executive Director (resigned on 1 July 2023)

HHRGLRRFATER (K oF = F A A HEHE)

Chairman of the Board and non-executive Ditector (resigned on 20 January 2023)

ERG LA ITER (W F = HEF [ REFE
)

Chairman of the Board and non-executive Director (appointed as the Chairman
of the Board on 20 January 2023)

B RATES

Independent non-executive Director

B RATES

Independent non-executive Director

B RATES

Independent non-executive Director
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In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, one-third of the
Directors will retire by rotation at every annual general meeting (provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years) and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. Mr. Zhang Wei and
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung will retire from the Board by rotation at the AGM and,

being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with Article 112 of the Articles of Association, the Board shall
have power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a
Director either to fill a vacancy or as an additional Director. Any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles
of Association shall hold office only until the first annual general meeting after
his/her appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election. Mr. Deng Li and
Mr. Wang Wei, who were appointed by the Board pursuant to Article 112 of
the Articles of Association, will retire from office as Directors at the AGM and,

being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has an unexpired service
contract which is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
within one year without payment of compensation, other than under normal

statutory obligations.

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out in “Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management”

in this annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the Directors has waived or

agreed to waive any emoluments.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

Save for the related party transactions as disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the

end of the year ended 31 December 2023 or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to

the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, the following persons (other than the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company) have interests or short positions in the Shares
or underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be kept by the

Company under section 336 of the SFO:

RESEMEA T 43 L0
R B8 E Approximate
RS AR MR HEE Number of percentage
Name of Shareholder Nature of interest Shares held” of interest”
ey AL 260,707,332 (L) 25.13%
Mr. Ou Guowei? Interest in a controlled corporation
Warm Shine Limited” HitfEA A 260,707,332 (L) 25.13%
Warm Shine Limited® Beneficial owner
I 3 S AL B A 200,212,500 (L) 19.30%
Mr. Ou Guogiang® Interest in a controlled corporation
&S S/ P e e 4 200,212,500 (L) 19.30%
Ms. Li Xi) Interest of spouse
BB R AT HiatfEA A 200,212,500 (L) 19.30%
WeiQiang Holdings Limited® Beneficial owner
AR A | E% ZDN 253,141,168 (L) 24.40%

Shan Tian Investment Limited

Beneficial owner
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Notes:

1) The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in such Shares. The calculation is based on
the total number of 1,037,500,000 shares in issue as at 31 December 2023.

2) Warm Shine Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Ou Guowei. By virtue of Part XV of the SFO,
Mr. Ou Guowei is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Warm Shine Limited is

interested in.

3) WeiQiang Holdings Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands on 13 December 2018, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Ou Guogiang. By virtue of
Part XV of the SFO, Mr. Ou Guogiang is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which
WeiQiang Holdings Limited is interested in.

(4) Ms. Li Xi is the spouse of Mr. Ou Guoqiang. By virtue of Part XV of the SFO, Ms. Li Xi is

deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Mr. Ou Guoqiang is interested in.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors or chief executive
are not aware of any other person, not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company, who has an interest or short position in the Shares or the underlying
Shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors was a director or employee of
a company which had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying
Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue derived from its top five
customers accounted for 8.9% of the Group's total revenue (31 December 2022:
15.4%) and the revenue amount from the Group's single largest customer,
Zhenro Properties Group, accounted for 4.4% of the Group’s total revenue (31
December 2022: 12.3%).

Other than Zhenro Group and Zhenro Properties Group, or their joint ventures
or associates, the Group's customers during the year ended 31 December 2023

were all independent third parties.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their close associates or any
Shareholders who, to the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital, had any interest in any of the Group's five

largest customers.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the purchases from its top five suppliers
accounted for 6.1% of the Group’s total purchase cost (31 December 2022:
9.5%) and the purchases amount from the Group’s single largest supplier,
Fujian Wanyi Security Service Limited, accounted for 1.3% of the Group’s total
purchases (31 December 2022: 1.8%).

For the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the Group’s major suppliers
was also the Group’s customer and all of the Group’s major suppliers were

independent third parties.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders who, to the
knowledge of the Directors, owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share

capital, had any interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee in compliance with Rule
3.21 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code. The Audit
Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and policies adopted by
the Group and discussed the Group's risk management, internal controls and
financial reporting matters with the management. The Audit Committee has
reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023 and considered that such statements have been
prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards and requirements

with sufficient disclosure.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS AND TAX RELIEF

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association,
although there are no restrictions against such rights under the laws in the

Cayman Islands.

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the

Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had approximately 3,485 employees (as
of 31 December 2022: approximately 4,197 employees). During the Reporting
Period, the total staff costs were approximately RMB431.2 million (31
December 2022: approximately RMB446.3 million).

In terms of talent training, the Group will further enhance its employee training
program with internal and external resources. The employee training programs
primarily cover key areas in the Group’s business operations, which provide
continuous training to its existing employees at different levels to specialise and

strengthen their skill sets.
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The Group adopts a formal and transparent remuneration policy to determine
the remuneration packages of Directors and employees of the Company and
its subsidiaries as the Group believes that the successful implementation of its
growth and business strategies rests on a team of experienced, motivated and

well-trained managers and employees at all levels.

o The Remuneration Committee is mandated to formulate the
Group’s remuneration policy for the Board’s approval, and to make
recommendations to the Board on the Group’s annual salary adjustment,

the annual performance bonus and share award.

o The objective of remunerating Directors is to ensure that there is an
appropriate level of remuneration to attract and retain experienced
people of high calibre to oversee the Group’s business and development.
Their remuneration is reviewed annually with reference to companies of

comparable business or scale, and are subject to Shareholders” approval.

U Quality and committed staff are valuable assets contributing to the
Group's success. In terms of talent training, the Group will further
enhance its employee training program with internal and external
resources. The employee training programs primarily cover key areas in
the Group’s business operations, which provide continuous training to its
existing employees at different levels to specialise and strengthen their

skill sets.

o The remuneration payable to the Group’s employees is fixed by reference
to the duties and the prevailing market rates in the region. Discretionary
performance bonus after assessments is paid to employees to reward their

contributions.

U In determining the remuneration and compensation packages of the
Directors and senior management, the Group will take into account
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and

responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the Group.
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o In general, the Group determines employee salaries based on each
employee’s qualification, position and seniority. As required by relevant
regulations, the Group is subject to social insurance contribution plans
or other pension schemes prescribed by the local governments and is
required to pay on behalf of its employees, a monthly social insurance
funds covering pension fund, medical insurance, work-related injury
insurance, maternity insurance and unemployment insurance, and
the housing provident fund, or to contribute regularly to mandatory

provident fund schemes on behalf of its employees.

The Company enters into labor contracts with all of its employees. The
Company offers its employees competitive remuneration packages that include
basic salaries, discretionary bonuses, performance-based payments and year-end
bonuses. To incentivize its employees and promote the long-term growth of the
Company, the Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”). Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in the

sections headed “Director’s report — Share Option Scheme”.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not experience any

significant labour disputes or any difficulty in recruiting employees.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group does not have any employee who is required to participate in the

Mandatory Provident Fund in Hong Kong.

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of the state-managed
retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC government. The employees
of the PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll to the retirement benefits scheme. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to this retirement benefits scheme is to make the required contributions
under the scheme. The Company is not allowed to use the contributions to the
state-managed retirement benefits scheme which have been forfeited to reduce

the current level of contributions.

Particulars of the employee retirement benefits of the Group are set out in note

6 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 15 June 2020, the Share Option Scheme was conditionally approved and
adopted by the then shareholders of the Company and it becomes effective
from the Listing Date. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
the Company with a means to motivate the Participants (as defined below) and
retain employees of the Group, and to encourage employees to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company and promote the long-term growth of the

Company.

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Board shall have the right
to grant options to any director or employee of the Group (the “Participant”)
who, in the sole opinion of the Board, have contributed or will contribute to the
Group at any time after the date on which the option is deemed to have been
granted and accepted and for a period of 10 years from that date (not exceeding
10 years from the Listing Date). As of 31 December 2023, the remaining life of

the Share Option Scheme is approximately 6 years and 5 months.

No offer shall be made and no option shall be granted to any Participant in
circumstances prohibited by the Listing Rules at a time when the Participant
would or might be prohibited from dealing in the Shares by the Listing Rules
or by any applicable rules, regulations or law. In particular, no options may be
granted during the period commencing one month immediately preceding the
earlier of: (i) the date of the meeting of the Board of Directors (i.e. the date of
first notification to the Stock Exchange in accordance with the Listing Rules)
approving the Group's results for any annual, half-year, quarterly or other
interim period (whether in compliance with the Listing Rules or not); and
(i) the deadline for the Company to publish its results announcement for any
annual, half-year, quarterly or any other interim period (whether in accordance

with the Listing Rules or not) until the date of actual publication of the relevant
announcements for annual, half-year, quarterly or interim results, as the case

may be.
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The maximum number of shares involved in the share options that may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company shall not exceed 100,000,000 shares in total, which is equivalent
to 10% of the total number of shares issued after the completion of the Global
Offering and approximately 9.64% of the total number of Shares issued as at the
date of this annual report (“Scheme Mandate Limit"). During any 12-month
period up to the grant date, the total number of Shares issued and which may
fall to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company (including both
exercised and outstanding options) to each eligible Participant shall not exceed
1% of the issued shares on the grant date, unless otherwise separately approved
by Shareholders in general meeting with such Participant and his associates

abstaining from voting.

Share options can be exercised at any time during the period after the date on
which the options are deemed to have been granted and accepted in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and before the expiration of ten
years from that date. The exercise period of the share options is determined by
the Board at its sole discretion, but it shall not exceed 10 years from the Listing
Date. No share options may be granted after 10 years from the date of the Share
Option Scheme was approved. Subject to earlier terminations by the Company
in general meetings or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and

effective for a period of ten years commencing on the adoption date.

Subject to such terms and conditions as the Board may determine, there is no
minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be exercised
and no performance target needs to be achieved by the grantee before the

options can be exercised.

The exercise price for each share involved in any particular share option granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall be determined by the Board at its sole

discretion, provided that the price must be at least the highest of the following:

U the official closing price of the shares as reported in the daily quotation
sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant of the share options (which
must be the day when the Stock Exchange opens for securities trading

business);
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. the average of the official closing prices of the shares quoted in the
daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the five business days

immediately before the date of grant of the share options; and

U par value of a share.

Participants are required to pay HK$1.00 as consideration for the acceptance of

an option granted to them.

Further details of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set out in

the Prospectus.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up to the date of this annual
report, no option had been granted or agreed to be granted by the Company
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme. As at 1 January 2023 and 31 December
2023, being the beginning and the end of the year under review, the number of
options available for grant under the Share Option Scheme was 100,000,000.

There was no service provider sublimit set under the Scheme Mandate Limit.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report and based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company
has maintained the minimum public float of 25% as required under the Listing
Rules.

AUDITOR

There has been no change in auditors since the Listing Date. The financial
statements have been audited by Ernst & Young who shall retire at the
forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A

resolution for the re-appointment of auditor will be proposed at the AGM.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the reserves of the Company available for distribution

to Shareholders amounted to approximately RMB1,121 million.
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BANK AND OTHER LOANS

As of 31 December 2023, the Group has total outstanding interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings of RMB73.1 million, compared with RMB100.1 million
as of 31 December 2022. The Group’s borrowings are mainly denominated in

Renminbi.

Details of the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are set out in note 25

to the consolidated financial statements.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE THE COMPANY’S
SECURITIES AND EQUITY-LINKED
AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme, at no time during the year ended
31 December 2023 was the Company, or any of its holding companies or
subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors or chief executive of the Company or their respective
associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) to have any right to subscribe for
securities of the Company or any of its associated corporations (as defined in the
SFO) or to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate, nor did the Company enter into

any equity-linked agreement.

DIRECTORS’
BUSINESS

As at the date of this annual report, none of the Directors and directors of the

INTERESTS IN COMPETING

Company’s subsidiaries, or their respective associates had interests in businesses,
which compete or are likely to compete either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries as required to be disclosed

pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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CHANGES IN DIRECTOR’S AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE'S BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS UNDER
RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Biographies of the Directors and Senior
Management”, there is no other change in Directors” biographical details which
is required to be disclosed pursuant to rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules
during the period from the date of publication of the Company's 2023 interim
report up to the date of this annual report.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING B Y
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

In order to restrict competition activities with the Company, the then
Controlling Shareholders of the Company, namely Mr. Ou Zongrong (“Mr. ZR
Ou”), WeiZheng Holdings Limited (“WeiZheng”) (a company wholly-owned
by Mr. ZR Ou), WeiYao Holdings Limited (“WeiYao") (a company wholly-
owned by Mr. ZR Ou) and WeiTian Holdings Limited (“WeiTian") (a company
wholly-owned by Mr. ZR Ou) (collectively, the “Covenantors”), entered into
a deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-competition”) in favor of the
Company on 15 June 2020. Pursuant to the Deed of Non-competition, the
Covenantors have undertaken, among others, not to compete with the business
of the Group, and details of the Deed of Non-competition are set out in the sub-
section headed “Deed of Non-competition” in the section headed “Relationship
with Controlling Shareholders” of the Prospectus. The Deed of Non-competition
will lapse automatically if the Covenantors and their respective close associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) cease to hold, whether directly or indirectly, 30%
or above of our Shares with voting rights or our Shares cease to be listed on the

Stock Exchange.
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As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 23 June 2023, WeiZheng,
WeiYao and WeiTian transferred all the Shares held by them to Warm Shine
Limited (“Warm Shine”) (a company wholly-owned by Mr. Ou Guowei, a son
of Mr. ZR Ou) and WeiQiang Holdings Limited (“WeiQiang”) (a company
wholly-owned by Mr. Ou Guogiang, a son of Mr. ZR Ou). Upon completion of
such transfers, each of the Covenantors had ceased to be interested in any Shares
with effect from 23 June 2023. As each of Warm Shine and WeiQiang is not a
close associate (as defined under the Listing Rules) of the Covenantors, and the
Covenantors and their respective close associates have ceased to hold, directly
or indirectly, 30% or more of the Shares in issue on 23 June 2023, the Deed of
Non-competition has lapsed automatically on 23 June 2023.

Each of the Covenantors has made a written confirmation to the Board in respect
of their compliance with the undertakings in the Deed of Non-competition (the
“Undertakings”) for the period from 1 January 2023 to 23 June 2023 (both
days inclusive) (the “Relevant Period”).

Upon receiving the confirmations from the Covenantors, the independent
non-executive Directors had reviewed the same as part of the annual review
process. In determining whether the Covenantors had fully complied with the
Undertakings in the Relevant Period, the independent non-executive Directors
noted that: (a) the Covenantors declared that they had fully complied with
the Undertakings in the Relevant Period; (b) no new competing business was
reported by the Covenantors during the Relevant Period; and (c) there was no
particular situation rendering the full compliance of the Undertakings being
questionable. In view of the above, the independent non-executive Directors
confirmed that, as far as they can ascertain, all of the Undertakings were

complied with by the Covenantors in the Relevant Period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Subject to applicable laws, the Directors shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them
may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted
in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective

offices, pursuant to the Articles of Association.

Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force for the year ended 31
December 2023. The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
Directors’ liabilities in respect of legal actions that may be brought against the
Directors.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Lease Agreements

References are made to the announcement and circular of the Company dated 29

December 2023 and 9 February 2024 respectively in relation to the renewal of

certain existing lease agreements (the “Existing Lease Agreements”) between

the relevant members of the Group (as lessees) (the “Lessees”) and the relevant

members of the Zhenro Properties Group (as lessors) (the “Lessors”). The

Existing Lease Agreements include:

(i)

(if)

the lease management agreement dated 16 December 2020 entered into
between Zhenro (Minhou) Investment Development Co., Led* (IEA (R
TR BB RAR/AF) (“Zhenro Minhou Investment”) (a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Zhenro Properties) (as lessor) and Fuzhou Zhenro
Commercial Management Co., Ltd* (R M I 2 i 24 B A BRA )
(“Zhenro Commercial Management (Fuzhou)”) (a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company since 30 June 2021) (as lessee) in relation to
the lease of a property for residential, retail, SOHO and office uses with
shopping mall at No. 18, Xinbao Road, Mabao Village, Shangjie Town,
Minhou County, Fuzhou City* (R i T e I 1 BRI (R AT 7 £
18 %), which is known as “Fuzhou Mabao Zhenro Fortune Centre* (1

ISR IE 25 1 & HR0)” (che “Mabao Property”);

the lease management agreement dated 16 December 2020 entered into
between Zhenro (Mawei) Real Estate Development Co., Led* (EEJER)
BEBEEAGIR/AT) (“Zhenro Real Estate (Mawei)”) (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Zhenro Properties) (as lessor) and Fuzhou Mawei Zhenro
Commercial Management Co., Led* (F@ /N 1 5 2 15 1F 48 i S5 LA
FR/AE]) (“Zhenro Commercial Management (Fuzhou Mawei)”) (a
non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company since 30 June 2021) (as
lessee) in relation to the lease of a property for residential and retail uses
with shopping mall at Zhenro Fortune Centre, No. 168 Shangqi Road,
Luoxing Street, Mawei District, Fuzhou* (R i R Im  EAE b
% 168 SEIEAEE HL), which is known as “Fuzhou Mawei Zhenro
Fortune Centre* (A 55 B IE4EHT & L) (the “Mawei Property”);

and
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(iii)  the lease management agreement dated 10 December 2020 entered
into between Zhenro Fortune (Fujian) Real Estate Co., Led* (IE4&Hf
BB BEXEAR/AT) (“Zhenro Real Estate (Fujian)”) (a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Zhenro Properties) (as lessor) and Zhenro (Putian)
Commercial Management Co., Ltd* (E%(%E)Pﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ)
(“Zhenro Commercial Management (Putian)”) (a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company since 30 June 2021) (as lessee) in relation to
the lease of a property for residential, retail, SOHO and office uses with
shopping mall at No. 1688, Liyuan East Road, Zhenhai Street, Licheng
District, Putian City* (F F 17 7 $ok I S5305 144 7 B % 1688 %),
which is known as “Putian Fortune Centre* (7§ M B & F00)” (the
“Putian Property”), together with a shopping street adjacent to “Putian
Fortune Centre* (7 FH A% H1402)” at South Zone, No. 1688, Liyuan East
Road, Zhenhai Street, Licheng District, Putian City* (F H T 2 3
SRR P R 7 BE R 1688 BT &%), which is known as “Putian Zhenro
Street* (Ff FHIE4E)” (the “Putian Shopping Street”).

Pursuant to the Existing Lease Agreements, each of the relevant Lessees leased
the relevant properties from the relevant Lessors, and had the right to procure
tenants and sub-lease any units in the relevant properties, and to engage in
advertising, management and operation activities in respect of the relevant
properties, for a term from the respective signing date of the Existing Lease

Agreements to 31 December 2023 (both days inclusive).

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the aggregate rental fees paid or
payable by the Lessees to the Lessors under the Existing Lease Agreements were
RMBG9.8 million.

As the Existing Lease Agreements were due to expire on 31 December 2023, the
Lessees and the Lessors entered into renewed lease agreements (the “2024 Lease
Agreements”) on 29 December 2023 in respect of the lease of the relevant

properties for a term of two years ending 31 December 2025, including:

(i) the lease management agreement dated 29 December 2023 between
Zhenro Minhou Investment (as lessor) and Zhenro Commercial
Management (Fuzhou) (as lessee) in relation to the lease of the Mabao
Property for the annual rent of RMB18,499,950 and RMB19,054,949 for
the years ending 31 December 2024 and 2025, respectively;
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(ii)  the lease management agreement dated 29 December 2023 between
Zhenro Real Estate (Mawei) (as lessor) and Zhenro Commercial
Management (Fuzhou Mawei) (as lessee) in relation to the lease
of the Mawei Property for the annual rent of RMB1,212,750 and
RMB1,249,13.5 for the years ending 31 December 2024 and 2025,
respectively;

(iii)  the lease management agreement dated 29 December 2023 entered into
between Zhenro Real Estate (Fujian) (as lessor) and Zhenro Commercial
Management (Putian) (as lessee) in relation to the Putian Property for the
annual rent of RMB39,357,439.91 and RMB40,538,163.11 for the years
ending 31 December 2024 and 2025, respectively; and

(iv)  the lease management agreement dated 29 December 2023 entered into
between Zhenro Real Estate (Fujian) (as lessor) and Zhenro Commercial
Management (Putian) (as lessee) in relation to the Putian Shopping Street
for the annual rent of RMB10,779,298.84 and RMB11,102,677.80 for
the years ending 31 December 2024 and 2025, respectively.

Pursuant to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 16 Leases, entering into
the 2024 Lease Agreements as lessee will require the Group to recognise the
right-of-use of the properties under the 2024 Lease Agreements as the right-of-
use assets of an estimated aggregate value of approximately RMB134 million on
its consolidated statement of financial position.

Mr. ZR Ou is the controlling shareholder of Zhenro Properties and his family
members (namely Mr. Ou Guowei and Mr. Ou Guoqiang) are the substantial
shareholders of the Company. Thus, the Lessors (being subsidiaries of Zhenro
Properties) are connected persons of the Company.

Accordingly, entering into the 2024 Lease Agreements and the transactions
contemplated thereunder is regarded as an acquisition of assets by the Group
which constitute a major and connected transaction for the Company under
Chapters 14 and 14A of the Listing Rules.

For further details on the 2024 Lease Agreements, please refer to the
announcement and circular of the Company dated 29 December 2023 and 9
February 2024, respectively.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The following transactions constituted continuing connected transactions of the

Group for the year ended 31 December 2023, which are subject to the reporting

and annual review requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

1.  Pre-Delivery Property Management Services

@

LA MFHEE AR AT Zhenro Services Group Limited

Zhenro Properties Pre-Delivery Property Management

Services

On 31 December 2019, the Company entered into a pre-delivery
property management services framework agreement (the “Zhenro
Properties Pre-Delivery Property Management Services
Framework Agreement”) with Zhenro Properties, pursuant
to which, the Group agreed to provide pre-delivery property
management services for its residential property projects before the
delivery of such properties to property owners, including but not
limited to security, cleaning, landscaping, repair and maintenance
of common area and shared facilities (the “Zhenro Properties
Pre-Delivery Property Management Services”), for a term of
three years from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022 (both days

inclusive).

In order to renew the Zhenro Properties Pre-Delivery Property
Management Services Framework Agreement which would expire
on 31 December 2022, on 15 November 2022, the Company and
Zhenro Properties entered into the 2023 Pre-Delivery Property
Management Services Agreement in relation to the provision of
Zhenro Properties Pre-Delivery Property Management Services by
the Group to the Zhenro Properties Group, for a term of three years
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025 (both days inclusive).
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(i)

The annual cap for the service fees payable by Zhenro Properties
Group to the Group in relation to the Zhenro Properties Pre-
Delivery Property Management Services for the year ended 31
December 2023 was RMB20.0 million. The service fees paid/
payable by the Zhenro Properties Group to the Group under the
Zhenro Properties Pre-Delivery Property Management Services for
the year ended 31 December 2023 was RMB1.2 million, which did

not exceed the annual cap for the year.

Mr. ZR Ou Pre-Delivery Property Management Services

On 18 June 2020, the Company entered into a pre-delivery
property management services framework agreement with Mr.
ZR Ou (the “Mr. ZR Ou Pre-Delivery Property Management
Services Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which, the
Group agreed to provide to Mr. ZR Ou’s associates (excluding
Zhenro Properties Group but including its associates) (the
“Associates”) pre-delivery property management services for their
residential property projects before the delivery of such properties
to property owners including but not limited to security, cleaning,
landscaping, repair and maintenance of common area and shared
facilities (the “Mr. ZR Ou Pre-Delivery Property Management
Services”), for a term commencing on the Listing Date and ending
on 31 December 2022 (both days inclusive).
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In order to renew the Mr. ZR Ou Pre-Delivery Property
Management Services Framework Agreement which would expire
on 31 December 2022, on 15 November 2022, the Company
and Mr. ZR Ou entered into the 2023 Mr. ZR Ou Pre-Delivery
Property Management Services Framework Agreement in relation
to the provision of Mr. ZR Ou Pre-Delivery Property Management
Services, for a term of three years from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2025 (both days inclusive).

The annual cap for the service fees payable by the Associates to
the Group in relation to the Mr. ZR Ou Pre-Delivery Property
Management Services for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
RMB3.0 million. The amount of service fees paid/payable by
the Associates to the Group under the Mr. ZR Ou Pre-Delivery
Property Management Services for the year ended 31 December
2023 was RMBO.2 million, which did not exceed the annual cap

for the year.
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2.

Management Services

(@

Zhenro Properties Management Services

On 31 December 2019, the Company entered into a management
services framework agreement with Zhenro Properties (the “Zhenro
Properties Management Services Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which, the Group agreed to provide to Zhenro
Properties Group management and related services including
but not limited to cleaning, landscaping, concierge, maintenance
of public order, security services, and other related value-added
services to the residential property projects of Zhenro Properties
Group and their display units, sales offices and community
clubhouses as well as commercial properties operated by Zhenro
Properties Group (the “Zhenro Properties Management
Services”), for a term of three years from 1 January 2020 to 31
December 2022 (both days inclusive).

In order to renew the Zhenro Properties Management Services
Framework Agreement which would expire on 31 December
2022, on 15 November 2022, the Company and Zhenro Properties
entered into the 2023 Management Services Agreement in relation
to the provision of Zhenro Properties Management Services by the
Group to the Zhenro Properties Group, for a term of three years
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025 (both days inclusive).

The annual cap for the service fees payable by Zhenro Properties
Group to the Group in relation to the Zhenro Properties
Management Services for the year ended 31 December 2023
was RMB50.0 million. The amount of service fees paid/payable
by Zhenro Properties Group to the Group under the Zhenro
Properties Management Services for the year ended 31 December
2023 was RMB47.9 million, which did not exceed the annual cap

for the year.
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(i)

Mr. ZR Ou Management Services

On 18 June 2020, the Company entered into a management
services framework agreement with Mr. ZR Ou (the “Mr. ZR Ou
Management Services Framework Agreement”), pursuant to
which, the Group agreed to provide to the Associates management
and related services including but not limited to cleaning,
landscaping, concierge, maintenance of public order, security
services, and other related value-added services to the residential
property projects of the Associates and their display units, sales
offices and community clubhouses as well as commercial properties
(including office) operated or occupied by them and other
properties held by them for potential projects (the “Mr. ZR Ou
Management Services”), for a term of three years from the Listing

Date and ending on 31 December 2022 (both days inclusive).

In order to renew the Mr. ZR Ou Management Services Framework
Agreement which would expire on 31 December 2022, on 15
November 2022, the Company and Mr. ZR Ou entered into the
2023 Mr. ZR Ou Management Services Framework Agreement in
relation to the provision of Mr. ZR Ou Management Services, for
a term of three years from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025
(both days inclusive).

The annual cap for the service fees payable by the Associates to the
Group in relation to the Mr. ZR Ou Management Setvices for the
year ended 31 December 2023 was RMB25.0 million. The amount
of service fees payable by the Associates to the Group under the
Mr. ZR Ou Management Services for the year ended 31 December
2023 was RMB12.4 million, which did not exceed the annual cap

for the year.
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Consultancy Services

On 19 May 2021, Zhenro Commercial Management entered into a
consultancy agreement with Zhenro Properties (the “Consultancy
Agreement”) pursuant to which Zhenro Commercial Management agreed
to provide commercial property operational and consultancy services (the
“Consultancy Services”) to Zhenro Properties Group, including but not
limited to: (i) pre-acquisition services in respect of land for commercial
properties, office buildings, apartments and hotels (including but not
limited to commercial land researches, commercial related consultancy
and studies); (ii) early-stage services for commercial property projects
having been obtained (including but not limited to project positioning,
business planning, store location, architectural design, optimisation of
mechanical and electrical engineering technology, planning for tenant
sourcing and opening, commercial lease planning, management fee
estimation and preparation of lease documents); (iii) opening preparation
services for commercial property projects having been obtained (including
but not limited to tenant sourcing, marketing and promotion, pre-
opening, renovation construction); (iv) management services for property
projects that have commenced operations; and (v) specialised consultancy
services. The Consultancy Agreement had a term from 28 June 2021 to
31 December 2022 (both days inclusive).

In order to renew the Consultancy Agreement which would expire
on 31 December 2022, on 15 November 2022, Zhenro Commercial
Management and Zhenro Properties entered into the 2023 Consultancy
Services Agreement in relation to the provision of Consultancy Services
by the Zhenro Commercial Group to the Zhenro Properties Group (the
“2023 Consultancy Agreement”), for a term from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2025 (both days inclusive).
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The annual cap for the service fees payable by Zhenro Properties Group
to the Group in relation to the Consultancy Services for the year ended
31 December 2023 was RMB15.0 million. The amount of the service
fees paid/payable for the Zhenro Properties Group to the Group under
the Consultancy Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023 was

RMB1.7 million, which did not exceed the annual cap for the year.

Mr. ZR Ou is the controlling shareholder of Zhenro Properties and his
family members (namely Mr. Ou Guowei and Mr. Ou Guogiang) are
the substantial shareholders of the Company. Thus, Mr. ZR Ou, the
Associates, and the Zhenro Properties Group are connected persons of the

Company.

Accordingly, the transactions under the 2023 Zhenro Properties Pre-
Delivery Property Management Services Framework Agreement, the 2023
Mr. ZR Ou Pre-Delivery Property Management Services Framework
Agreement, the 2023 Zhenro Properties Management Services Framework
Agreement, the 2023 Mr. ZR Ou Management Services Framework
Agreement and the 2023 Consultancy Agreement constitutes continuing

connected transactions for the Company.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, all independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed that the above
continuing connected transactions have been entered into (i) in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal
commercial terms or better; and (iii) according to the relevant agreements
governing the transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in

the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.
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For the purpose of Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the auditor of the
Company has provided a letter to the Board, confirming that nothing has come
to their attention that causes them to believe that the continuing connected
transactions mentioned above (i) have not been approved by the Board; (ii) were
not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies
of the Group; (iii) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing such transactions; and (iv) have

exceeded the respective annual cap.

Save as disclosed above, for the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had
not entered into any other connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions which are required to be disclosed in this annual report pursuant to

the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the year ended 31

December 2023 are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

The related party transactions set out in note 30 to consolidated financial
statements include related party transactions disclosed under accounting
standards and some of related party transactions which also constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The related party transactions in respect of the remuneration of
Directors and chief executives of the Company constitute continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However, these
transactions are exempt from reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The related party transactions in respect of the remuneration of key management
personnel (other than directors and chief executives) of the Company did not
fall under the definition of connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Save as disclosed
under the section headed “Connected Transactions” and “Continuing Connected
Transactions” in this annual report, the Directors believe, all other related party
transactions set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements do not
fall within the definition of “connected transactions” or “continuing connected
transactions” under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules (as the case may be). The
Company confirmed that it was in compliance with the disclosure requirements
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2023.

£ Annual Report 2023 71



HE R E

Directors’ Report

P BB 4 %9

BRAAEH [ BHAERT 5 |~ TR S |
[ B 758 5 | B [ BRI & sl S BT 1 A I
LA MM 0 T EEE AN > HEC
FoCEFZAS B IREE > AR
8 AT 0T T B8 2 i) A0 B 92 e R % 45
5 B AT AT 2% B BT L KA 4 EL
WHBAHNEEAE e _F =

TZA = HIREEE > IR I R
S HAT ] B 88 28 R 1) AR 2 /] SO0 S A Y
ATAAT 22 5% Vg B AR AR IR BS M T 2 R A 40
LA B A AR AR A -

ESCHRBAA AR A A~ o B RE Y

P PR > AR A 9 —FB 5 -
HREHE
HHE LI

BIfsE

g, —EF-WE=H 1+ /\H

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Other than disclosed in the sections headed “Connected Transactions”,
“Continuing Connected Transactions”, “Related Party Transactions” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements contained in this annual report, no contract of significance
was entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
Controlling Shareholders or any of their respective close associates during
the year ended 31 December 2023 or subsisted at the end of the year and
no contract of significance for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by a Controlling Shareholder or any of their respective
close associates was entered into during the year ended 31 December 2023 or

subsisted at the end of the year.

All references above to other sections, reports or notes in this annual report form

part of this annual report.
By order of the Board

Liu Weiliang
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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The Group is committed to maintaining and strengthening high standards of
corporate governance by focusing on principles of integrity, accountability,
transparency, independence, responsibility and fairness, in order to safeguard
and protect the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance corporate value
and accountability system. The Company has adopted the principles and code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code as in force from time to time as

the basis of the Company’s corporate governance practices.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with all applicable
code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code. The Board will
continue to review and monitor the practices of the Company for the purpose
of complying with the Corporate Governance Code and maintaining a high

standard of corporate governance practices of the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board takes on the responsibility to oversee all major matters of the
Company and is charged with promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. The Board has general powers for the
management and conduct of the Company’s business. The day-to-day operations
and management are delegated by the Board to the management of the
Company, who will implement the strategy and direction as determined by the
Board.

The Board will review the structure and composition of the Board from time to
time in light of prevailing circumstances, in order to maintain a high standard

of corporate governance practices of the Company.

The Board has a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements
of the business of the Company. The Company has also adopted a board diversity
policy which sets out the objective and approach to achieve diversity of the
Board.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report, the
Board comprises two executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three

independent non-executive Directors.

The composition of the Board during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up

to the date of this annual report is as follows:

£ Annual Report2023 73




SRR

Corporate Governance Report

AT

BRI Sk (TTRA#) (=% ==
LA~ AHE(E)

MBERLSRLE (FFBA#) (K —F =4
L H— HEIE)

FRSE (= F =L ] — HEE(T)

RER S (R =AF LA — HHE)

FEHITES
B s ol () (O = = =4
—H A HEZT GEF L)
AR (=
—H A HEHT)

WL F AT E S
F i e

I 2 M e
BRA ek

EHEERR AR TR E39H o

G A A W H A E R B R AT
A AR A B AR

WFEE TIPSR C.2.1 58] > &
Jif BELAT B AR 0 A AT [ ) o I AN
— N[RIRE AT R BIESe e B AR
VB ) 5 O R B B SE S B o AT
BB et (R =R =4t H—H
REAE) ROERER e (R —F —=FtH—H
BELAT) ARALEE HEGLER - B
L A Bl o RS S B o e R
3 B2 e HE TR AT - o

Executive Directors

Mr. Deng Li (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 1 July 2023)

Mr. Lin Xiaotong (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 1 July 2023)

Mr. Wang Wei (appointed on 1 July 2023)

Mr. Kang Hong (resigned on 1 July 2023)

Non-executive Director

Mzr. Liu Weiliang (Chairman)

(appointed as the Chairman of the Board on 20 January 2023)
Mr. Huang Xianzhi

(resigned on 20 _January 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ma Haiyue
Mzr. Au Yeung Po Fung
Mr. Zhang Wei

The biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 31 to 39 of this annual

report.

No Board member has other relationship with the other Board members and the

chief executive officer of the Company.

Code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code states that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The chairman, Mr. Liu Weiliang focuses on
the overall management of the investment strategies and business development
of the Group. The chief executive officer, Mr. Lin Xiaotong (resigned on 1 July
2023) and Mr. Deng Li (appointed on 1 July 2023), is responsible for day-to-day
business and management of the Group. Such division of responsibilities helps

to reinforce their independence and to ensure a balance of power and authority.
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Each of the executive Directors, namely Mr. Deng Li and Mr. Wang Wei, has
entered into a service contract with the Company on 1 July 2023, and each
of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors has
entered into their respective letters of appointment. The principal particulars of
these service contracts and the letters of appointment are (a) for an initial fixed
term of three years commencing from 1 July 2023 (for the executive Directors),
11 December 2022 (for the non-executive Directors) or 10 June 2020 (for
the independent non-executive Directors), and the letters of appointment
of independent non-executive Directors was renewed with the Company on
10 June 2023, for a term of three years, and (b) are subject to termination in
accordance with their respective terms. The service contracts may be renewed in

accordance with the Articles of Association and the applicable rules.

The aggregate remuneration (including fees, salaries, contributions to pension
schemes, share-based compensation expenses, discretionary bonuses, housing and
other allowances and other benefits in kind) payable to the Directors for the year

ended 31 December 2023 was approximately RMB3.5 million.

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management is determined
with reference to salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the Group. Details
of the remuneration of the Directors and senior management for 2023 are set
out in notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements. In addition,
pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the Corporate Governance Code, the annual
remuneration of members of the senior management by band for the year ended

31 December 2023 is set out below:

A B A\

Number of senior

e ) 4 2 o A P Remuneration to the senior management by band management
500,001 # 7T % 1,000,000 7T HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 1
At Total 1
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, no remuneration was paid by the
Group to the Directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to

join or upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of office.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company had three independent
non-executive Directors, which meets the requirement of the Listing Rules that
the number of independent non-executive directors must represent at least one-

third of the Board and should not be less than three.

The Company has received a written confirmation of independence from each
of the independent non-executive Directors with reference to the factors set out

under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and considers them to be independent.

The Directors have access to the services of the company secretary to ensure
that the Board procedures are followed. During the year ended 31 December
2023, Mr. Wang Yi was one of the joint company secretaries. The Company
has engaged Ms. Lin Sio Ngo, a manager of SWCS Corporate Services Group
(Hong Kong) Limited (a company secretarial service provider), as another joint
company secretary since 24 December 2021 to assist Mr. Wang in discharging
his duties as company secretary of the Company. Mr. Wang has been confirmed
by the Stock Exchange to be qualified to act as the company secretary of the
Company under Rules 3.28 and 8.17 of the Listing Rules on 1 August 2023.
Ms. Lin also possesses the relevant qualifications as a company secretary as
required under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules. Ms. Lin’s primary contact person

at the Company was Mr. Wang Yi.

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Wang and Ms. Lin have
undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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On the first occasion of each Director’s appointment, the Company has

arranged a comprehensive induction to ensure that he/she has a proper

understanding of the Company’s operations and business and is fully aware

of the director’s responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other relevant

statutory requirements. The Company will arrange suitable training for all

Directors in order to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills as part of

their continuous professional development. The training records of the Directors

during the year ended 31 December 2023 are summarized as follows:

2B
Participated
in continuous
professional
development™!
Executive Directors
Mt. Deng Li (appointed on 1 July 2023) v
Mz. Lin Xiaotong (resigned on 1 July 2023) 4
Mr. Wang Wei (appointed on 1 July 2023) v
M. Kang Hong (resigned on 1 July 2023) 4
Non-executive Director
Mr. Liu Weiliang 4
Independent Non-executive Directors
Mtr. Ma Haiyue 4
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung v/
Mr. Zhang Wei 4
Note:
1. Attended briefings, trainings or seminars and reading materials.
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Code provision C.5.1 of the Corporate Governance Code requires that board
meetings should be held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly
intervals with active participation of the majority of the Directors, either in

person or through electronic means of communications.

The Board held six meetings during the year ended 31 December 2023 for
reviewing and approving the audited annual results of the Company together
with its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2022; the interim results
of the Company together with its subsidiaries for the six months ended 30 June
2023; the connected transaction of Zhenro Properties and the Company, details
of which are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 29 December 2023;
the acquisition of equity interest in the target company, details of which are set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 22 December 2023; and the change

of the members of the Board.

Code provision F.2.2 of the Corporate Governance Code requires that the board
of directors should obtain communication with the shareholders, especially

through participation in the annual general meeting.
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The Group held the annual general meeting on 16 June 2023, and all Board

members attended the meeting.

The table below sets out details of the attendance of each of the Directors at the
Board meetings, the annual general meeting and extraordinary general meeting
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

/R R R
ERAEARYE BORRERY
Attended/Eligible  Attended/Eligible
to attend to attend

Board meeting ~ general meeting

HirES Executive Directors
WIS (F F =L — HEZET) Mr. Deng Li (appointed on 1 July 2023) 313 0/0
WY (R = E = =LA —HEHTE) Mz. Lin Xiaotong (resigned on 1 July 2023) 3/3 2/2
FREE (R F ==L H—HEZT) Mr. Wang Wei (appointed on 1 July 2023) 3/3 0/0
FRERAE (B F =L H—HEIT) Mr. Kang Hong (resigned on 1 July 2023) 313 212
FoiTES Non-executive Director
BURSERE (L) (RZFZ=%F—HZ1H Mr. Liu Weiliang (Chairman) (appointed as the

BRI EEGTR) Chairman of the Board on 20 January 2023) 6/6 212
R, (R =F = =4F—H =+ HFHE)  Mr. Huang Xianzhi (resigned on 20 January 2023) 11 11
BT ESR Independent Non-executive Directors
Rl Mr. Ma Haiyue 6/6 2/2
ko B 5 Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung 6/6 212
s Mr. Zhang Wei 6/6 212

BWE-F =+ H=+—HILHFE
L /NIE N VAP R O R O X VG
ik o AN IR -

The chairman of the Company held a meeting with the independent non-
executive Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 without the other

Directors present.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code
provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code. The Board reviewed the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management during the
Reporting Period, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and
written employee guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with the Corporate

Governance Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has three principal Board committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee.
Each of the Board committees operates under its terms of reference. The terms of
reference of the Board committees are available on the website of the Company

and that of the Stock Exchange.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional

advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate
Governance Code. The Audit Committee consists of three members, namely Mr.
Zhang Wei and Mr. Ma Haiyue, independent non-executive Directors, and Mr.
Liu Weiliang, non-executive Director. Mr. Zhang Wei has been appointed as
the chairman of the Audit Committee, and Mr. Ma Haiyue has the appropriate
professional qualifications or related financial management expertise as required
under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, but are not limited to,
(i) reviewing and supervising financial reporting process, internal control
system, risk management and internal audit of the Group; (ii) providing
recommendations and advices to the Board; (iii) performing other duties and
responsibilities as may be assigned by the Board; (iv) reviewing the Company’s
financial statement; and (v) performing the Company’s corporate governance
functions in order to comply with the disclosure requirements in the corporate

governance report set out in the Corporate Governance Code.
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During the Reporting Period, 2 meetings of the Audit Committee were held
and the attendance record of the Audit Committee members is set out in the

table below:

i HE th
ki

Attended/Eligible
Directors to attend
M. Zhang Wei (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Liu Weiliang 2/2
Mr. Ma Haiyue 2/2

The Audit Committee reviewed the financial reporting system, compliance
procedures, internal control (including the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programs and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting functions) and risk management systems,
effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function and processes and the
reappointment of the external auditor. The Board had not deviated from any
recommendation given by the Audit Committee on the selection, appointment,

resignation or dismissal of external auditor.

The Audit Committee also reviewed interim and final results of the Company
and its subsidiaries for the interim period and the fiscal year as well as the audit
report prepared by the external auditor relating to accounting issues and major

findings in the course of audit.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code. The Nomination
Committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung and
M. Ma Haiyue, independent non-executive Directors, and Mr. Liu Weiliang,
non-executive Director. Mr. Liu Weiliang is the chairman of the Nomination

Committee.

£ Annual Report 2023 81

T
IRERN
e

\/\"

P

N

o

|
|



SRR

Corporate Governance Report

RAZBENEERECEEARR O
FEEDR - WEF G AN - LA
ACBLAE B RE - Ik - AEBR LA R 2 el A
BE) > Sl o e A0 AT T A 5 B )
EREGRN AR DR EAL AR
W5 G - BRERE A Y R A
HEMEBEA AR RE > W RERE
AR Z et ¢ Gin eGSR AT E S
MBS 5 Gv) sl AT~ A R
KR (LHR TR KiRmiTEANR) #1E
REEIA A B S E R R A R
Ml g 2 u L BOR ([EHF g2 ufb
R BEEFRGANBATERGS T
AL BRI i) 2 B9 A] w3 AR SRR

WA 4% B BT 2 K
R4 Z B a R B R R Bk T

HH

BlfassiE (1)
R B e
HiBoEs

BE-Z =4+ A=+—RI1LEEF
WAZBGEMFIRAEOR R ERE T L0
ALBURE 5 BFAG 8 57 FF BT 3 55 0 8 S
Bt it B RO AR K& L BAT S R aR e
MG K ERIBTERMEHGREE
e BE R ST A= HIEE
B BRI KT B R AR o
¢ 55 T 2 T A R IR A0 I SR A% B
AR > HLSES T AR 2y b AT N
F BT RIIE R AT -

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include, but are not limited
to, (i) reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of perspective) of the Board at least
annually and making recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes to the composition of the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy; (ii) identifying, selecting or making recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorship, and
ensuring the diversity of the Board members; (iii) assessing the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors; (iv) making recommendations to
the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment, re-appointment and
removal of the Directors and succession planning for the Directors (in particular
the chairman and chief executive); and (v) reviewing the policy of the board
diversity (the “Board Diversity Policy”), including any measurable objectives
for implementing such Board Diversity Policy as may be adopted by the Board

from time to time, and the progress on achieving the objective.

During the Reporting Period, 2 meetings of the Nomination Committee were
held and the attendance record of the Nomination Committee members is set

out in the table below:

HE R

kK

Attended/Eligible

Directors to attend
Mr. Liu Weiliang (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung 2/2
Mr. Ma Haiyue 2/2

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee has
reviewed the nomination policy and the Board Diversity Policy; assessed
the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and made
recommendation to the Board in relation to appointment of the Directors and
senior management and re-election of retiring Directors at the annual general
meeting. During the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Deng Li and Mr.
Wang Wei were appointed as Directors. They executed the then applicable
form B Declaration and Undertaking with regard to Directors, and each of
them understood his obligations as a director of a listed issuer under the Listing
Rules.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate
Governance Code. The Remuneration Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Zhang Wei and Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung, independent non-executive
Directors, and Mr. Lin Xiaotong (resigned on 1 July 2023) and Mr. Deng Li
(appointed on 1 July 2023), executive Directors. Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung, the
independent non-executive Director, has been appointed as the chairman of the

Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include, but are not
limited to (i) establishing, and reviewing the Group’s policy and structure
concerning remuneration of the Directors and senior management, establishing
a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies concerning such
remuneration policies and making recommendations thereon to the Board; (ii)
determining the terms of the specific remuneration package of each Director
and senior management member; (iii) reviewing and approving performance-
based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by
the Directors from time to time; and (iv) reviewing and/or approving matters

relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model described in code

provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the Corporate Governance Code in its terms of reference.

During the Reporting Period, 2 meetings of the Remuneration Committee were
held and the attendance record of the Remuneration Committee members is set

out in the table below:

i HE R
LS

Attended/Eligible
Directors to attend
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Zhang Wei 2/2
Mzr. Deng Li (appointed on 1 July 2023) 1/1
Mz. Lin Xiaotong (resigned on 1 July 2023) 1/1
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The Remuneration Committee discussed and reviewed the service agreement,
appointment letter and remuneration policy for Directors and senior
management of the Company, and made recommendations to the Board on the
service agreement, appointment letter and remuneration packages of individual

executive Directors and senior management.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions. The provisions under the Listing Rules in
relation to compliance with the code of conduct by the Directors regarding
securities transactions have been applicable to the Company since the Listing
Date. All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company,
that they have complied with the Model Code throughout the Reporting Period.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a Board nomination policy for the Nomination
Committee to consider and make recommendations to Shareholders for election
as Directors at general meetings or appointment as Directors to fill casual

vacancies.

SELECTION CRITERIA

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the Nomination
Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate: (1) reputation
for integrity; (2) accomplishment and experience in the business in which the
Group is engaged in; (3) commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest; (4) diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to race, gender,
age (18 years or above), educational background, professional experience, skills
and length of service; (5) qualifications which include professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Company’s business
and corporate strategy; (6) the existing directorships and other commitments
that may demand the attention of the candidate; (7) requirement for the Board
to appoint independent non-executive Directors in accordance with the Listing
Rules and whether the candidates would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in Rules 3.13 of the Listing
Rules; (8) Board diversity policy of the Company and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Nomination Committee for achieving diversity on the Board;

and (9) such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION PROCEDURE

Subject to the provisions in the Articles of Association of the Company and the
Listing Rules, if the Board recognises the need for an additional Director or a

member of the senior management, the following procedure will be followed:

(1) the Nomination Committee and/or Board will identify potential candidates
based on the criteria as set out in the selection criteria, possibly with assistance
from external agencies and/or advisors; (2) the Nomination Committee and/
or the company secretary of the Company will then provide the Board with the
biographical details and details of the relationship between the candidate and
the Company and/or Directors, directorships held, skills and experience, other
positions which involve significant time commitment and any other particulars
required by the Listing Rules, the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands and
other regulatory requirements for any candidate for appointment to the Board; (3)
the Nomination Committee would then make recommendation to the Board on
the proposed candidate(s) and the terms and conditions of the appointment; (4)
the Nomination Committee should ensure that the proposed candidate(s) will
enhance the diversity of the Board, being particularly mindful of gender balance;
(5) in the case of the appointment of an independent non-executive Director,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should obtain all information in
relation to the proposed Director to allow the Board to adequately assess the
independence of the Director in accordance with the factors set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules, subject to any amendments as may be made by the
Stock Exchange from time to time; and (6) the Board will then deliberate and
decide on the nomination based upon the recommendation of the Nomination

Committee.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”), pursuant to
which the Company may declare and distribute dividends to the Shareholders,
provided that the declaration and distribution of dividends is not in excess of

the amount recommended by the Board.
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The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject to the discretion
of the Board, and any declaration of final dividend will be subject to the
approval of the Shareholders. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board
shall also take into account, among other things, the Group’s financial results,
Shareholders’ interests; general business conditions and strategies, financial
condition, capital requirements, taxation considerations, contractual, statutory
and regulatory restriction (if any), and any other conditions the Directors may
deem relevant at such time. Any payment of the dividend by the Company is
also subject to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands

and the Articles of Association.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time and there is no

assurance that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific periods.

There is no arrangement under which a Shareholder has waived or agreed to

waive any dividend.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The Company recognises the benefits
of having a diversified Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level
as an essential element in supporting the attainment of the Group’s strategic
objectives and sustainable development. The Group seeks to achieve diversity of
the Board through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not
limited to professional experience, skills, knowledge, education background,
gender, age and ethnicity. The Directors have a balanced mix of experiences,
including overall management, brand improvement, business development,
legal, finance, auditing and accounting experiences. Furthermore, the ages of the
Directors range from 41 years old to 54 years old. The education background of
the Directors ranges from economics and business administration to law, with
degrees awarded by education institutions in the PRC and Hong Kong to the

United States.
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The Directors recognize the particular importance of gender diversity and
that gender diversity at the Board level can be improved. The Nomination
Committee is currently making every effort to identify and recommend female
candidates to the Board for its consideration of Director. The Company has
adopted the Board Diversity Policy with the aim of achieving an appropriate
level of diversity among Board members according to the circumstances of the
Group from time to time. In summary, the Board Diversity Policy sets out
that when considering the nomination and appointment of a Director, with
the assistance of the Nomination Committee, the Board would consider a
range of diversity of perspectives, including but not limited to the professional
experience, skills, knowledge, education background, gender, age and ethnicity,
in order to better serve the needs and development of the Company. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of diversity to the
Board.

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree on measurable objectives
for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to
the Board for adoption. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy
and shall be taken full account of the benefits of diversity on the Board when

considering candidates.

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the Company
sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting
the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development. As
a measurable objective for the implementation of the Board diversity policy,
all Board appointments shall be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against the aforementioned criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board without focusing on a single diversity aspect.
Currently, the Board has male members only. In order to ensure gender diversity
at the Board level, the Nomination Committee is in the process of identifying
suitable female candidates who have the necessary skills and experience to
the Board. The Board targets to appoint at least one suitable female Board
member by 31 December 2024. The Board also targets to have at least one
female Board member at all time, representing not less than 10% of the Board
composition, and will continue to seek opportunities to increase the proportion
of female members over time as and when suitable candidates are identified. The
Company will ensure that gender diversity is taken into account when recruiting
staff members of mid to senior level and ensure that sufficient resources are
available for providing appropriate trainings and career development to develop

a pipeline of potential successors to the Board and maintain gender diversity.
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As at 31 December 2023, diversity of Board members in terms of gender and
age group is as follows: approximately 100% are male Directors and 0% are
female Director. Meanwhile, approximately 0% are below 30, 16.7% are age
31-40, 66.7% are age 41-50, and 16.7% are above 50.

EMPLOYEES DIVERSITY

Employees are key drivers to the sustainable development of an enterprise.
The Group adheres to the people-oriented principle and the talent philosophy
of “cherishing, developing and giving full play to talents”, improving the
recruitment standards and creating a diverse and high-quality talent team. We
have developed sound recruitment management measures to effectively ensure a
high quality workforce. In addition, we continue to improve the remuneration
package for employees, providing a better working platform for employees
to promote the realization of employee value and support the sustainable
development of the Company. We adhere to the principle of equal employment
and are committed to creating an equal and diversified working environment,
prohibit discrimination in employment, and respect and equally treat employees

of different genders, races, religious beliefs and cultural backgrounds.

As of 31 December 2023, the number of female employees in the Group
was approximately 1,583 (including senior management), representing
approximately 45% of the total workforce of the Group. The Group is
committed to maintaining a 50% female membership in senior management

and overall staff.

During the year under review, the Board was not aware of any mitigating factors
or circumstances which make achieving gender diversity across the workforce

(including senior management) more challenging or less relevant.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
The Group has adopted all applicable provisions of the Code on Corporate

Governance Practices as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its
own corporate governance code. The Board is the highest governance body
of the Group and undertakes the ultimate responsibility for the sustainable
development of the Group. The Group includes several work groups, which
assist the Group to formulate and review the responsibilities, vision, strategy,
framework, principles and policies of the Group’s ESG, and monitor main
ESG trends and related risks and opportunities, in order to ensure the effective

execution and implementation of ESG policies passed by the Board.
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continuously enhance our governance.

HEE RS KX TIT - The Governance structure and responsibilities are as follows:
HHE RGN FIESG R ELE PR N BB 1A fe oy B AL RN > AT DA T e

The Board

The Board, as the highest governing body for the management and public disclosure of ESG matters of the

Company, mainly performs the following functions:

L ek I ESG AR R bR M

1. Reviewing the risks and importance related to the Company’s ESG matters

Bk~ LI W ESG Y BN B A
2. Considering and approving the Company's ESG strategy and goals

BB ARl A RIESGAIBHEUR ~ B - KB RAE H B
Supervising and reviewing the Company’s ESG-related policies, management, performance and

progress of related goals

4. B MEAL FESGAH B R
4. Considering and approving ESG-related disclosures of the Company

5. EHERGRDBEAM2RESGERMBE G - LEE - Rl EsGHEIRIER
5. The Board shall hold meetings about ESG governance at least twice a year to monitor and review

progress of ESG governance
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ESG work groups THWR
The ESG work groups, established by the Board, shall assist in the performance of the Board’s duties and

promote the implementation and co-organization of the Company’s ESG policy, detailed as follows:

. TR AR 2 ) AT AR R O B LA o I AU B T A T AR s S R R
U formulating sustainable development strategy and targets for the Company, and providing

recommendations and advices to the Board on relevant sustainable development

. ai | R A R ESG R R B SR - 3l A 16 i B A A R
o identifying and determining the risks and opportunities related to ESG matters of the Company, and

regularly reporting the assessment results to the Board

. A% A BR A A RIESG S FLA B BOR ~ B - RBLNOM B A
J examining and validating ESG-related policies, management, performance and progress of related

goals of the Company

. B G R R A AR ) A T T ) T R AR R SR AR BAATE) S E ESG A B B
VAT

o supervising and guiding all functional departments to comprehensively implement sustainable
development strategy and related actions of the Company, and coordinating and promoting the

implementation of ESG-related matters

. W~ AL R LESGHR B B R B A PR - B ESGHR it A AL S8 I A
U checking and reviewing the public disclosure of the Company’s performance on ESG-related matters,

and taking charge of the overall planning and preparation of the ESG reports

. HHERMEN SR > BSG TAR/ NI E W 5 G HERESG TIFfEEE R
. the ESG work groups shall report ESG work progress to the Board regularly for other matters
authorized by the Board

AR BRI AE 1 1 . JEAT 2% A ESG A Bl SR B HELA

Relevant functional J implementing ESG-related strategies and management measures of the Company
departments
. T BIESG LA/ NMUESTBAR G R - IRt

o assisting ESG work groups in data collection and providing feedback
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The Company appointed Ernst & Young as the external auditor for the year
ended 31 December 2023. There was no change in the external auditor of the

Company for the three years preceding the date of this annual report.

Details of the fees paid/payable in respect of the audit and non-audit services
provided by Ernst & Young for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
the table below:

(ARHTF)
JI ARk A M5 Services rendered (RMB’000)
FT R Audit services:
AL B R R I A B T Annual audit of the financial statements of the Group 2,300,000
FEFFIRTS Non-audit services
ESG A IR 5 ESG consultancy services 180,000
2,480,000

LY S i

EHAREBEMBRENGER T/ DX
T Hb S AR 4 1 B S5 5K DL DA B R
JR e R S B A i o A% BCHT L L B S
1) T AT 10 TSRO AR AR 98 2
107H - REREE —F =4+ "A=
o H AR AR B RS W AR o R LR
RN B T BOR A E RO > A AR
OV R BB BT S At o Sl A4 A L e
A A BE R

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of the financial
statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
and of the results and cash flow during the Reporting Period. A statement
from the auditor about its reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
is set out on pages 98 to 107 of this annual report. In preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors have selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgments
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the financial

statements on a going concern basis.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal control
and risk management systems in order to safeguard the Group's assets and
Shareholders’ interests and reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control and risk management systems on an annual basis so as to ensure that
internal control and risk management systems in place are adequate. The
Company also has an internal audit function which primarily carries out the
analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
issuer’s risk management and internal control systems, and reports their findings

to the Board on, at least, an annual basis.

The Group’s internal control and risk management systems include a well-
established organizational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility
and authority. The day-to-day departmental operations are entrusted
to individual department which is accountable for its own conduct and
performance and is required to operate its own department’s business within
the scope of the delegated authority and to implement and strictly adhere to the
strategies and policies set by the Company from time to time. Each department
is also required to keep the Board informed of material developments of the
department’s business and implementation of the policies and strategies set by
the Board on a regular basis. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide

reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems of the Group
to ensure that a sound system is maintained and operated by the management
in compliance with the agreed procedures and standards. The review covered all
material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions. In particular, the Board considered the adequacy of
the Company’s resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs
and related budgets for the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions. The review was made by discussions with the management of the
Company, its external and internal auditors and the assessment was conducted
by the Audit Committee. The Board believes that the existing internal control
system is adequate and effective, in particular, for financial reporting and Listing

Rules compliance.
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Process used to Review the Effectiveness of the Risk
Management and Internal Control Systems and to Resolve

Material Internal Control Deficiency

Risk assessment report and internal control review report are submitted to the
Audit Committee and the Board annually. For the year ended 31 December
2023, the Board together with the Audit Committee had performed a review
on the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control
system, including but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature and extent
of significant risks (including ESG risks) and the Company’s ability to respond
to changes in its business and the external environment; (ii) the scope and
quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of risks (including ESG risks)
and the internal control systems; (iii) the extent and frequency of reporting
the monitoring results to the Audit Committee and the Board, which enables
the Board to assess the internal control of Company and the effectiveness of
risk management; (iv) the significant control failures or weaknesses that have
been identified; and (v) the effectiveness of the Company’s financial reporting
procedure and compliance with Listing Rules. The Audit Committee and the
Board confirmed that the risk management and internal control systems were
effective and adequate for the year ended 31 December 2023. No significant
areas of concern that might affect the financial, operational and compliance
controls, and risk management functions of the Group were identified by the
Audit Committee and the Board. The scope of such review covers the adequacy
of resources, qualification and experience of staff performing the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting functions and their attitude to the internal
control of the Group. The Board will continue to work with the management
to discuss and follow up on the status of remediation of the internal control

weaknesses and to monitor the risks of the Group for the next few years.

INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Company takes seriously its obligations
under the new Part XIVA of the SFO and the Listing Rules. The Company has
adopted a continuous disclosure compliance policy which sets out guidelines
and procedures to the Directors and officers of the Group to ensure inside
information of the Group is to be disseminated to the public in an equal and
timely manner. Briefing session is held regularly for officers to facilitate their

understanding and compliance with the policy.
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SHAREHOLDERS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings by Shareholders

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The Board may whenever
it thinks fit call extraordinary general meetings. Pursuant to the Articles of
Association, general meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition
to the Board or the secretary of the Company of any one or more members of
the Company holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company. Such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may convene the general meeting in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of

the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting forward proposals at general meetings

To safeguard Shareholder’s interests and rights, separate resolutions will be
proposed at general meetings on each substantial issue, including the election of

individual Directors.

The procedures for Shareholder to propose a person for election as a Director are
available on the Company’s website (http://www.zhenrowy.com). Shareholders
may lodge written notice to the joint company secretaries of the Company at
40/F, Dah Sing Financial Centre, 248 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong, provided that the minimum length of the period, during which such
written notice is given, shall be at least seven (7) days and that the lodgment
of such notice shall commence no eatlier than the day after the dispatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than
seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting. The written notice
will be verified with the joint company secretaries of the Company and upon
their confirmation that the request is proper and in order, they will ask the
Nomination Committee and the Board to consider to include the resolution
in the agenda for the general meeting proposing such person to be elected as a

Director.

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association for the Shareholders
to put forward proposals at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to put
forward proposals may request the Company to convene an extraordinary general

meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in the above paragraph.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

Enquiries about the Company may be put to the Board by contacting the
Company or directly by raising the questions at an annual general meeting or
extraordinary general meeting. The contact details of the Company are set out in

the Company’s website (http://www.zhenrowy.com).

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to the

following:

8 TR A AR 75 2% [ PR T B 666 77 MR IE 28007
Building No. 7, Hongqiao Zhenro Center, Lane 666, Shenhong Road, Honggiao Business

Core District, Minhang District, Shanghai

ERAE -
Telephone:

EE AL -

E-mail address:

JBE HR IR 0] A AR N AR A s R R R R
i B s R S B R A BR A A (Hhhk B
AT R G RIE R 183 A AP L 17
1712-1716 9% fl) AR

Sl B A 0 B B 4 B

7 ) R BB SR S 2 S 5 R
I R e 45 T S 7 4 T S 5 R B L SR 1Y
TR o AN RO BRI AR R
A > U7 A RO A O e A R
KB o AE e BB R b R ()
FLACER (AN ) ) oI Bl s i v S (] R i
WA

45 7 L RO SRR - B A R
S0 W % I A AT A - B g
BRI L7 T (R A SR 2 B A
AAMER -

(+86) 21-61258655
(+86) 21-61258655

chenxy9@zhenro.com/mengnal@zhenro.com

chenxy9@zhenro.com/mengnal @zhenro.com

Shareholders may also direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the
Company's Hong Kong share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, whose address is Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investors” understanding of the
Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company endeavours to
maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, through
annual general meetings and other general meetings. At the forthcoming annual
general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) will be available to

meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication policy which
encourages all forms of communication and welcomes feedback, questions, or
concerns from Shareholders and aims to ensure that shareholders are provided

with timely access to the Company’s information.
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The policy sets out various channels to communicate with the Shareholders.
Shareholders may at any time make enquiries to the Board in writing or through
the Company’s website at http://www.zhenrowy.com or directly by raising

questions at general meetings.

Shareholders are also encouraged to participate in general meetings of the
Company. Sufficient notice of general meetings will be given to Shareholders in
accordance with the Articles of Association and applicable rules and regulations.
The chairman of the Board, the chairman of each board committee, management
of the Company and, if appropriate, the external auditors, will attend the

general meetings and answer questions raised by Shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, all the Directors attended the annual
general meeting on 16 June 2023 to communicate with Shareholders. All
corporate communications and regulatory announcements were published by
the Company on its website and the website of the Stock Exchange in a timely
manner. The Board had performed a review on the shareholders” communication
policy. In view of the above, the Board considers that the shareholders

communication policy was effective during the year ended 31 December 2023.

At the forthcoming annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as

appropriate) will be available to meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE MECHANISMS

The Company has in place existing practices and mechanisms to ensure the
independence of the Board. The Board reviews the implementation and

effectiveness on an annual basis.

The Board shall at all times comprise at least three independent non-executive
Directors that represent at least one-third of the Board, such that there is always
a strong element of independence on the Board which can effectively exercise
independent judgement. The Company has received annual confirmation
made by each of the independent non-executive Directors regarding their
independence. The Company considered that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent with reference to the factors set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee is responsible to assess
the independence and time commitment of each independent non-executive

Director at least annually.
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The independent non-executive Directors have actively participated in meetings
of the Board and board committees to provide independent opinions. When
performing their duties, they will make significant decisions after discussions
with senior management of the Company and on some occasions, with reference
to professional advice received from external agents at the Company’s expense
and upon reasonable request. The chairman of the Board will also hold meetings
with the independent non-executive Directors without the involvement of other

Directors at least annually to discuss any issues and concerns.

The Board has reviewed and considered that the aforementioned mechanisms
are effective in ensuring that independent views and input are provided to the
Board during the year ended 31 December 2023.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The existing amended and restated Memorandum and Articles of Association
(the “Existing Memorandum and Articles”) were approved and adopted by
special resolution at the annual general meeting held on 16 June 2023 in order
to (i) comply with the then requirements under the Listing Rules, including
the amendments to Appendix 3 (which has been renumbered to Appendix Al
with effect from 31 December 2023) to the Listing Rules which took effect
on 1 January 2022; (ii) reflect the prevailing requirements under applicable
laws of the Cayman Islands; and (iii) incorporate certain corresponding and
housekeeping amendments. It is available on the respective website of the Stock

Exchange and the Company.
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Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Zhenro Services Group Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhenro Services Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
108 to 235, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material

accounting policies information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
have been propetly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs") issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided

in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report,
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters
below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated

financial statements.
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Goodwill impairment assessment
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As at 31 December 2023, the goodwill of the Group
amounted to RMB538 million.
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Goodwill is tested for impairment annually. The
goodwill is allocated to various cash generating
units (“CGUs”). Management assessed impairment
of goodwill with the assistance of an independent
external valuer (the “External Valuer”) and
determined the recoverable amounts based on a
value-in-use (“VIU”) calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved
by management. The key assumptions considered
primarily include (i) annual revenue growth rate, (ii)
gross profit margin, (iii) terminal growth rate, and

(iv) discount rate.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters
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Our audit procedures to evaluate the impairment test carried out by

management and assess the value-in-use of the CGUs included:

(@)

(i)

(iii)

T8 AL A L L o B35 5 8 0 7R T e < R 4 D O £
{E 7735 R IHELR

involving internal valuation specialists to assist us in evaluating the
valuation methodologies and discount rates used for determining the

recoverable amounts;

2 B8 T FR AR BRI R R R AR B KR SE AR TR
B EARERE T _=Ft+ A=t HILFERRSE
FE A A I RS R B

examining the underlying data used, such as management’s projection
on the future revenues and operating results by checking the financial

performance of each CGU during the year ended 31 December 2023;

A DA % B AR LA A SE B B R AR SORTE AR TSR > LIRHE
KB e ELRAHERE
examining the business development plans and historical annual

growth of each CGU to evaluate the growth rate of each CGU;
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Key audit matters
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Goodwill impairment assessment (Continued)
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We focused on this area because of the complex
and subjective management estimation made by

management on the key assumptions.

FA B B B 7 5 A B IR I 5E2.4 ~ 3 %16 ©
Relevant disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3 and

16 to the consolidated financial statements.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

AP SNEB RS (EL AT 2 BT 0 ~ R B
Evaluated the competency, capabilities and objectivity of the External

Valuer;

A 2L ] (AT R UK BE AT > DA T RGN 5 2
SRR A K

Evaluated the sensitivity analysis performed by management on the
key assumptions to understand the impact of the reasonable changes

in assumptions on the recoverable amount; and

SR B A BB 5754 -
Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related to impairment

assessment of goodwill.
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Key audit matters
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Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
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As at 31 December 2023, the net carrying amount of

trade receivables of the Group was RMB310 million,

including the gross amount of RMB393 million and

the allowance for impairment of RMB83 million.
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We identified the recoverability assessment of
trade receivables as a key audit matter due to the
significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements and the significant judgement
exercised by management in estimating the expected
credit losses for trade receivables including, the
existence of disputes, historical payment records,
forward-looking factors and any other available
information that may impact the estimated expected

credit losses.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters
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Our audit procedures to assess the recoverability of trade receivables
included:

(@)

(i)

(iif)
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obtaining an understanding of how management assessed the expected
credit losses for trade receivables, and evaluating the key controls

relating to the monitoring of the recoverability of trade receivables;

AL R B T T Oy T R 2 (B R T E
B~ BT PE R KRR )

evaluating and testing the methodologies and data/parameters used by
management, including historical loss information, forward-looking

factors and the expected loss rate;

AT R - Ok B T E R M R R R I S e
WO IR R B i L 5
executing analytical review procedures by analysing the fluctuations of

significant outstanding balances and trade receivable turnover days;



TR ST A B

Independent Auditor’s Report

B S B ) KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
2272 3] T S TR AR g o o B o O
Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters
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Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables (Continued)

R PR B 8 A 5 6 A R B 53 B 20 (iv)
Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 20

to the consolidated financial statements.

)

(vi)

H BRARAEE S LU B G I B B o8 1 SO B ) IR MG Y
BEARAS S IE UL
testing, on a sampling basis, the subsequent settlement of trade

receivables to cash receipts and the related supporting documentation;

S HR 85 S CHUARR B S A 5 5 0 MR MG VR Bl (L
W= F == T =4 — HE S B UGIIRR IRESE T Al bR
B R

testing the ageing profile of trade receivables as at 31 December
2023 used in the calculation of the allowance for impairment of trade
receivables, on a sampling basis, to sales invoices and other relevant

documents; and

Al BEBRMBIRER L HERER TR -
assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in the financial

statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to

report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to

do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting

process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

U Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group’s internal control.

U Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

U Conclude on the appropriateness of directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or

conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

U Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

A Bl A B S R R AR
EMEIT )

REFFHZAGRENFHE Y > BFEEHA
MM MHERENELEREZNSEE |
1T A P S A 0L o S0 T A SR R 7% o
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FEREE > BEMGE OB T o faHE
SE T 4 Al v A S T A AR R
A I N AR 2 o B A DR E A B AE R
e I

R EL A S R BT o 1 A IR B S N S T
ek o

B g TR
i
TERCWEZA T AH

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be

expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s

report is Siu Fung Terence Ho.

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
28 March 2024
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HaBEEE
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

BEZZ- =+ A=+—HILEE

Year ended 31 December 2023

F&E ZRTER —E T

Notes 2023 2022

ARBTI ARWFIC

RMB 000 RMB 000

A REVENUE 5 1,145,503 1,141,293
Y A Cost of sales (900,831) (888,437)
EA GROSS PROFIT 244,672 252,856
HA A K s Other income and gains 5 15,840 33,040
FTELB Administrative expenses (145,770) (157,732)
G 7 W R 1R R AR Impairment losses on financial assets, net (99,884) (126,897)
[k STk Impairment of goodwill 16 - (228,849)
BEWEA T EEE Fair value losses on investment properties 15 (64,590) (63,600)
FEAG T A R A X BETE Share of profits and losses of associates (109) =
& A Finance costs 7 (6,755) (11,719)
BB Hil s 12 LOSS BEFORE TAX 6 (56,596) (302,901)
PR BiB 32 Income tax expense 10 (25,340) 22,152
N 7T LOSS FOR THE YEAR (81,936) (280,749)

PUN AN HEAS - Attributable to:
LEYNEIE ZEPN Owners of the parent (81,189) (281,326)
TS Non-controlling interests (747) 577
(81,936) (280,749)
AR R A AMENE  LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE ARBT AR #T
(=34 1 TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS RMB RMB
OF THE PARENT

B R g Basic and diluted 12 (0.08) 0.27)

LA dY
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B 4 T WA AR
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

WE-Z_=EFTA=T—HIEEE

Year ended 31 December 2023

TR B S
2023 2022
ARIEFIT ANRBTT
RMB000 RMB’000
ENEH LOSS FOR THE YEAR (81,936) (280,749)
oAbz (BH) /s OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME
AERARIHE B E Other comprehensive (loss)/income that will not be
R4 2 HAt 2 1 reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
(518) /Wit
AL BN F AR R B Translation difference of the financial statements of
R B W B B 2= group companies into presentation currency (23) 8
AR R Net other comprehensive (loss)/income that will
{Ras 2 Hofb 2 not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
(), W g v periods 23) 8
ENFHALA2TE (B18) W% 0  OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME
R BLE FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (23) 8
GAREN) iR TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR
THE YEAR (81,959) (280,741)
LR ARG Attributable to:
IS YNCIE: ZEPN Owners of the parent (81,212) (281,318)
P Bt 4 Non-controlling interests (747) 577
(81,959) (280,741)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

CERCEFETZA=ET—H
31 December 2023

Rt 5E e i - S
Notes 2023 2022
ANRHFor AR T
RMB’000 RMB000
FEEy NON-CURRENT ASSETS
EN G Property and equipment 13 5,716 5,926
o R Right-of-use assets 14(a) 1,761 4,382
Ei'a-CyES Investment properties 15 164,600 86,190
7 2 Goodwill 16 537,777 537,777
HAh e & = Other intangible assets 17 37,446 44,697
BSR4 E Investments in associates 18 1,071 1,180
EAERI I & Deferred tax assets 26 55,953 53,383
e By G A Al Total non-current assets 804,324 733,535
B CURRENT ASSETS
il L B R i R Finance lease receivables 19 - 35,880
B 5 REWCE I Trade receivables 20 309,747 282,667
JRE i R A ) 3K IR Due from related companies 30 45,441 110,004
FEATEIH ~ HABMEWCKIE Prepayments, other receivables and other assets
&Eﬁﬂ%ﬁ 21 108,060 127,836
& R ARAT 5 R Cash and bank balances 22 579,146 691,627
T A Total current assets 1,042,394 1,248,014
RER R CURRENT LIABILITIES
B 5 e A Trade payables 23 165,434 149,479
HARER IE&WE #2 M Other payables and accruals 24 427,701 417,958
Fﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ Due to related companies 30 2,439 2,040
B8R &/ﬁ\:ﬁﬂﬂr}\ Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 25 64,040 85,017
REE’TTJLHIE Tax payable 65,839 40,566
HEAR Lease liabilities 14(b) 3,121 69,412
B A B Total current liabilities 728,574 764,472
B A NET CURRENT ASSETS 313,820 483,542
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
—-=Ht-g=1—H
31 December 2023

F&E ZRER - S
Notes 2023 2022
ARBTI ARFIC
RMB'000 RMB 000
B KR TR B £ TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 1,118,144 1,217,077
FEE £ 5 NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
FTEERAT R At 3k Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 25 9,060 15,100
HEARE Lease liabilities 14(b) 899 2,976
IRICH A B & Deferred tax liabilities 26 12,279 18,596
FUAth FEAS FROH Other payables 24 7,364 11,114
FETiEh A (A Total non-current liabilities 29,602 47,786
FHEE NET ASSETS 1,088,542 1,169,291
oS EQUITY
(EYNEE T PN Y T Equity attributable to owners of the parent
A Share capital 27 7,867 7,867
bl Reserves 28 1,074,564 1,155,776
1,082,431 1,163,643
e Non-controlling interests 6,111 5,648
HRERS TOTAL EQUITY 1,088,542 1,169,291
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

WE-F =t A=

+—H LR

Year ended 31 December 2023

BEAT A AR

Attributable to owners of the parent

L - 4
CHRARR Rt AR A0 BEGE WBGE KRN

Issued

Share

capital  premium*

ARHTT NRBTT ARRTT ARBTE ARKTT ARKTT ARHTT ARKTT ARHTE ARKTI

Capital
reserve”

Merger
reserve”

Statutory

Exchange

surplus  fluctuation

reserves*

reserves®

Retained
profits*

it RS R
Non-
controlling

Total interests Total equity

RIB "000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RIfB 000 RMBOGO — RMBUOO  RMBUOG)  RMBUOO  RMBUOO
Wity Wibsw Wi Mibso  Miso
Note27 Note28(a) Note 28(b) Note 28(c)  Note 28(d)
i s At January 2022 1867 LOGLS6A 2115 (o) 43012 (1569 452679 LASLM0 22060 1473301
E R Los for the year - - - - - - (81320 (281326 ST (280,749)
LENIESTTION QOther comprehensive income
‘ for the year
BEB RN 2R Exchange differences on
translation of the financial
statement - - - - - 8 = § = g
ERATEREH Total comprehensive loss for
the year = = = = = 8 (281320 (281318) ST (280,741)
R ATRE Dividends paid to non-

: controlling shareholders = = = = = = = = (1,750) (1,750)
ﬁ?)\ﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁ% Transfer to stacutory surplus funds = = = = 8,011 = (8,011) = = =
kR Acquisition of non-controlling

ingerets - - 6 - - - - 619 (150 (Q1519)
REBZZEFZA=4—H  Ac31 December 2022 T8 LOBLSGE (4004 d0d88)  SLOZZ (56D 163342 LIS 568 L1691
it :Z::*ffiﬂ ZF=H  At31 December 2022 and |
e i g Jonuary 2023 1867 1061564 (4004 (0488 5103 (566D 163342 LIS 568 116991
R Loss fr he year - - - - - - BLIY)  BLIS (4 (81936
FRibrmER Other comprehensive loss
‘ for the year
BRBHREE MBS AR Exchange diferences on
translation of the financial
statement - - - - = (23) = (23) = 23)
ERAHERLS Total comprehensive loss for
the year = = = = - 23 (BL189)  (81.212) (747)  (81959)
ﬁ%mﬁ%ﬁﬁ%i@% Transfer to statutory surplus funds - - - - 3,666 - (3,660 - - -
HERER TS Capital injection from non-
controlling interests - - - - - - - - 1,210 1,210
REZZZEFZAZF—H  At31 December 2023 7867 1,061,564 (4004 (40488) 54089  (75,084) 78487 1082431 6,111 1,088,542
* MR-FZ=F+ A=+ —HM&E A MBR N . .
. o A These reserve accounts comprise the total consolidated reserves of RMB1,074,564,000 (2022:
i %K o BE ﬁ{ﬁ?ﬁjﬁ ?‘%@f?ﬁ%é@ BA RMBI,155,776,000) in the consolidated statements of financial position as at 31 December
R#1,074,564,0007C (“F =4 - ARW —_

1,155,776,0007C) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BE-Z-=F+-H=1—HIHEE

Year ended 31 December 2023

i e i —E T
Notes 2023 2022
NRWFIT ANR¥ T
RMB’000 RMB000
FS ST B Rt CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
BRBL AR Loss before tax (56,596) (302,901)
I Adjustments for:
AT AN T B Finance costs, net 7 6,755 11,719
FE A Interest income 5 (1,611) (2,264)
S 2 R s Share of loss of an associate 18 109 =
BEWENTEER Fair value losses on investment properties 15 64,590 63,600
L EN G EiE Depreciation of property and equipment 6,13 2,528 5,201
i ARG e Depreciation of right-of-use assets 6,14(a) 3,870 3,552
HoA T & 5 Amortisation of other intangible assets 6,17 7,242 7,157
F%ﬂ 5 R i T el Impairment of finance lease receivables 6 (2,166) (766)
& 5 MENS K T W Impairment of trade receivables 6,20 42,312 16,850
JRE ST R B8 R S TR Impairment of due from related companies 6,30 59,239 108,836
oAt BRSO ok (B Impairment of other receivables 6,21 499 1,977
T Impairment of goodwill 6,16 - 228,849
126,771 141,810
& 5 RS IE ($8m) / (Increase)/decrease in trade receivables
% (69,392) 10,843
Jfﬁﬁ/r)\ ~ HAREIRGIE  Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, other
T HoAh 7 334 receivables and other assets
Wb /(s 19,277 (72,389)
JREE W BT ) e T / Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from
() related companies 5,324 (12,114)
JREAST BT 2 ) 2k SEL R / Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to
(D) related companies 603 (490)
G 5 MEAT 2K JE R T / Increase/(decrease) in trade payables
(32) 15,955 (51,230)
HAEA SIA LR EH  Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals
#m,/ (8) 5,993 (44,472)
IR s Decrease in pledged deposits 1,089 1,720
Z Rl 5 4 s / Ha Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash 2,815 (3,640)
Pl B PR BRI I Decrease in finance lease receivable 38,046 64,453

M‘
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HaBlaiag

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
WS —A =R L6

Year ended 31 December 2023

M TR —EFE
Notes 2023 2022
ARHTIT AR T
RMB’000 RMB'000
R RBle Cash generated from operations 146,481 34,491
EUFILE Interest received 1,611 2,264
EAFLE Interest paid (3,799) (5,659)
A BiIA Tax paid (8,954) (28,274)
RT3 Bl B Net cash flows from operating activities
i 135,339 2,822
REFEHHHABIEHRE  CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
R R T i i T E Purchases of items of property and equipment 13 (2,423) (4,012)
Y2 Nk i TE Proceeds from disposal of items of
Ji 308 property and equipment 105 260
B A & Additions to other intangible assets 17 (546) 4)
&K & Proceeds from disposal of other
Ji 5308 intangible assets 555 124
FEEBUEYE Purchases of investment properties 15 (143,000)
5 B 8 ) Disposal of a subsidiary — (4,551)
NBE AR E Investment in an associates - (200)
BT B i B 4 Net cash flows used in investing activities
i (145,309) (8,383)
REHEBHABIERE  CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
) [ B > ) K Repayment to related companies (204) -
AT New bank loans 106,526 89,957
fE R ERAT S HoAth B3k Repayment of bank and other loans (133,543) (107,939)
1) B 2 ) FF B TR Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders
AR of a subsidiary = (1,750)
R S Capital injection from non-controlling interests 1,210 -
A B 2 SR A Acquisition of non-controlling interests - (21,519)
FE 2K (SHEBFE) Lease payments including related interests (72,573) (5,019)
A TEE) T Bl Net cash flows used in financing activities
e ges (98,584) (46,270)
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HaBlaiag

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
BE_Z-=#+-"A=+—HILEE

Year ended 31 December 2023

it &E R = - St
Note 2023 2022
AREFI ANRBTIL
RMB 000 RMB 000
B4 R BL& 5 EY NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH
WA FH EQUIVALENTS (108,554) (51,831)
FERBLE KRS EY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 685,091 736,914
e 2 S ) 50 2 A Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net (23) 8
ERBIE R B EE Y CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF YEAR 576,514 685,091
B4 R BE 5 EY ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
ol i AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bl RARAT & R Cash and bank balances 22 579,146 691,627
R % K Less: Pledged deposits 1,807 2,896
2 PR B4 Restricted cash 825 3,640
Blam e RN Bla K& CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS
Bl&%EY STATED IN THE STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS 576,514 685,091
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Notes to Financial Statements
—E-=FE+-H=1+—H
31 December 2023

1.

S RS M YR

ARA/R—F—-N\NFE+A+LHE#E
2 S ek ML R N o AL
R FE S BE (74 190 Elgin Avenue,
George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-9008,

Cayman Islands °

AN Y B A ) R A A R LA
B ([ 1),/ o s g o 2 A 0 O
YRR MY GBS - EEE
{EL AR B ~ A D 39 (B AR5~ i S T
R o

ARARHR—F_FELATH (L
H ) R A S5 BT A R A
(TH 2R ) ML -

A5 P 24 0 B Y
A A EBIIEA A E -

4

Name

HiH
Directly held:

Future Prosperity Holdings Limited
([ Fucure Prosperity (BVI)J J

Future Prosperity Holdings Limited
(“Future Prosperity (BVI)")

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 17 December 2018. The registered office address of the
Company is 190 Elgin Avenue, George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-

9008, Cayman Islands.

The Company’s subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of
property management services, value-added services to non-property
owners, community value-added services for residential and non-

residential properties, commercial operational management services in the

People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)/Chinese Mainland.

The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 10

July 2020 (the “Listing Date”).

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

AL/ ot

WER A CEmEER / AR
DREEES kA RERAE  FERH
Place and date Nominal value

of incorporation/ of issued Percentage of
establishment ordinary/ equity

and place of registered attributable to  Principal
operations share capital the Company  activities
SRS LOOOETE 100%  BRER
([ERARREE )/

“F-MF-AZAZH

British Vitgin USD1,000 100%  Investment holding
Islands (‘BVI")/

22 January 2018
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Notes to Financial Statements
—E—=gt-A=+—H
31 December 2023

1.

2] BAEBE B )
A BA K A 7 BB (4

o

Name

EHH (8
Directly held: (Continued)

TR EARA (ERRE )

Zhenro Services China Limited
(“Zhenro Services (BVI)")

A -
Indirectly held:

Future Prosperity (HK) Limited
([ Future Prosperity (HK))

Future Prosperity (HK) Limited
(*Future Prosperity (HK)")

EXRBAREARAT (EXRHEE)

Zhenro Services Hong Kong Limited
(“Zhento Services (HK)")

TN (o A R A
(M)«

Fuzhou Huihua Corporate
Management Consultancy
Co., Ltd. (‘Fuzhou Huihua")*

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

ABE /B
LEVGE]
UREEDS
Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
and place of

operations

LEATTHE/
AR AR
BVI/

19 December 2018

Fit/
“Z-NFZAZTH
Hong Kong/

20 February 2018

174
“F-NEFZAZFIA
Hong Kong/

24 December 2018

i ARAHE
(TeER) /sl /
AR
Peaple’s Republic

of China (‘PRC’)

Chinese Mainland/

31 January 2019

eRrER /
AR

Nominal value
of issued
ordinary/

registered

share capital

11

USD1

16T

HK$1

NRH1,000,000,000 7

RMB1,000,000,000

KA
g T

Percentage of

equity
attributable to
the Company

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

R

Principal

activities

RER

Investment holding

BRER

Investment holding

Bk

Investment holding

BRER

Investment holding
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Notes to Financial Statements

SEC=FE+H=1+—H

31 December 2023

1. 2 REEER @ 1.
A BA K A 7 W& R (4

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

»

AL,/ ok
WERAH BRfrER / KATES
a4 DREEHY kA RERE  TERH
Place and date Nominal value
of incorporation/ of issued Percentage of
establishment ordinary/ equity
and place of registered attributable to  Principal
Name operations share capital the Company  activities
kA - ()
Indirectly held: (Continued)
BREREREARAT 8/ B/ NRHEL052,640,000 70 0% HEER
“E-CEZAAR
Fujian Zhenro Property Setvice Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB1,052,640,000 100%  Property management
8 March 2013
ERMERBARAR R/ B,/ NBH50,000,0007C 007 HEER
(TS stk ) “EETECACH
Zhenro Property Services Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB50,000,000 100%  Property management
(“Zhento Property Services”) 2 February 2000
FHERDEERARAT H /HER,/ NRH 10000007 00 HEER
“E-FEAATLR
Fuzhou Zhenro Property Management Co., Led. PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB1,000,000 100%  Property management
17 September 2010
BRR LR A RAA R/ R/ AR 000,0007C 519 PEEH
E-NERA=HH
Hubei Changfang Zhento PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB3,000,000 51%  Property management
Property Services Co., Led. 30 July 2018
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Notes to Financial Statements

—E-=f+—A=+—H

31 December 2023

1. A REEER » 1.
A BA K A 7 BB (4

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

AEfBRL / Bt
LEVGE CEiEER/ AN
4 NREEES AR A RiErl  EEEH
Place and date Nominal value
of incorporation/ of issued Percentage of
establishment ordinary/ equity
and place of registered attributable to  Principal
Name operations share capital the Company  activities
kR : (4
Indirectly held: (Concinued)
ERLERBHRAR TR/ R/ NRH50,000,0007C 100% HEER
(IR NIEE R ERARAR) “FEFZACH
Zhenro Enterprise Service Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB50,000,000 100%  Property management
(formerly known as “Jiangsu 21 February 2001
Aitao Property Management Co,, Ltd.”)
RYTEARAEREARAA E /B B 5,000,007 100 HEER
(MR RY TR RIEREARAR ) “Z-NEZARH
Changsha Zhengwu Commercial PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMBS$,000,000 100%  Property management
Enterprise Property Service Co., Lid. 6 March 2018
(formerly known as “Changsha Aitao
Property Services Co., Led.")
THERENEERARALLA 0l / AR/ R H11,0000007C 100% WEEE
(NLEkERA ) “Z%-F—AlA
Jiangsu Sutie Property Management PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB11,000,000 100%  Property management
Co., Led. (‘Jiangsu Sutie) 4 January 2001
RSB RRAT /B NRHE50,000,0007C 00 HEER
s SR
Zhenro Property Management Services Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB50,000,000 100%  Property management
24 April 2019
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Notes to Financial Statements

CERCEEFZA=ET—H
31 December 2023

1. v REEER @
A BA KL A 7 W& R (4

4

Name

kR - ()
Indirectly held: (Coneinued)

ERERETRIARAT

Shanghai Zhengzhi Electronic

Commerce Co., Ltd.

R E AR

Zhenro Rongxiang Property
Management Co., Led.

HME AR

Xiamen Zhenro Property
Management Co., Led.

FMEREL ARG ARAA

Fuzhou High Tech Zone Zhenro

Property Service Co., Led.

ERFEERARAT

Zhenro Business Management Co., Ltd.

HEREAE AR

Shanghai Rongjue Apartment
Management Co., Led.

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

AEMbBE /Bt
LY
PR
Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
and place of

operations

/PRl
“EZFEARTZA
PRC/Chinese Mainland/
12 August 2020

/R
BRI
PRC/Chinese Mainland/
12 October 2020

ol /s, /
“ECEERATR
PRC/Chinese Mainland/
17 June 2020

E /s
“E—HERCANE
PRC/Chinese Mainland/

24 March 2021

HE /B
“F--EXRETH
PRC/Chinese Mainland/
30 June 2021

il / PR,/
“E-EAAZTEH
PRC/Chinese Mainland/

23 August 2021
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BRfrER/
Al S

Nominal value
of issued
ordinary/

registered

share capital

NB20,000,00078

RMB20,000,000

N 8100,000,0007C

RMB100,000,000

AR H1,000,0007C

RMB1,000,000

612,044 90078

RMB612,244,900

B 850,505,000

RMB50,505,000

AR H1,000,0007C

RMB1,000,000

KATES
RER 2

Percentage of
equity
attributable to
the Company

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

FEEH

Principal

activities

FiERD

Commercial trading

ES

Property management

ESE

Property management

WEER

Property management

ES

Property management

ESE

Property management
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Notes to Financial Statements
—E—=gt-A=+—H
31 December 2023

1 A RAEEER ) 1.  CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Concinued)
A e N ) BB R (4 Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
AkARaL / Bt
WERAH CEmEER / AN
4 DREEES AERA Y RERAE  FERH
Place and date Nominal value
of incorporation/ of issued Percentage of
establishment ordinary/ equity
and place of registered attributable to  Principal
Name operations share capital the Company  activities

bR (8
Indirectly held: (Coneinued)

BRI AR /B / NRH1,0000007C 0% WEEHR
¢ S 3 e
Hubei Rongshi Property Service Co., Led. PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB1,000,000 100%  Property management
21 October 2021
AR TR/ R/ NRH 10000007 100% ik
ZEC-RRATIA
Shanghai Rongzun Business PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB,000,000 100%  Business consulting
Consulting Co., Led. 14 May 2021
LR RA E /B NBH1,000,000 70 100% A3
B S5y ol
Shanghai Rongcong Business PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB1,000,000 100%  Business consulting
Consulting Co., Led. 20 May 2021
HEEHEMBARAR E /eI NRH8,0000007C w00% KA
ZFZFLAZYR
Shanghai Rongkehui Technology Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB8,000,000 100%  Technical services
20 July 2021
R RENRBARA TR/ R/ ARHELs 0000007 1007 Kbk
“RERAZEER
Shanghai Rongzhijia Decotation Co., Led. PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB15,000,000 100%  Decoration
23 June 2021
5 () R RARAR E /B N H10,000,0007C 007 HEER
“RZ-ERRETR
Zhento (Putian) Commercial PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB10,000,000 100%  Commercial management
Management Co., Led. 30 June 2021
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1.

S ] B AR MR )
A1 B PO o~ W) R R (o

4

Name

Rl ()
Indirectly held: (Concinued)

FMT R AT R AR AR

Fuzhou Mawei Zhenro Commercial

Management Co., Led.

HALATEE AR

Nanjing Zhenro Commercial

Management Co., Led.
ERARTEE AR

Zhenro Neighborhood Commercial
Management Co., Led.

ERRRIREMAR AT

Zhento Taixing Commercial

Management Co., Led.
W& ERHEERARAA

Xi'an Zhenro Commetcial

Management Co., Led.
HRERHEEAREARAR

Shanghai Zhento Commercial

Management Co., Led.

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

AEMbBE /Bt
WH KA
UREER
Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
and place of

operations

/s
“R_-ERAZTR
PRC/Chinese Mainland/
30 June 2021

/s
“R_-ERAZTR
PRC/Chinese Mainland/
30 June 2021

/s
“R_-ERAZTR
PRC/Chinese Mainland/
30 June 2021

el / PR/
& A
PRC/Chinese Mainland/
30 June 2021

/s
“RC-ERAZTH
PRC/Chinese Mainland/
30 June 2021

/s
“R_-ERAZTA
PRC/Chinese Mainland/
30 June 2021

BRfrER/
Al ST

Nominal value
of issued
ordinary/

registered

share capital

NEH1,000,0007C

RMB1,000,000

NEH1.000,0007C

RMB1,000,000

50,000,000

RMB50,000,000

AR H1,000,0007C

RMB1,000,000

NE81,000,0007

RMBI,000,000

NEH1.000,0007C

RMB1,000,000

KATES
R

Percentage of
equity

attributable to
the Company

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

FEEH

Principal

activities

HEEH

Commercial management

HEEH

Commercial management

HEEH

Commercial management

HiEER

Commercial management

FiEEH

Commercial management

HEEH

Commercial management
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

AkARaL / Bt
WERAH CEmEER / AN
4 DREEES Al S RERAE  FERH
Place and date Nominal value
of incorporation/ of issued Percentage of
establishment ordinary/ equity
and place of registered attributable to  Principal
Name operations share capital the Company  activities
kA - ()
Indirectly held: (Coneinued)
FMEEMEERERAA il /L ARH1,000,0007C 100% HEEH
“E-ERAETR
Fuzhou Zhenro Commercial PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB1,000,000 100%  Commecial management
Management Co., Ltd. 30 June 2021
HEF MR AR ERIARA TR/ R/ R K5 0000007 s WEER
“RCERRTER
Nanchang Qingshanhu District PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB3,000,000 51%  Property management
Zhenro Chengdong Property Services Co., Ltd. 13 June 2022
I EEERSARAT E /B M5 00000070 s WEER
“RZZECATER
Jiangxi Zhengyun Property PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB3,000,000 51%  Property management
Services Co., Ltd. 17 February 2022
& R AR A hE /hE i/ ARHES 000,000 S WEem
“RCETACHRA
Putian Zhengxin City Services Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB3,000,000 51%  Property management
25 February 2022
HEEASEERIARAA TR/ R/ NRH 10000007 s WEER
e St o
Nanchang Zhenro Qingyun PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB,000,000 51%  Property management
Property Setvices Co., Ltd, 7 February 2023
HERRMEERARAR E /B M5 00000070 007 HEER
ZRZZETZARA
Nanchang Rongzhi Property PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB3,000,000 100%  Property management
Management Co., Led. 4 December 2023
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1. v REEER @ 1.
A BA KL A 7 W& R (4

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Ak / Bt
WERAH CEMEER / AR
a4 DREEEH AR RERME  FERE
Place and date Nominal value
of incorporation/ of issued Percentage of
establishment ordinary/ equity
and place of registered attributable to  Principal
Name operations share capital the Company  activities
kR : ()
Indirectly held: (Concinued)
B EEEERARAR E /B NRHs 0000007 s YEER
“RZEELAT-H
Hubei Zhengmei Property PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB,000,000 51%  Property management
Management Co., Led. 11 May 2023
BN EZR LR ARA /R AR 10,000,007 1007 HEER
e e et o
Suzhou Zhengxiang Ronggi Property PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB10,000,000 100%  Property management
Management Co., Led. 25 December 2023
HERMEERARAR E /B M5 000,000 007 HEER
e 2 iR |
Nanchang Rongbai Property PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB3,000,000 100%  Property management
Management Co., Led. 7 December 2023
HEEEERARAR H /el / NRHs 00000072 0% HEER
B e 2 i |
Nanchang Zhengwu Property PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB3,000,000 100%  Property management
Management Co., Led. 7 December 2023
SN ESRE R ARAR /R, NEHL,0000007 00z HEES
ZECEEFCACTCH
Suzhou Xingirui e-commece Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB1,000,000 100%  Commercial trading
22 December 2023
* 0| B AR B P R e B A A A P < Fuzhou Huihua is registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law.

*o
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

The Group's subsidiaries registered in the PRC are all limited liability

companies.

The English names of all group companies registered in the PRC
represent the best efforts made by the management of the Company to
directly translate the Chinese names of these companies as they have not

registered any official English names.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) promulgated
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for investment properties which have been measured at
fair value. These financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except

when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant

activities of the investee).
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2.

126 1E48 M 4 B A B 7] Zhenro Services Group Limited

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power

over an investee, including:

(a)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of

the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to

be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full

on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control described above. A change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is

accounted for as an equity transaction.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the
fair value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the

related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs for

the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

IERS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to IAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies

IFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting

Estimates
Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction
Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax
Reform — Pillar

Two Model Rules
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2.

128 EZ M 4B A B A 7] Zhenro Services Group Limited

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The nature and the impact of the new and revised IFRSs that are

applicable to the Group are described below:

(a)

(b)

Amendments to IAS 1 require entities to disclose their
material accounting policy information rather than
their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements.
Amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements provide non-mandatory guidance
on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures. The Group has disclosed the material
accounting policy information in note 2.4 to the financial
statements. The amendments did not have any impact on
the measurement, recognition or presentation of any items

in the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates. Since the Group’s approach and policy
align with the amendments, the amendments had no impact

on the Group's financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(©)

(d)

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related ro Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow
the scope of the initial recognition exception in IAS 12 so
that it no longer applies to transactions that give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, such
as leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore,
entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
(provided that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising from
these transactions. The Group has not applied the initial
recognition exception and recognised deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities respectively for all transactions
fallen within the scope of the amendments in prior years,
the amendments had no impact on the Group's financial

statements.

Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory temporary
exception from the recognition and disclosure of deferred
taxes arising from the implementation of the Pillar Two
model rules published by the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development. The amendments also
introduce disclosure requirements for the affected entities
to help users of the financial statements better understand
the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income taxes, including
the disclosure of current tax related to Pillar Two income
taxes separately in the periods when Pillar Two legislation is
effective and the disclosure of known or reasonably estimable
information of their exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in
periods in which the legislation is enacted or substantively
enacted but not yet in effect. The Group has applied the
amendments retrospectively. Since the Group did not
fall within the scope of the Pillar Two model rules, the

amendments did not have any impact to the Group.

£ Annual Report 2023 129




B 5 A B

Notes to Financial Statements

B

.=

A= t—H

31 December 2023

2.

HalBOR )

2.3

CL AR A EL o AR 2 00 I i
B Rl

(S SULES Rt e
AR AR L R A 2 0 AT
P B 5 4 S 0 o A S I %
24 1 T R R T 2 U
FI) A2 S B <

BRSBTS  REFAREE
BRI 1098 RAHEE
KBl erst LEMYEE
2 0858 HERHE
(BT A)

B PR A B S R R A A Y
Fi6% (BiTA) HEAR

B e AR
B (BITA)  ABLFAH

([ZFZFF
BTk

B EEHE WA

F19 (BATA)  FRBEE
([ZFZZ4F
g

B EsHER  ARHEE L
7 R
B )

F79% (BT A)

B E R S A

F9% (B4

! RZFZPFE—H— H B Z K
i 2 A BE R AR

: REZFZRAFE—H— HBHZKHM
U 2 A7 BT AR

? R A 2 e R
A

i BB =F ZREETAM F

TAEBRTA > MR S A
WRI I — HHNB GG e

BTN E IR SRR
TAERT o L AT HE B 78 O 5 —
2o A AL

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

130 IEZEM % 4E B A PR A F Zhenro Services Group Limited

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised IFRSs that have
been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.
The Group intends to apply these revised IFRSs, if applicable,

when they become effective.

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and TAS 28 between an Investor to

its Associate or Joint Venture’

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

(the “2020 Amendments”)"*

Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the “2022

Amendments”)"’

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7 Supplier Finance
and IFRS 7 Arrangements'
Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability”

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

’ No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments,
International Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause was revised to align the corresponding wording with no

change in conclusion
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be

applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction
when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business. For
a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business,
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the
investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s
interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to
be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date
of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the IASB.

However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-
lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and
leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise
any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it
retains. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to
sale and leaseback transactions entered into after the date of initial
application of IFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any

significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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132 IEA M # 4B A A 7] Zhenro Services Group Limited

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right
to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as
an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those
with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date
affect the classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current liabilities
that are subject to the entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period. The amendments
shall be applied retrospectively with early application permitted.
An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to
apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments and
whether existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected to have

any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure
of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the
amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements in
understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an
entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier
application of the amendments is permitted. The amendments
provide certain transition reliefs regarding comparative
information, quantitative information as at the beginning of the
annual reporting period and interim disclosures. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s

financial statements.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

24

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to TAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether
a currency is exchangeable into another currency and how it
shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures
of information that enable users of financial statements to
understand the impact of a currency not being exchangeable.
Earlier application is permitted. When applying the amendments,
an entity cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised
as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or to
the cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated in
a separate component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of
initial application. The amendments are not expected to have any

significant impact on the Group'’s financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it has significant influence. Significant influence
is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over

those policies.

The Group's investment in an associate is stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group’s share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.
Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting

policies that may exist.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Investments in associates (Continued)

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its
associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investment
in the associate, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of associates is included as part of the Group’s

investment in an associate.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale,
it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets

Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether
to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as

incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the

ability to create outputs.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host

contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value

and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in

profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of

units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment

loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-

generating unit retained.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for
the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the
most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their

economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by
using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best

use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and

minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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138 IEARMRHEEA R AF Zhenro Services Group Limited

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level

input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active

markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly

or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of

year.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for non-financial asset required (other
than deferred tax assets and investment properties), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building)
is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the

smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the

function of the impaired asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of year as to whether there is an
indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists,
the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only
if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss
is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless
the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal
of the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the

relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s

family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)  is a member of the key management personnel of the

Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

A party is considered to be related to the Group if: (Continued)

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions

applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same

group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the

other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);

and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to

the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property and equipment and depreciation

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. When an item of property
and equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a
disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and
is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5. The cost of an item
of property and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working

condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific

useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property and equipment over its estimated

useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as

follows:

Machinery 10%
Electronic equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
Leasehold improvements 33%

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and

adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)
Property and equipment and depreciation (Continued)

An item of property and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net

sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties include car park spaces held to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation and leased commercial
properties which are being recognised as right-of-use assets
and subleased by the Group under operating leases. Investment
properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end of

the reporting period.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. A leased
property which is recognised as a right-of-use asset is derecognised
if the Group as intermediate lessor classifies the sublease as a
finance lease. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit

or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in profit or loss in the year in which they
arise. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the year of

the retirement or disposal.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Other intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The useful lives of other intangible assets
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Other intangible
assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is
an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for other
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each

financial year end.

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment loss and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of

5 years.

Customer relationship

Customer relationship acquired in business combinations
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Customer
relationship has a finite useful life and is stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the
straight-line method over the expected useful lives, taking into
account the prior experience of the renewal pattern of property

management contracts, which is 10 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a

period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the

underlying assets.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

()

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the

estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Office buildings 3 to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the

estimated useful life of the asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exetcising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the payment

occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g. a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the

underlying asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of buildings and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of office
equipment and laptop computers that are considered to be of
low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-

line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an

operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms and is included in other income in profit or loss. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.
Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which

they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee

are accounted for as finance leases.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Group as a lessor (Continued)

At the commencement date, the cost of the leased asset is
capitalised at the present value of the lease payments and related
payments (including the initial direct costs), and presented as a
receivable at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease.
The finance income on the net investment in the lease is recognised
in the statement of profit or loss so as to provide a constant periodic

rate of return over the lease terms.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is classified as
a finance lease or operating lease with reference to the right-of-use
asset arising from the head lease. If the head lease is a short-term
lease to which the Group applies the on-balance sheet recognition

exemption, the Group classifies the sublease as an operating lease.

Rental income derived from the Group’s sublease services is
presented as revenue and rental income derived from leasing of car

park spaces is presented as other income.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components,
the Group applies IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” (“IFRS 157) to allocate consideration in a contract
to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease components are
separated from lease component on the basis of their relative stand-

alone selling prices.



485 e i

Notes to Financial Statements

CERCEEFZA=ET—H
31 December 2023

2.

T EHBOR )
2.4 HEEFEOR 4)

M ST B (R BROM) (1)
A I B

W] A8 ] A 94 4 T AR AR 8 R
B e R o SR A BR HA P 42 24
FERHE o BASHERRAFHE
7 H B 8 B AR 2 2 RO 3R
SMHE R -

HELH

BRI 2 S ek SR — ko)
MR A AR - IR
BB G TR
SRMOHEEE -

AR R EHEN L A B
HUER AR AR E - I H
A I I L A £ LA B
FEL B o 3K 0 AL B 0 9 20 AL 8

ESd
oA °

BB R

DT R

R R B
e AR B <

AV R TERE I - <5 0 2 I R
A 4 T E ) A A B R AR
AR S B T S 4 T I SE A
Ao iRt R R B 4
CHE M AT AT 7 i (AT
KR o ) 1 ) e K
WA > LB N (i
T E N JF NP R AR 4R ) 7
25 A M E o
KRB O B 4R B E R AT AT
HL 77 5 0 B 5 BE G OARBR T XX
[ O TR BT 960 A O 422 10 % ot
Bt JI 5 1 s SR R I X 5
e RHE o

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under IFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments from

lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part
of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease
modifications, including lease incentives provided through

forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease

as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently

measured at amortised cost.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set

out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the

business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets,
or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised
cost are held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at fair

value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within a time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date,

i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their

classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is

derecognised, modified or impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial

position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired,;
or
J the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,

but has transferred control of the asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the

Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration

that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual

terms.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL). The Group considers that there has been
a significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments are

more than 90 days past due.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking

information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable

expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which

apply the simplified approach as detailed below.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Stage 1 —

Stage 2 —

Stage 3 —

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance is

measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured at

an amount equal to lifecime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade and note receivables that do not contain a significant

financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach

in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group

does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a

loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.

The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on

its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking

factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans

and borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly

attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
amounts due to related companies and interest-bearing bank and

other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on

their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as

well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation

is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the

liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit

or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (Continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if, and
only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net

basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of

meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash

management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the

amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be
reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when
the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a
provision is presented in the statement of profit or loss net of any

reimbursement.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Provisions (Continued)

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of year of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the

passage of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside
profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in

equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of year, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which

the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of year between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial

reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences, except:

U when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business consolidation and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal

taxable and deductible temporary differences; and
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

U in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and an associate, when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward

of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

U when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
consolidation and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary

differences; and

U in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and an associate, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the

temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of year and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax
assets are reassessed at the end of year and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be

recovered.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting year.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected

to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to

compensate, are CXPCHSCd.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be

entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the

variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing

component, using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.

(a)  Property management services
For property management services, the Group bills a fixed
amount for services provided on a monthly or quarterly basis
and recognises as revenue in the amount to which the Group
has a right to invoice and that corresponds directly with the

value of performance completed.

The Group charged property management fees in respect of
the property management services on a lump sum basis and

on a commission basis.

For property management services income from properties
managed on a lump sum basis, where the Group acts as
principal and is primarily responsible for providing the
property management services to the property owners,
the Group recognises the fees received or receivable from
property owners as its revenue and all related property

management costs as its cost of services.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Property management services (Continued)

For property management services income from properties
managed on a commission basis, the Group recognises the
revenue, which is calculated by a certain percentage of the
total property management fees received or receivable from
the property units on behalf of the property owners, for
arranging and monitoring the services as provided by other

suppliers to the property owners.

Value-added services to non-property owners

Value-added services to non-property owners include
sales assistance services, additional tailored services, sales
of goods, housing repair services, pre-delivery inspection
services to property developers, preliminary planning and

design consultancy services.

Revenue from value-added services to non-property owners
including sales assistance services, additional tailored
services customised, housing repair services, and pre-delivery
inspection services to property developers, which are billed
on a monthly or quarterly basis and are recognised as revenue

over time when the relevant services are rendered.

Revenue from preliminary planning and design consultancy
services is recognised at the point in time when such services
are rendered and accepted by the customer. Revenue from
sales of goods is recognised when the goods have been

delivered.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(©)

(d)

Community value-added services
Community value-added services include home-living
services, car park management, rental assistance and other

services, and common area value-added services.

Revenue from home-living services is recognised when the
relevant services are rendered. Payment of the transaction is
due immediately when the community value-added services

are rendered.

Revenue from car park management, leasing assistance and
other services, and common area value-added services is
recognised when the related services are rendered and the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits

provided by the Group.

Brand and management output services
Brand management output services are provided to property
owners and include consultancy services and tenant sourcing

services.

Consultancy services include market positioning, business
planning consultancy services and design and construction
consultancy services, which are billed on a monthly basis
and are recognised as revenue over time when the relevant

services are rendered.

For tenant sourcing services, the Group charges a pre-agreed
amount in respect of each lease agreement entered and the
revenue is recognized at a point in time when a tenant enters

into a lease agreement with the property owner.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from other sources

Rental income derived from leasing of car park spaces is recognised
on a time proportion basis over the lease terms. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised

as income in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net

carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the

Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to

the customer).
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property
and equipment and other intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil
a contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the

following criteria are met:

(@)  The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated

contract that the entity can specifically identify;

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that
will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)

petformance obligations in the future;

()  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the
statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which

the asset relates. Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.

Employee benefits
Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Chinese
Mainland are required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. The subsidiaries
operating in Chinese Mainland are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable

in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Interim dividends are
simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association grant the directors the
authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they are

proposed and declared.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)
Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB. Each entity
in the Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of

exchange ruling at the end of the reporting year.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss. These are recognised in
other comprehensive income (“OCIL”) until the net investment is
disposed of, at which time the cumulative amount is reclassified to
the statement of profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable
to exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded
in OCL

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or
loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other

comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the

advance consideration.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currency of the Company is HKD and certain
subsidiaries” functional currencies are currencies other than RMB.
These financial statements are presented in RMB because the
Group'’s business is mainly conducted in the PRC. As at the end
of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each of the reporting period and their profits or losses are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates that approximate to

those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange reserve,
except to the extent that the differences are attributable to non-
controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that particular foreign

operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which they are incurred.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management
has made the following judgements, apart from those involving
estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts

recognised in the financial statements:



485 e i

Notes to Financial Statements
—“E-=FE+-H=+—H
31 December 2023

LN Fipl V20T aEd

H 8 )

PR R — AR A AR
ARG E At BCE YSE AL A R SL T Y
XME > HERGHEME s PAEA -
MR B B 22 PR WAk S A 9 RE A5 >
EL S5 70 T T 4 S AR SR i Y R
w73 H dp A AR B KR B (B R 45 8 v
EMBRBY A VHE > AEBCEERL
TR B R% 55 C R W) S8 B R MR 19 48 K
A3 L gy B [ i o 0 AT B A DA A
HEANR -

Zat NEACEL AR E P A& S RO
B
I 1 R A A SR
A4 1B 7 5 HOR Gl B M R R A R 14
E MBS A B B A AT (RIA SR /5 &t
N) B B 7 — 7 SR S IR (A
M BAA)

i 7 4 0 7 i) 5 o M 2 T o i
FEMH > MIALEBZEN -

fif A~ 4 T ) B 40 AT & B o — T 4R 4K
fE R MRE - QA EE LA - 7
U > MR T % F 20 &
SE A 8 5 — 7 BR A A 48 2 RS -
AL R AR > RERE A IR 5 — 7
B YRR A0 1 72 I S TE A RO 9 AE
] 2 S 2 1 S R RE A

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)
Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment
property portfolio which mainly includes the car park spaces in note
15. The Group has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and
conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting
a major part of the economic life of the commercial property and
the present value of the minimum lease payments not amounting to
substantially all the fair value of the commercial property, that it retains
substantially all the significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of these properties which are leased out and accounts for the contracts as

operating leases.

Principal versus agent consideration for revenue from contracts

with customers

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its promise is a
performance obligation to provide the specified services itself (i.e. the
Group is a principal) or to arrange for those services to be provided by the

other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified service before that

service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the
provision of the specified service by another party. In this case, the Group
does not control the specified service provided by another party before
that service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an
agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to
which it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified

services to be provided by the other party.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the
value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of goodwill was
RMB537,777,000. Further details are given in note 16.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type).
The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed
default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance,
if forecast economic conditions are expected to deteriorate over the next
year which can lead to an increased number of defaults, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates

are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and
forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs

on the Group's trade receivables is disclosed in note 20.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Concinued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred
tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level
of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. The
information about the deferred tax on the Group’s trade receivables is

disclosed in note 26.

Impairment of non-financial long-term assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets, including right-of-use assets, property and
equipment and other intangible assets at the end of year. These non-
financial long-term assets are tested for impairment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less
costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less
costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales or lease
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value-in-use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate
the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of

those cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Concinued)
Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties, including car park spaces and the leased
commercial properties held as a right-of-use asset, are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at their fair value, details
of which are disclosed in note 15. The fair value of the investment
properties was determined by reference to valuations conducted on these
properties by an independent and professionally qualified valuer using
property valuation techniques which involve certain assumptions of
prevailing market conditions. Favourable or unfavourable changes to
these assumptions may result in changes in the fair value of the Group's
investment properties included in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the corresponding adjustments to the changes in fair value
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Details of the fair
value of investment properties are disclosed in note 15 to the financial

statements.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a lease,
and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (‘IBR”) to measure
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would
have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security,
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-
use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects
what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when no
observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter
into financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the
terms and conditions of the lease. (for example, when leases are not in the
subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using
observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s

stand-alone credit rating).
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of property
management services, value-added services to non-property owners,
community value-added services and commercial operational management
services. Information reported to the Group’s chief operating decision
maker, for the purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment,
focuses on the operating results of the Group as a whole as the Group’s
resources are integrated and no discrete operating segment information is

available. Accordingly, no operating segment information is presented.

Geographical information

During the year, the Group operated within one geographical location
because all of its revenue was generated in Chinese Mainland and all of
its long-term assets/capital expenditure were located/incurred in Chinese

Mainland. Accordingly, no geographical information is presented.

Information about major customers

There was no revenue from sales to a single customer or a group of
customers under common control amounting to 10% or more of the
Group's revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023. Revenue from
Zhenro Properties Group Limited and its subsidiaries (“Zhenro Properties
Group”) contributed 12.3% to the Group's revenue for the year ended 31
December 2022.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Revenue represents income from property management services, value-
added services to non-property owners, community value-added services

and brand and management output services during the year.

An analysis of revenue and other income and gains is as follows:

TR T=AE —Ez
2023 2022
ANR¥F ARBTT
RMB000 RMB'000
EEEHA Revenue from contracts with customers 1,095,253 1,099,036

FAARPEUCA Revenue from other sources

— A R — Sublease services 50,250 42,257
Mt Total 1,145,503 1,141,293
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5. WA > Jofb oA BdE ) 5.  REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Concinued)

y-gSRt s algN Revenue from contracts with customers
i SHRBAER (i)  Disaggregated revenue information
WEEE EEME MEME  AMRER
ks ks e whE it
Value-added Brand and
Property ~ servicesto  Community — management
management  non-property  value-added output
services owners services services Total
ANR¥TE  ARBTL AREFT AREFT  ARETE
RMB 000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
—“F°= 2023
Ll ] Type of goods or services
SRR Rendering of services 798,346 95,724 143,892 5101 1,095,253
o Geographical market
R Chinese Mainland 798,346 95,724 143,892 5191 1,095,253
O Timing of revenue recognition
HEs A Revenue recognised over time 798,346 88,869 32,009 51,450 970,674
e B RE A Revenue recognised at a point in time = 6,855 111,883 5,841 124,579
EREHA S Total revenue from contracts with
customers 798,346 95,724 143,892 57,291 1,095,253
TEOCRE 2022
TH g Type of goods or services
HR{LARE Rendering of services 706513 186,517 143,474 62532 1,099,036
i Geographical market
B Chinese Mainland 706,513 186,517 143,474 62,532 1,099,036
W AT Timing of revenue recognition
R T RERR A Revenue recognised over time 706,513 161,645 34,790 59,439 958,383
TS B RERR A Revenue recognised at a point in time - 24872 108,684 7,097 140,653
KR AHALE Total revenue from contracts with
customers 706,513 186,517 143 474 62,532 1,099,036

172 EARRHEEEA R A F Zhenro Services Group Limited
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5. WA ~ JofbBo A BdE ) 5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Concinued)

BEEHIWNA (4) Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

G AHFBAER (4) (i)
T R G A IR A B A4S R4 1
iR A ARBNE MR ILA S

Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

The following table shows the amount of revenue recognised in

the current reporting period that was included in the contract

o liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:
R = i
2023 2022
AW T ANRWT T
RMB’000 RMB 000
RERFEA G LA RN Revenue recognised that was
EHERRILA included in contract liabilities at
beginning of year:
W SEAE AR A B i R I Property management services,
P AR and brand and management
output services 154,974 151,277
() BHHEE (i)  Performance obligations
A TR A B 18 4 T4 1A R ABE 2 Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
T summarised below:

VEY-#LY G NEE LAV
b4

SO S RS M I 3 3 E R s
M > A5 E A R R B R &
BB > O ALk A
25 R b % A SR mE F B
EEMENE - AEECRFATHE
HTHE > NSRS KR
BRIBA AL -

BRI IR
A2 M Hs TR A TR R R Al > A
B —4F > HRA s R I 4R R
THRHE -

Property management services and value-added services to non-

property owners

For property management services and value-added services to
non-property owners, the Group recognises revenue in the amount
that equals the right to invoice which corresponds directly with
the value to the customer of the Group’s performance to date on
a monthly or quarterly basis. The Group has elected the practical
expedient for not disclosing the remaining performance obligations

for these types of contracts.

Community value-added services

The services are rendered in a short period of time which is
generally less than a year and there was no unsatisfied performance

obligation at the end of each of the reporting period.
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5. WA~ HAthse A Rl gs o) 5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continued)

BRAERIWA (4) Revenue from contracts with customers (Concinued)
Gi) BAIELE ) (ii)  Performance obligations (Continued)

it LRy 1 R

3 T R g R T
A5 B A HE A R S Y 2 e D
WA - ZIA B BA RIS B
1R 4% F 8% 2 1) € 3 J 40 A9 B (EAR
i o AEECERBATHEE)
%> AP FR %R A A R BR B

Brand and management outpur services

For brand and management output services to property owners,
the Group recognises revenue in the amount that equals the right
to invoice which corresponds directly with the value to property
owners of the Group’s performance to date on a monthly or
quarterly basis. The Group has elected the practical expedient for

not disclosing the remaining performance obligations for these

H3EATE - types of contracts.
HA A B i 45 Other income and gains
= - S
2023 2022
ARHFT7C ANRHTT
RMB’000 RMB 000
FLEWA Interest income 1,611 2,264
T il Bl Government grants* 3,353 18,167
HE A Rental income 2,677 1,999
B (ERL TR Value added tax additional deduction 2,685 2,753
REHEEREIRA Finance income from finance leases 3,445 5,969
HA Others 2,069 1,888
Rt Total 15,840 33,040
* BE_Z_=#+-"H=1+—H & During the year ended 31 December 2023, various government grants

IRAEBE - RAMAE T AR A
AL ¥ T B A T T B
B> FH RS 37 i S5 2R B A %
Sl A S A0 AL R o A B
S 49 89 R PR R 1 R TE o

L h 174 M4 E A B 7] Zhenro Services Group Limited

have been received for operation in Fujian province and Shanghai, Chinese
Mainland, to reward business performance and support operational
development of enterprises in that area. There are no unfulfilled conditions

or contingencies relating to these grants.
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6. LOSS BEFORE TAX

ASE B BRBLATE R TI R 0ER  (FEA) B The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
TRTERES :

TR e S

2023 2022
Fifsd ANRWFIT ANR¥ T
Notes RMB’000 RMB 000
JIT R AR S 1 Bl A Cost of service provided* 557,071 525,932
I EI G ki Depreciation of property and
equipment 13 2,528 5,201
g e Depreciation of right-of-use assets 14(a) 3,870 3,552
HMb ATV i Amortisation of other
intangible assets 17 7,242 7,157
Kt AHEAEF BN EK Lease payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities 14(c) 2,989 3,007
2 Gk Auditor’s remuneration 2,600 3,100
S5 0 R T A Impairment of financial assets, net
Pl L B S R T U (VR Impairment of finance lease
receivables, net (2,166) (766)
B 5 MUK TR 5 (L 1 4 Impairment of trade receivables, net 20 42,312 16,850
JRE ST IR By kL Uk 5 A Impairment of due from related
parties, net 30 59,239 108,836
At R ] S VE  {  E Impairment of other receivables, net 21 499 1,977
PR (L Impairment of goodwill 16 - 228,849
18 B AR A B 3 Employee benefit expense
(BLFEE S MR AT (including directors’
NEHM (Fzks)) and chief executive’s
remuneration (note 8)):
TE - Ha KM, Wages, salaries and other allowances 371,298 382,475
BRI B R B S AL e AR A Pension scheme contributions and
social welfare 59,887 63,820
HEt Total 431,185 446,295
* BRI IR 4 AR $E 4 B4R 25 R b i [ 4 & Cost of services provided represents “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement

BHA L REEREBREFEL - WL
RATE ~ R TR LAY

of profit or loss excluding employee benefit expense, depreciation of property and
equipment, depreciation of right-of-use assets and amortisation of other intangible

assets.
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7. WA 7. FINANCE COSTS
A A TN An analysis of finance costs is as follows:
TR TR T T
2023 2022
AR¥Fr ANRBTIL
RMB000 RMB’000
SRAT R H A G A Interest on bank and other borrowings 3,799 5,659
L&A BB Interest expense on lease liabilities 2,956 6,060
st Total 6,755 11,719
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8. MY Kl mAT N B 8.

MR BTSRRI 383(1)
(@)~ (b) * (O BOBRUKAT (HFE R
i BB B 2 TR R I A R S
mEATHA BT

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’'s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies

(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as

follows:
= . S
2023 2022
AR¥Tr ARBFr
RMB 000 RMB 000
e Fees 600 600
HAth 4 Other emoluments:
e MR EWEA Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 2,314 4,543
AL Performance related bonuses 337 1,020
RIRE T E 3 R A € 4 Al Pension scheme contributions and
social welfare 277 253
NG Subtotal 2,928 5,816
M Total 3,528 6,416

(@ HBIEHfTES
I 20 0 S G LS 2 B
SRR R BN T HERIE
BAA TR TS © 4R
{5t 3L BT F MR

(a) Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung, Mr. Ma Haiyue and Mr. Zhang Wei were
appointed as independent non-executive directors of the Company
on 10 June 2020. The fees paid to independent non-executive

directors during the year were as follows:

e =i =S
2023 2022
AR T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB'000

WAL RATES Independent non-executive directors:

I B S A Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung 200 200
RefsEA Mr. Zhang Wei 200 200
R e Mr. Ma Haiyue 200 200
M5t Total 600 600

r

A

PRl ‘r
1 1
‘

| |
1

£ Annual Report 2023 177



B 5 R B
Notes to Financial Statements

CERCEEFZA=ET—H
31 December 2023

. WHEBEHIBABFHM S DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S

(%) REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b) BUTEHRERIERGESF (b) Executive directors and non-executive directors
TR 2023
Fa o R R4 A
e B BRAEAL He Rt gaA Hiaag
Salaries, Pension scheme
allowances and Performance- contributions and Total

Fees  benefits in kind  related bonuses social welfare remuneration

ANEETE  ARETT  AERETT  AERETT  ARKTT

RMB000 RMB000 RMB00 RMB000 RMB000
WiES Executive directors:
S Mr. Deng Li¢ - 453 202 85 740
B ity Mr. Wang Wei’ - 423 135 85 643
Ey ity Mr. Kang Hong’ - 560 - 66 626
AR Fek ¢ Mr. Lin Xiaotong' - 668 - 41 709
NG Subtotal - 2,104 337 277 2,718
FaES Non-executive directots:
ke Mr. Huang Xianzhi® - 10 - - 10
Blarest Mr. Liu Wei Liang? - 200 - - 200
NGt Subtotal - 210 - - 210
At Total - 2314 337 277 2,928
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8. EH LT BAH#HM

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

(#) REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b) HITEFRIFEATESE @) (b) Executive directors and non-executive directors
(Continued)
TR TE 2022
e WK BRIk
fis WA BMICA R R EREA Fii A A
Salaries, Pension scheme
allowances and Performance-  contributions and Total
Fees  benefits in kind related bonuses social welfare remuneration
ANREFT ANREFT ANREFT AREFT ANREFT
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB 000 RMB000
WirES Executive directors:
Y St Mr. Kang Hong’ - 1873 750 153 2,776
PRIBEfY fe ¢ Mr. Lin Xiaotong' - 2,270 270 100 2,640
NGt Subtotal - 4143 1,020 253 5,416
FarrES Non-executive directors:
kA Mr. Huang Xianzhi* - 200 - - 200
Bl Mr. Chan Wai Kin' - 183 - - 183
Bl Mr. Liu Wei Liang? - 17 - - 17
/Nt Subtotal = 400 = = 400
st Total - 4,543 1,020 253 5,816

! BRI —F = 4+ —A
o HBHME R T E S -

BlfEst iR B E+—F
THERE AR TEDS -

B R R =E—
THBHEAAF AT EFHE

LS E

‘ MBS R =% =LA =

o

F AT A2 7 3077 28 2 30 A7 B A

Mr. Chan Wai Kin has resigned as a non-executive director with effect from
11 November 2022.

Mr. Liu Wei Liang has been appointed as a non-executive director with
effect from 11 November 2022.

Mr. Huang Xianzhi has resigned as a non-executive director and the

chairman of the board of the Company with effect from 20 January 2023.

Mr. Lin Xiaotong has resigned as an executive director and the chief

executive officer of the Company with effect from 2 July 2023.
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8. 4 Jedw wiAT BN H M

(#)
(b) BITEFRIFENTEDSE @)

’ RERER-F_=4FtAZH
RHEH TS -

6 HELAER_F =LA _H
JEZAT 2 7 8w B0 AT # AT L
B

7 FREER-F_=FLAH
BRERITES -

9. Tl F R H

ERNLALREFMER G —4ESE (
T MAERE) > BEERHMREE
B B OCHRES o BEHEA A R SR IR i
RATBABMER TN (ZF 24 =
4 e 155 0 A LT AR 4 B FA M 15

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors
(Continued)

> Mr. Kang Hong has resigned as an executive director with effect from 2

July 2023.

Mr. Deng Li has been appointed as an executive director and the chief

executive officer of the Company with effect from 2 July 2023.

Mr. Wang Wei has been appointed as an executive director with effect from
2 July 2023.

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included one director
(2022: two directors), details of whose remuneration are set out in note
8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining four
(2022: three) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company, are as follows:

I
—GE =l TR
2023 2022
ARBTI ARHFIC
RMB000 RMB’000
HE o B KEDEA Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 2,455 2,338
HERACAL Performance related bonuses 663 284
RS FT 3K B pt & 4w A Pension scheme contributions and social welfare 428 271
Kt Total 3,546 2,893

I 7E AT A8 I R O S R R R AT
BN B B R B BT

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid

employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as

follows:
=N
Number of employees
TR C=EE B S

2023 2022
500,001 % 752 1,000,000 5 TG HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 4
1,000,001 ¥ TCE 1,500,000 HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 - 2
M5t Total 4 3
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10. Wit 10. INCOME TAX

A5 1A R A 4 B A B 2 W RE I AR
B BT TE BB m) i R I A B M
% B R AR BT 5B - AR IR BH 2 R
55 RSB AT R S OB SOE R A
ST PR 2 T 5 D 0 o A4 T 5 R R
JSCSE ) Wi 2 ) JR A A T BT A o
7% 52 [ 7 s G A RS Y B 2 ] 482
AR BL > A FLR i 0 A
5 AT A R i ) -

Y — A T BB R f 259 o A
SE BT HEE A W = A /R 3
(T/NBAGHR A 3 |) BT BB 548 > BT
BEREE20% » WA 4 B 1 H RSB
WA 259% 5 50% w1 H HBLIE o AL
f — [ o 22 ) oz A v R PG 0 B P AL
I A58 97 [ > NI AT 995 O 48 EEL T A5 BB
:}30

The Group is entitled to income tax on an entity basis on profits arising
in or derived from the tax jurisdictions in which members of the Group
are domiciled and operate. Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands, the Group's subsidiaries
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands are not
subject to any income tax. The Group's subsidiary incorporated in Hong
Kong was not liable for income tax as it did not have any assessable

profits arising in Hong Kong during the reporting period.

The general corporate income tax rate in PRC is 25%. Certain of the
Group’s subsidiaries enjoy the preferential income tax treatment for
Small and Micro Enterprise (“SLE”) with the income tax rate of 20% and
are eligible to have their tax calculated based on 25% or 50% of their
taxable income. One of the Group's subsidiaries is located in Economic
Area of GuangXi North Bay in western regions of China and enjoy the

preferential income tax rate of 9%.

TERTCEE -~
2023 2022
ABRHToC ANRET T
RMB’000 RMB 000

RV — rh i g 3 Current — Chinese Mainland:

R Charge for the year 34,227 32,510
TRIERIE (Mi3E206) Deferred tax (note 26) (8,887) (54,662)
FERNBIEZ () B Total tax charge/(credit) for the year 25,340 (22,152)
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10. i3 B 4 10. INCOME TAX (continued)
TSR0 A T R KA T S 7
B T 7 7 7 o R 0 2 B R MO
ol T EL 3 0 i B P
SR BT BB SR T

A reconciliation of tax expense applicable to loss before tax at the
statutory rate for the jurisdictions in which the Company and the
majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the income tax expense at the

effective tax rate for the reporting period is as follows:

B S e

2023 2022
ARHT7C ANRBTF
RMB’000 RMB 000

R R B 1R Loss before tax (56,596) (302,901)
Ik EBRGTE At the statutory tax rate (14,149) (75,725)
FEE B R B 7 TP B AR Lower tax rate for specific provinces or enacted

i % by local authority 2,455 (7,158)
UNIEIG: 3 Expenses not deductible for tax 3,226 57,831
TR AR BB B E RS 1R Tax losses utilised from previous years (706) (660)
R 223 Temporary differences not recognised 26,666 -
KRB 1R Tax losses not recognised 7,848 3,560
TR A AE B B B R s A Tax charge/(credit) at the Group’s effective rate

BIEH /(5 25,340 (22,152)

11. A 11. DIVIDENDS

HHNRRIREA B4R B AE ol
PSR, -

The directors do not recommend any interim or final dividend in the

respective of the period/year.
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P

12.

8R4y ) 3% 2 I+ AN AN
e 1

o FE AR A & B AR B ) 0
R A 39 A9 s 4R S 4R TR B 38 47
TR A2 #81,037,500,000 ¢ (—F ==
4F11,037,500,000 /1) 715 ©

AEERBE_F=FR-F 4
ToA=Zt IR EE BT
TEHRH L@ A -

o PR A T ) T R DA T H Rt
=1

12.

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts is based on the
loss for the period attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent,
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,037,500,000
(2022: 1,037,500,000) in issue during the year.

The Group had no potential dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based on:

—F = —E T
2023 2022
ARH T ANBRETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
18 Loss
AR AR RO BEAF] Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders
A A AL 1R of the parent, used in the basic earnings
per share calculation (81,189) (281,326)
Bt
Number of shares
R = —F
2023 2022
iy Shares
FHAR A SRR A BT AR Weighted average number of ordinary shares
AN B T A R in issue during the year used in the basic and
FH diluted earnings per share calculation 1,037,500,000  1,037,500,000
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13. W38 Beidt i 13. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
B BT HE o HURE  HENERE 5t
Electronic Motor Other Leasehold
Machinery ~ equipment vehicles  equipment  improvements Total
ANRIFE  ARFTE  AREFT  ARFFE  ARFFE  AREFx
RMBUOO  RMBUO)  RMBUOO  RMBUOO RMBUOO  RMBUOOD
CRCEEFTA=T A 31 December 2023
W-F-ZE—A—H At 1 January 2023
ik Cost 1405 11,674 694 2,604 8,205 24,762
ZitiE Accumulated depreciation (858) (8,236) (381) (1,561) (7,800) (18,836)
E Net carying amount 547 3,438 313 1,133 495 5,926
\FZ=E--R At 1 January 2023, net of
Ak 2t accumulated depreciation 547 3,438 313 113 495 5926
HE Additions 55 1,310 lli 184 797 2423
& Disposals ) (61) ©) (34) - (105)
ERHETE (Miko) Depreciation provided during the
year (note 6) (146) (1,495) (90) (358) (439) (2,528)
e S iy g | At 31 December 2023, net of
S0 REGHTE accumulated depreciation 452 3,192 294 925 853 5,716
REEZZEFTAZF—H 0 At31 December 2023:
ik Cost 1,260 12439 762 281 9,092 26,374
ZHE Accumulated depreciation (808) 9,47) (468) (1,896) (8,239) (20,658)
el Net carrying amount 452 3,192 294 925 853 5,716
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13. W Bt ) 13. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continucd)

W BT B HMhSE HENEEE st
Electronic Motor Other Leasehold
Machinery  equipment vehicles  equipment  improvements Total
ANRHTT ANRETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARKTT
RMB00O0  RMB000 ~ RMB00O — RMB000 RMB00O0  RMB 000
ZEZTHEFZAZET—H 31 December 2022
RZZF=—%—H—H At 1 January 2022
AR Cost 1,207 10,624 1,031 1,761 7,155 21,778
ZitnE Accumulated depreciation 685  (6,624) (465) (348) (6086 (14,208)
TR Net carrying amount 522 4,000 566 1,413 1,069 7,570
REZFZZH—H—H>  Ac1 January 2022, net of
G Z5H4rE accumulated depreciation 522 4000 566 1413 1,069 7,570
wE Additions 198 1,494 79 1,100 1,141 4012
HEREA Disposal of a subsidiary = (76) - (119) _ (195)
HE Disposals - (16) (229) (15) - (260)
FRFHEITE (ko) Depreciation provided during the
year (note 6) (173) (1,964) (103) (1,246) (1,715) (5,201)
S o | At 31 December 2022, net of
Zt—H BREFHE  accumulated depreciation 547 3438 313 1,133 495 5,926
R-Z=—#E+"H At 31 December 2022:
=t
A Cost 1405 11,674 694 2,694 8,295 24,762
it Accumulated depreciation (858) (8,236) (381) (1,561) (78000 (18,836)
SR (A Net carrying amount 547 3438 313 1,133 495 5,926
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14. Mg

ARLEERARBA

A S T B T A M T B R
REW > HEMANF=21F -

WRRE LS BT s » AEMBR _F 4
— AR (575 B0 B 7 ) AR iz
A H B 1 3 B D S i S S o TR E R
R34 o AL E R BRI H R A 1
BV R R EARERN M EERE -

(a) MEFHMERE
A A JEE 7 4 8 o P RE 7 FR AR

14. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group leases certain units in buildings as its office spaces, and lease

terms range from three to five years.

As disclosed in note 15, the Group leased four commercial properties
located in Chinese Mainland from property owners, which are related
parties of the Group, in January 2021 for a fixed term of 3 years.
The Group recognised right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
investment properties and lease liabilities at the lease commencement

date.

(@  Right-of-use assets

The carrying amount of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the

R SEEINE - movements during the year are as follows:
TR CEE —E T
2023 2022
ANRIWFFT ARET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
/AN Office buildings
w—H—H At 1 January 4,382 8,194
WA Additions 1,249 -
B B ] Decrease as a result of disposal
of a subsidiary - (260)
s (o) Depreciation charge (note 6) (3,870) (3,552)
Rt+ZA=+—H At 31 December 1,761 4,382
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14. ME @)
AREEEEAMA (2)

(b)

MR A

JAZ A BEAE R A AR A S 1 % S
wr

14. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during

the year are as follows:

R

o —

—E T
2023 2022
AR T ANBWTFIT
RMB’000 RMB000
—H— H iR Carrying amount at 1 January 72,388 150,404
S New leases 1,249 =
A A RERR B L, Accretion of interest recognised during
the year 2,956 6,060
5 BB 2 ml ) Decrease as a result of disposal of a
subsidiary = (10,790)
(RE: Payments (72,573) (5,019)
S SH PR R GGRIE Offsetting with amounts due from the
lessors = (68,267)
A=+ — BRI Carrying amount at 31 December 4,020 72,388
G A Analysed into:
AL GEiEN ==Y Current lease liabilities 3,121 69,412
JEENHNF & & Non-current lease liabilities 899 2,976

& S A AE ) H 207 B B AT
33 °

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 33.
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14. BB @) 14. LEASES (Continued)
AR R R RN (4) The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(c) S Eﬁﬁ%ﬂ ﬁ@’ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ% ) 4 A (¢)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases
mF : are as follows:
ZECEE - S
2023 2022
AR¥Fr ARF
RMB000 RMB’000
HEAEFE Interest on lease liabilities 2,956 6,060
RS E e A Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 3,870 3,552
A B I S B S Expense relating to short-term leases
(FFAATHEE ) (included in administrative expenses) 2,989 3,007
Jiigiz bt ERAiE o) Total amount recognised in profit or loss 9,815 12,619
(d) FEZ B AT AR B B (d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 29(c) to
BMEMFE29(0) © the financial statements.
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14. M8 ) 14. LEASES (Continued)

ARLE R AN

7% S [ 4 T L 2 B R 2 A B A A
R I TR T A R A S B
JiG B DA R B Wi A o B L A T g
PRl AT S AR R
5 T R 5 Y TS W 8 A LI
A& AT - LA A AR I A [ Y R AR
AP B A o A 42 AR Y B L 2 B
A AL A A R AN > M4
A NRMS50,250,00070 (& = T4
NEH42,257,0007C)

UEAN » A IR E RS AL 2 PR B
i H R Rl P B B (B R s) o
TRk — M B SR AP A a4 > oI
AR T T O B R R A o R R [ T
R0 B A6 L 4 MO A AF AR b i
A > HEH/ANRYE2,677,0007C (=%
AR NR#E1,999,0007T) ©

RoF-SEFAST R A%H
B A AR 55 BUECHLI 9 7 o1 0
BRI R AR BRI 5K

The Group as a lessor

The Group leased out retail stores of commercial properties in cities of
Fuzhou and Putian, Fujian province, Chinese Mainland under subleasing
arrangements to receive rental income. Leases of retail stores are either
with only fixed lease payments or contain variable lease payments that are
based on pre-agreed percentage of sales recognised by the tenants and the
minimum annual lease payment that are fixed over the lease term. Rental
income arising from subleasing arrangements recognised by the Group
was recorded in revenue, with a total amount of RMB50,250,000 during
the year (2022: RMB42,257,000).

In addition, the Group leases its investment properties (note 15) of car
park spaces in Chinese Mainland under operating lease arrangements.
The terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay security
deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the then
prevailing market conditions. Rental income arising from car park spaces
recognised by the Group was recorded in other income, with a total
amount of RMB2,677,000 during the year (2022: RMB1,999,000).

At 31 December 2023, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by
the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating leases with

its tenants are as follows:

“RCEE

2023

ANRHTF

RMB000

—4ER Within one year 32,719
R A — AR W AE A After one year but within two years -
st Total 32,719

£ Annual Report 2023 189




785 e i

Notes to Financial Statements

ZERCEFFZH=E+—H
31 December 2023

15. BEWE 15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
MR
ELUE B
Hify R E At
Leased
commercial
properties —

Car park  right of use
spaces assets Total
ANEWTE  ARETLT ARKETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

—F =+ A=Z+—H 31 December 2023

it —H— H iR {E Carrying amount at 1 January 21,600 64,590 86,190
ISR TS R i A Net loss from a fair value adjustment = (64,590) (64,590)
WNE (AlE) Additions (from acquisition) 143,000 = 143,000
T ZHA=Z+T—HMRE[E  Carrying amount at 31 December 164,600 - 164,600

—F-HE+-HA=Z1+—H 31 December 2022

iv—H— B iR {E Carrying amount at 1 January 21,600 144,890 166,490
ONTE AR T A 1R AR Net loss from a fair value adjustment = (63,600) (63,600)
B M2 Al (BFEE30) Disposal of a subsidiary (note 30) - (16,700) (16,700)
T ZH=+T—HMIRME(E  Carrying amount at 31 December 21,600 64,590 86,190

75 T 1Y BB W) 36 B4 S H B R e
LA B = IR BT O T (TG D)
0 A R R K L S WL £ L
BRSEME (MHaE14) -

REFEZ=ZH+"A=+—H > b=

AT ENHE R R T B -
b B EY RN IRE ERES -
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The Group's investment properties consist of car park spaces and three
leased commercial properties, which are being recognised as right of use
(“ROU”) assets and subleased by the Group under operating leases (note
14), situated in Chinese Mainland,.

As at 31 December 2023, the lease agreement for the above mentioned
three leased commercial properties was due. Therefore, the carrying

amount of the leased commercial properties was reduced to nil.
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15.

BEWE @)
AREMMHEMEIERNB ITHERE
A (L B o 2 W 17 4 2 BT A B R R A PR
AF (TR AT 1) AT 0 REAH R =%
CEFEF A= —HEMAEARK
164,600,000 70 o 745 [ 1 =5 ) 14 755 48 21
T i B85 B D8 Ze AT A0 A (6 i
AL B EN IR (E o 23 R UE 4
Tk - R B R R
SEATE o AR 1Y AR A
PSR (L Rl 46 77 B 75 455 A (B
Al AR R B A %5 SR AEE AT b

ARMEENRR - F = A
R BRI ¢

15.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The Group's investment properties were revalued on 31 December 2023
based on valuations performed by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal
and Advisory Limited (“JLL"), an independent professionally qualified
valuer, at RMB164,600,000. The Group’s senior finance manager and
the chief financial officer decide to appoint which external valuer to be
responsible for the external valuations of the Group’s properties. Selection
criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether
professional standards are maintained. The Group’s senior finance
manager and the chief financial officer have discussions with the valuer
on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when the valuation is

performed for financial reporting.

Particulars of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 December 2023

are as followings:

Yo% fiiFes &2 SR 8 B A 2

Attributable

interest of

Location Use Tenure the Group

H B8] AT TR A R T — 1 Floor, Longsheng Building No. 23 gt R 4 100%
LR 23 SRR RE AR Hongwu road, Nanjing Jiangsu, Rental Medium term

A—JE Chinese Mainland

HE A RIS E Underground, Tianjin Ruijinyuan, e HtEA) 100%

Kt a8 — g Xiqing District, Tianjin, Chinese Mainland ~ Sales Medium term

AT
T 3R A SR BRI T (E R R
JE&

BALH AL PR E

— BLfi] — Car park spaces

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of

the Group's investment properties:

e ks 2 iy S el 73 1V L VAR B

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2023 using

Recurring fair value measurement for:

WS EATEE ERATEE
Z WA LN ¢ 3 At
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
(Sh—#) (SR=#) (R=#)
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
AT ARWTT  ARKTT ARKTE
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
= - 164,600 164,600
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15. BLEYE @) 15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
WNAETE 8 (42) Fair value hierarchy (continued)

AR AT A= BRI AT ER R
Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2022 using

mEmYG EATEE ERTEE

B8 i \ B4 LIV (G At
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs Total
(SF—#) (E=H) (=)
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

ARBFT  ARFTT ARKTT AR¥TIL
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB 000

PEAH WA FERTE © Recurring fair value measurement for:

— Hfy — Car park spaces - - 21,600 21,600
THEHENE Leased commercial properties

— G E — ROU assets = = 64,590 64,590
At Total S ~ 86,190 86,190
RAGERE B — AL AN PR R During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
2 (BN RS 5 55 = % N JHE A o A between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2022:
(ZE A ) o Nil).

|| Y 192 M 4 B A B A 7] Zhenro Services Group Limited



485 e i

Notes to Financial Statements
SEC=F+H=1+—H
31 December 2023

15. BeEWE @)
PR 31
DA B 48 90 261 (6L Br A I A0 8 4 i B
F B A R

fh b

Valuation technique

Bfi;

U SEL B SEINYY
Car park spaces Direct comparison method-based
market observable transaction
of similar car park and adjusted
to reflect the conditions of the

subject properties

RAHEIATH  HERZSFYENTA o

fo PR RE R Hy iR MO A TR
TS A AG BB

ROU assets under  Income approach -based on market

operating lease rents of all lettable units of the
properties are assessed and

discounted at the market yield

expected

{1 7 B9 77 557 BEL0E T AL B KR
W > BT W AR HOR IR T g B
WSR2 P ER R -

IR A T B 525 M i B (T
(B - AR B APEERE)

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key inputs to

the valuation of investment properties:

RN A\ i R T2
Significant unobservable inputs Range or weighted average
Y TR
2023 2022

Market unit price per lot (the RMB99,000 to
higher of the market unit price, RMB270,000
the higher of the fair value)

TSR R (R AR
=S TNV 1Y)

Market yield expected (the higher NA
of the market yield expected, the
lower of the fair value)

g Rk A st BT AN
e (RiER e > AF
(B

Assessed prevailing market rents, NA

per square meter per day (the
higher of the prevailing market

rents, the higher of the fair value)

A significant increase in the market unit price per lot and market rent,

or a significant decrease in the market yield would result in a significant

increase in the fair value of the investment properties.
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AR¥270,0000C  AR#261,0007C

RMB225,000 to
RMB261,000
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AR#360E
ANE#6.97C

RMB3.6 to
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16. Fi% 16. GOODWILL

TR

—p——

—E T
2023 2022
ANRIFT L ANRHT T
RMB’000 RMB 000
iv—H— B BA ZIRIEFE  Cost and net carrying amount at 1 January 537,777 766,626
[ 2R Impairment of goodwill - (228,849)
A Y = Rt e E ) % )4 Cost and net cartying amount at
BRI 7 (L 31 December 537,777 537,777
RtZHA=1t—H: At 31 December:
JEA Cost 766,626 766,626
AFHEE Accumulated impairment (228,849) (228,849)
MR HE Net carrying amount 537,777 537,777

T 5 3

Impairment testing of goodwill

A SR HIE TS 2 AR B L 2
UT=MBleErEM ([HeELtH
7 1) DAEAT G T o mT i B U5 AR
RO B ER AR E > W% A
T B S P St (L o B TR AT A

The Group’s goodwill acquired through business combinations was
allocated to the following three cash-generating units (‘CGUs”) for the
impairment testing. The recoverable amount has been determined based
on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial

budgets covering a five-year period performed by the management with

KNI EANB R B EH -

194 M 4 B A B 7] Zhenro Services Group Limited

the engagement of an independent valuer, JLL.
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P

“ERCEFtHA=+—H
31 December 2023

16.

P2 )

T B SRAE I R )

Bl etk B

CGU

it St R =R

31 December 2023
TLHRE R
Jiangsu Aitao
TLBRAR
Jiangsu Sutie

IER T

Zhenro Commercial

“ECCETCAZtH

31 December 2022
LRSS
Jiangsu Aitao
ILBRERS
Jiangsu Sutie
ISR

Zhenro Commercial

16.

B> 3/

Principal business

LU i

Property management

/ES 8

Property management

[CES7E S:¢i

Commercial property

management

UESEL

Property management
ESERE

Property management
[GES/ES #22
Commercial property

management

GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

FE R R TR AEERE MBI (BT
Annual

revenue  Gross profit Terminal Discount

Goodwill  growth rate margin  growth rate rate (pre-tax)
ANRWTFT
RMB 000

19,507 3% 13.5% 2.5% 18.0%

40,030 3% 36.2% 2.5% 18.1%

478,240 6~19%  42.8~51.2% 2.5% 17.5%

19,507 3% 12.6% 3.0% 17.7%

40,030 3% 44.5% 3.0% 17.9%

478,240 7~12%  43.8~48.0% 3.0% 17.5%
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16. W% )

196 EARMRHEEEA R AF Zhenro Services Group Limited

7 A AR B )

b B e A DA 0 05 2
R TRBOEAT - 8 18 B 177 B
(AT 0 45 9 B B L
i BB K A 2 D BB T

PEELA — B IR B S BRBL AT B %
Sl fz e BEL AT B B2 A ] 9 5 L

Wi A e A — R REAG H R TR RO B
S AR B TE A i R R A R LA
BE AR — -

BAIE — FRHEE 2 B A st B H
BERER B TR ~ 7 ELRA B H A
JRAS o 5% S B S T A 2% B A A
T8 6 H ) e A R TE T 2 KT R
o

o

Ko R — R RBATIT MR > &
Vi B R AE Fh 259 (& AR
3.0%) °

REE R =T A=+ —HILF
B ARG RTE M S ELE
B A AR e MR R (R
A NRM228,849,0007C) © e

16.

GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculations of the above-
mentioned CGUs. The following describes each key assumption on
which management had based its cash flow projections of the CGUs to

undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and reflects specific

risks relating to the relevant unit.

Annual revenue growth rate — The predicted revenue growth rate of the
CGUs for the five years subsequent to the date of assessment is one of the

assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations.

Gross profit margin —The basis used to determine the estimated gross
profit margin assigned is the cost of staff costs, subcontractor costs
and other operating costs. The assumptions reflect past experience and
management’s commitment to maintain its gross profit margin at an

acceptable level.

Terminal growth rate — The terminal growth rate was estimated to be
2.5% (2022:3.0%) which has taken into consideration the prevailing

industry practice.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the management of the Group
determined that no impairment of goodwill (2022: RMB228,849,000)
should be recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for
CGUs.
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CERCEEFZA=ET—H
31 December 2023

17. HAbSeIB %

17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

i % PR Mt
Customer
Software relationship Total
ANRHTT ARIWF AR
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
"R TEH+TH=Z14—H 31 December 2023
RE-FE-=4F—H—H: At 1 January 2023:
JiA Cost 6,865 61,021 67,886
2SS Accumulated amortisation (3,594) (19,595) (23,189)
HR T Net carrying amount 3,271 41,426 44,697
NEZZAE—H—HI Costat 1 January 2023, net of
JRAR bk 2 FHEESS accumulated amortisation 3,271 41,426 44,697
NE Additions 546 - 546
HE Disposal (555) - (555)
SEN RS (Fif3E6) Amortisation provided during the year
g
(note 6) (1,140) (6,102) (7,242)
I S Sy i | Carrying amount at 31 December 2023
=+ —H iR (E 2,122 35,324 37,446
I S Sy Y | At 31 December 2023:
=+—H
JEA Cost 6,700 61,021 67,721
2t Accumulated amortisation 4,578) (25,697) (30,275)
MR T Y Net carrying amount 2,122 35,324 37,446
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17. JABSETE G () 17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continucd)
LGS KFRIR st
Customer
Software relationship Total
ANRETT NRBT ANRET
RMB 000 RMB000 RMB 000

—— —

"R TH+ZHZ+—H 31 December 2022

MZFEZZF—H—H:  Acl January 2022:
A Cost 7,138 61,021 68,159
ESE Accumulated amortisation (2,539) (13,493) (16,032)
ARV Net carrying amount 4,599 47,528 52,127

WoE T TAE—H—HI Cost at 1 January 2022, net of

BUA 5 bR RS accumulated amortisation 4,599 47,528 52,127
WE Additions 4 = 4
HERTE AR (FaE30) Disposal of a subsidiary (note 30) (153) = (153)
& Disposal (124) - (124)
SER RS (o) Amortisation provided during the year

(note 6) (1,055) (6,102) (7,157)
ANE - THFE+TA Carrying amount at 31 December 2022

=+—HIREE 3,071 41,426 44,697
A S oy gy At 31 December 2022:

=+—R

JA Cost 6,865 61,021 67,886

2t Accumulated amortisation (3,594) (19,595) (23,189)

AR FHE Net carrying amount 3,271 41,426 44,697

»

[l ] 198 EX M EEA KA R Zhenro Services Group Limited
i 'T““( N
(- R

Sod
m N



485 e i

Notes to Financial Statements

CERCEEFZA=ET—H
31 December 2023

18. TG A vl B ¥

ShA T B

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Share of net assets

SRS e S
2023 2022
ARMWTIC ARWT
RMB'000 RMB000
1,071 1,180

AL E N R RERE T

e

Name

PR i R S LA R A
P T S B S A BR A
PR 2 SR RS A R
PR 2 SR RS A IR A

Particulars of the Group’s associates are as follows:

Al B S MR

Place of registration

and business

R o B A
PRC/Chinese Mainland
g o A
PRC/Chinese Mainland

N v B e R 3 T RS A BR A HLE
P 1 e 2 SR ol PR A PR ] PRC/Chinese Mainland

T T 2R LT AR A PR )
TR T AR LI IR 5 A PR 22 )

A B B N R R OB R A 4 R 4

BB AR -

T R A A [ B R A

ZRMMBER

G R AR 1R

SN B ) A 4 T A R AR

AL AR ) Z BUERY
i A

A7

HE A
PRC/Chinese Mainland

ARG W A B

L E AR

EEEH

Percentage of

ownership interest

attributable to the

Group

48%
48%
49%
49%
49%
49%
49%
49%

Principal activities

/B SEgis
Property management
WEEH
Property management
WEE
Property management
/B SEgis

Property management

The Group’s shareholdings in the associates comprise equity shares held

through wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of the

Group's associates that are not individually material:

Share of the associates’ losses for the year

Share of the associates’ total comprehensive loss

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's

investments in the associates

TR B
2023 2022
AEH T ARHTIT
RMB'000 RMB'000
(109) =
(109) =
1,071 1,180
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o

T
Py

‘w

19. HAECRLE Mok

19. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES
Y

S
2022

KR &
JE S K IH BLH
Present value
of minimum

finance lease

B S
2022
5L gV~
e et

Minimum

finance lease

receivables receivables
ABRIT T ANREFI
RMB'000 RMB000
Al AL B RS R TR L 4 Finance lease receivables comprise:
—4ER Within one year 38,046 41,491
GitN=gi'a=g x il Gross investment in the lease AN N/A 41,491
B ARHEECRE U A Less: Unearned finance income AN N/A (3,445)
FENC I R & 1T kB (E Present value of minimum lease payment
receivables 38,046 38,046
RNy izt L] Less: Allowance for credit loss (2,166)
35,880
iV Analysed as:
HIb ] Current 35,880

200 1E4EMRF 4B A MR A G Zhenro Services Group Limited
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20. B 5 MoK 20. TRADE RECEIVABLES
e S e S
2023 2022
AW T AR TIT
RMB 000 RMB 000
& 5y RS K IA Trade receivables 392,795 325,293
BE Impairment (83,048) (42,626)
At Toral 309,747 282,667
B 5 e AR TE AR TR R W 3 IR Trade receivables mainly arise from property management services, value-
B~ FREL R ERES - A s (AR LA added services to non-property owners, community value-added services
T dit AR e 7 SR i et PR > 0 AR AR A AL B and brand and management output services, and are due for payment
T B OB R R B A - upon the issuance of the demand notes in accordance with the terms of
the relevant agreements.
7 A R R B B O T I BR i 4R An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting
iR E 5 BRSO E I BRI A B period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:
e S —F-
2023 2022
ANBH T ABHTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
—4ER Within 1 year 240,139 245,165
—FE A 1 to 2 years 66,719 36,709
TEZA 2 to 3 years 2,889 793
At Total 309,747 282,667

N

M‘ . .
i %%M

(il | »‘ ‘[
|

| |
1
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ZERCEFFZH=E+—H
31 December 2023

20. B S MEBGK I )

202 4R 4E B A B A F Zhenro Services Group Limited

B o WG B R 0 B 0 T

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables

are as follows:

- S
2023 2022
AR ABBTFr
RMB’000 RMB000
G| At beginning of year 42,626 29,770
B R T (ko) Impairment losses, net (note 6) 42,312 16,850
L B A 43 i [m] 3RTE Amount written off as uncollectible (1,890) (3,994)
R At end of year 83,048 42,626

BE-FZ=FF A= —HIEFE
F) Ml 158 7 4 188 T 7% o 1 R 0 B WSk
T A 4600 T 3 A oK 4 B it A R R
KT REZS BUICBOR 2 & A 2B (5 &
WE % PR A TR A

JA % FT 2 B T 488 g A R AT e
ShHr > R R TEGE SR - B RT)
H R BLA B B 2 0 & 5 20
AL B 2 Y R BB E o AT R R ER
FRAMMEAT R 8 WO SR R 3 H BT
5B A B 20 2R~ IR L B R A A
TR DUTEL B A 2 0 R S R o

— BT o e B B MR T i )
SR RIS SZ R 8 AT IR B A
B 5 REWCHIR TS T LA -

The increase in the loss allowance during the year ended 31 December
2023 was due to the significant changes in the gross carrying amount of
the trade receivables which were past due and certain special provision
made for the credit-impaired customers that the Group is unlikely to

receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates are
based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments with
similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past events,

current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Generally, trade receivables are written off if past due for more than three

years and are not subject to enforcement activity.
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P

20.

B9 REWCGK I ) 20.

T SCHUH BR 458 40 A e A A A T
5 MEWCHR IR 19 15 S B B0

“EFIEEFZA=Z—H

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the

Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

31 December 2023

g |
Past due
—EUT —FEIE R At
Less than 1to2 2to03
one year year years Total
TG BERR Expected credit loss rate 9.0% 39.5% 84.6% 21.1%
AR F Gross carrying amount
(ANR¥TIr) (RMB’000) 263,787 110,212 18,796 392,795
TG Bk E Expected credit losses
(NR¥TT) (RMB’000) 23,648 43,493 15,907 83,048
“ECHEVYZA=Z1T—H 31 December 2022
i1 1]
Past due
—EDUT —EE  E=HF Hat
Less than 1to?2 2to3
one year year years Total
HHE SRR Expected credit loss rate 7.2% 28.5% 92.0% 13.1%
FEYE R ED Gross carrying amount
(NR¥Fr) (RMB’000) 264,120 51,318 9,855 325,293
FMEEEE Expected credit losses
(NR¥EFIT) (RMB’000) 18,955 14,609 9,062 42,626

WA > E B T A E B AR
W 45,441,00070 (—F — " 4F + AR
110,004,0007C) © #E— 1 752 B E
30 °

In addition, the trade receivables from related parties amounted to

RMB45,441,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB110,004,000),

further details of which are given in the note 30.
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31 December 2023

21. TAS K~ IR ME Ok B

21.

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

JoAib % OTHER ASSETS
TR - S
2023 2022
AREFI ANRBTIL
RMB’000 RMB000
REZF 1 I EUEMERT A3 Payments on behalf of customers
to utility suppliers 35,725 33,194
i Deposits 9,819 29,473
T4 Prepaid rental 40,108 27,291
oAt T FH Other prepayments 7,442 6,174
] B T8GR Advances to staff 4,146 3,948
FoAh FE R IR Other receivables 15,211 31,648
Mt Total 112,451 131,728
Bi(E Impairment 4,391) (3,892)
T BHE Net carrying amount 108,060 127,836

TERF I+ HE Al B Wi B A E Y

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of prepayments,

WEERE AT other receivables and other assets are as follows:
2023 2022
AREFIL ARBF
RMB 000 RMB 000
4 At beginning of year 3,892 1,915
BB (ftste) Impairment losses, net (note 6) 499 1,977
LEPS At end of year 4,391 3,892

TG IR 882 2% A 48 | 1) R 1 s
Btk > FHERE T IRETHE - ks
BT DR B DA S I IR DL R
AR 2 B (AR ) - R F
CEFTZAETHERANEER R
6.8% (ZHF 4 1 4.0%) °

204 EAMMFEBMA AR Zhenro Services Group Limited

Expected credit losses are estimated by applying a loss rate approach
with reference to the historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is
adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions, as appropriate. The loss rate applied as at 31 December 2023
was 6.8% (2022: 4.0%).
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CERCEEFZA=ET—H
31 December 2023

22. B& R TR B

22. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

2023 2022

AR ANRBTIL

RMB000 RMB’000

B RSRAT#5% Cash and bank balances 579,146 691,627
o ik Less: Pledged deposits 1,807 2,896
Z MR % Restricted cash 825 3,640

B4 LB &% EY Cash and cash equivalents 576,514 685,091

RoF-=%+"A=+—H 2 AR
#1,807,0000 (ZF 4 : AR
2,896,0007C) 18R4T &5 B 18T 1 Ay 75
TUEEHE L BEANEMG > B
AR E IR BT o A Y 4R
T&E ANRH825,0000 (ZF =
NEH3,640,000 70 ) BRI

REFZ=HF+TZA=1+—H,H1&R
MITHEBUARBEFHEN EH A AR
#578,837,0007C (&~ 4F - AR
685,045,0007C) o AR B i Hh
Ry A &M > MEAR 4 o R 3 A B
) 2 45 W~ 5 W o) M A B 2 - A
O TP 2 R A e A AT A T 2 2 4R
Tt R St B AL -

TR SRAT I Bl & 4% 13 H AT/ 302 )
FIZGHE o RATH R BUR F B R H
BT I K RE BRI AT - B BBl &5
B B9 e A (SR (B A A

As at 31 December 2023, bank balances of RMB1,807,000 (2022:
RMB2,896,000) were pledged as security for performance of certain
property management contracts and bank balances RMB825,000 (2022:
RMB3,640,000) were restricted as to use by the Group due to regulatory

actions against the Group.

At 31 December 2023, the cash and bank balances denominated in RMB
amounted to RMB578,837,000 (2022: RMB685,045,000). The RMB
is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under Chinese
Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks

authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with
no recent history of default. The carrying amounts of the cash and cash

equivalents approximated to their fair values.
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23. E ML K 23.
AR I R I A 5% M R G

TRADE PAYABLES

An aging analysis of the trade payables as at the end of year, based on the

HRES AT T invoice date, is as follows:

TR - S
2023 2022
ARIEFI ANRBTIL
RMB000 RMB’000
—4ER Within 1 year 130,768 144,674
e — A Over 1 year 34,666 4,805
Rast Total 165,434 149,479

55 AL 2 AN st B & — & Lhoo H
PRAG «

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on

90-day terms.

‘ I
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24, A ME A ok 2R B RE il 2 24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

i3 e St e S
Notes 2023 2022
ABRHFT7C ANRB T
RMB’000 RMB000

RIHAHE 7 Current portion

BHAE Contract liabilities (2) 163,903 154,974
CZ 4 Deposits received (b) 29,047 26,837
REFHE A P YR Receipts on behalf of community residents 100,092 81,033
JEA T R Aa A Payroll and welfare payable 81,078 79,509
A B A B I Other tax payables 26,436 14,169
TR 4 Rental advances 9,874 44,326
HoAts Others 17,271 17,110
/Nat Sub-total 427,701 417,958

JR B Y

Non-current portion

Bk 4 Deposits received 7,364 11,114
st Total 435,065 429,072
WL - Notes:

(a) JRAEAR I 4 4 B AR B AR 4 [ ) 4 SE A T (a) The contract liabilities as at the end of year are related to short-term advances

HRFS ~ IR 36T SR (LIRS ~ A I8 (B RS 2%
o AR PALA RS L A
FOA B o AR AR B T SR
TELFRS 40 L AE 19 B 2 I ] R iU
FK < W HTE & HBAT Z TR — 820
B LIRS A AT B -

received from customers for the Group’s property management services, value-added
services to non-property owners, community value-added services and brand and
management output services. The Group receives payments from customers based
on billing schedules as established in the property management and value-added
services to non-property owners contracts. A portion of payments is usually received
in advance of the performance under the contracts which are mainly from property

management services.

(b) BEER TR LT A8 S B R 2 (b) The balance mainly represents security deposits received from tenants and suppliers
DA i AR A ORI A B 1% 4 o

and rental deposits from lessees.
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ZERCEFFZH=E+—H
31 December 2023

25. it BEAT B ILAbAR X

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS
WoRo=gE A=
At 31 December 2023
HBEFIZ (9) JiE i AR
Effective
interest rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
H Current
SRATRR — AR Bank loans — secured 5 R 45,000
2024
SRAT R — JEHCHR Bank loans — unsecured 4.1-5.2 R 13,000
2024
TR0 Bk ) BV 4 Current portion of long term 5 R 6,040
SATER — FIEH Bank loans — secured 2024
At — H Total — current 64,040
FE B Non-current
SRITE — A KA Bank loans — secured 5 "R e 9,060
BIRTA
2025-2026
Mt Total 73,100
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25. ut B AT B ILAb AR K ) 25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)
Moo —FE+-H=+—H
At 31 December 2022

B A ZE(%) JeE G ANRE T
Effective
interest rate (%) Maturity RMB 000
8 Current
SRAT R — AL Bank loans — unsecured 4.2-4.4 TECEF 68,772
2023
I B BT 43 Current portion of long term
SRATRR — AR Bank loans — secured 5 i 6,040
2023
SRATEK — A Bank loans — unsecured 4.6-5.1 —E = 10,205
2023
At — R Total — current 85,017
FEEPH Non-current
SATE K — AL Bank loans — secured 5 CECHER 15,100
“FANE
2025-2026
o Total 100,117
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ZERCEFFZH=E+—H
31 December 2023

25.

210 IEZE M4 M A PR /A W Zhenro Services Group Limited

il BT B ILAB A )

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS (Continued)

oo Fos

E T
2023 2022
AR T NBWTFT
RMB’000 RMB 000

vy Analysed into:
—IERER Repayable within one year 64,040 85,017
TR RENEE Repayable within two to five years 9,060 15,100
At Total 73,100 100,117

AL BN RERHE > W% E
GIES -3

BRERZ =+ ZA=+—H > A4%H
HERAT 15 BN R 15,100,000 70 (& =
A NRW21,140,00000) HIE4E4E
A R IR T ol A 2 T — ] A JB A ) VL i
BRI 709 I HESEA o

AR ST A= —H o AEE
A9 BRAT N R 524,000,000 78 (%
TAE  NRWEEIT) HOIEARE A F) KR
SRS o

R-ZZ=F+ZA=+—H > &EH
M ERAT B A B 21,000,000 7T (—F
ZAE  NRWEER D) A EREE AR
21,600,000 TCHY B HEHH > 7R | IE 4648
B0 R R ROR S e AR

The Group'’s borrowings are all denominated in RMB and bore interest at

fixed rates.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's bank borrowings of
RMB15,100,000 (2022: RMB21,140,000) were guaranteed by Zhenro
Group Company and pledged by 70% equity interests of Jiangsu Sutie, a
subsidiary the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's bank borrowings of
RMB24,000,000 (2022: nil) were guaranteed by Zhenro Group Company
and Mr. Ou Zongrong.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank borrowings of
RMB21,000,000 (2022: nil) were pledged by the Group’s car park spaces
with a carrying amount of RMB21,600,000 and also guaranteed by
Zhenro Group Company and Mr. Ou Zongrong.



485 e i

Notes to Financial Statements
—E—=gt-A=+—H
31 December 2023

26. IERBLH 26. DEFERRED TAX
R REBIAE E KA BB T - The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as
follows:
BRI Deferred tax assets
il
SRMEEWE AEANEE  EARx HEAR it
Losses
available for
offsetting
Impairment  against future Accrued Lease
of financial assets taxable profits expenses liabilities Total

NERTE  AEBRTT  ARWFT  ARFFT  ARETT
RMBUOO  RMBU®O  RMBUOO  RMBUNO  RMBUOD

R-Z-_#—F—H At 1 January 2022 13,675 8,623 1,798 37,601 61,697
HENBAT Disposal of a subsidiary (501) (90) (33) (2,697) (3,321)
R (BRE) / STABGR  Deferred tax (charged)/credited to profit or

TEAERUE (fiHE10) loss during the year (note 10) 30,174 1,737 79 (16,807) 17,183

REFZZFEFZA=F—H  Ac31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023

k=Z-=F—F-A 45348 10,270 1,844 18,097 79,599
R (FUBRE) /FEABER  Deferred tax (chargedcredited to profit or

TEAERUE (fHzk10) loss during the year (note 10) (1,605) (1423) 1,256 (17,092) (18954)
REZZ=ZFFZA=4—H  At31 December 2023 £,653 8,847 3,100 1,005 56,605
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26. EHEBLIE ) 26.

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

PEIERLIE A& Deferred tax liabilities
bR REME  WEHE
WSS  WAEEE  ATEER Bl it
Change in
Amortisation fair value of
ofother  Right-of-use  investment  Finance lease
intangible assets assets properties receivables Total
NRHTE  ARETFT  ARWTT  ARWTT  ARETx
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
RoZ-E—A—H At 1 January 2022 11,882 2,047 30,883 32,142 85,954
HERBAR Disposal of a subsidiary - (65) (4,175) (3463) (7,703)
ERF ARG RERE Deferred tax credited to profit or loss during
(HfzE10) the year (note 10) (1,526) (886) (15,900) (19,167) (37479)
REFZZHEFZAZF—H  Ac31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023
R-F_ZH-A-H 10356 1,09 19,808 9512 40,772
ERF ARG RERE Deferred tax credited to profit or loss during
(fitzk10) the year (note 10) (1,525) (656) (16,148) 9512) (27,841)
REFZZH4ZA=4H  Ac31 December 2023 8,831 440 3,660 - 12931

WoECZFEF A=+ —H > RS

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have
M & TRERIHEE R EHORER
A RIBR IR M LS o LAT B st B 5

been offset in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31

December 2023. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances

e B T 5 IR LA B 04

for financial reporting purposes:

—E = e S
2023 2022
AR AR TIT
RMB’000 RMB000
JA S5 A B IR LR N HERR /Y Net deferred tax assets recognised in the
R HE R YL VR consolidated statement of financial position 55,953 53,383
TR SR A BRI R N ERR AY Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
AR & (& R AR consolidated statement of financial position 12,279 18,596
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26. BB ) 26. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

A JE AL IE £1 6 (49)
AEMEFBELNBEERL AR
#6,562,00070 (=& = 4 AR
2,765,0007G) » FL AT Ak 4 BRI HE U 5% 4
BRI TR A AR )1 2R 2 T LB Uik A o
RoZZ_=F+-H=+—H0 > &%
B 7E AP A M A B TR R 4R A R
#107,586,0007C (& = "4F AR
79,275,0007G) » AT ALK 8 5% 55 8% 1
T 48 1) B B 10 A 2R JRE SRR s 1 11 39 BR A%
R—FHERH - HRESFEEREE
BLZRMMEAR > AAREMZLRIK
] e B SRR i R DA B B s
18 O ek R 56 s 4R T R IR A B T
& o

S A T 51 F R AR AR S E

Deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of RMB6,562,000 (2022:
RMB2,765,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting against
future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The
Group had tax losses arising in Chinese Mainland of RMB107,586,000
as at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB79,275,000) that will expire in one
to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits of the entities in
which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been
loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable

profits will be available against which the taxable losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following

items:

—g—= —E——
2023 2022
ANRIWFTFI ANEHTT
RMB’000 RMB 000
B 1R Tax losses 78,759 40,959
EEiSIk = Deductible temporary difference 106,664 =
AEt Total 185,423 40,959

A B I s 4R 3 S R % 4 B
i 48 A A 23 R () R AR B AR B ) o A%
P 5 N K T e B R A DA AR
2 v U NG il s TN R S
TEBLHE FE -

7% S T JRURN 2% 5 AE I A BRSO
RARA ZFFNE—H - HEELEN
BRI BT 2 IR R S A TR o AR
MR ABR R 10% (ZF 4 : 10%) -

The above tax losses are available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of the above items as it is not
considered probable that taxable profits will be available against which

the above items can be utilised.

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by
those subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008. The applicable rate is 10% (2022: 10%)
for the Group.
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PS

26.

WEHEBLIE ()

A JE R IE £1 6 (49)
MWoZZ=F+ A =1+—H - it
7% 45 T 7 r 0 1A b A 7 6 A T 4 ) 2B
A TE OB 1 oK T H 280 ) A5F 1) FEL 4 B e
FRIEBLIA o 11 TY i A L ] HE R b B
T St o 2 ) 0 e BB T 7 R
7% 52 8 1 4 1 R B8 A o B g b A
o AR SR [ Y A > WOTE W] TR R RO
KA R 5y LA AR 68 Ui ) o B A o
1] A B A ) A R T S O R R
HEBEABNERERBERHAR
#405,136,00070 (—F . 4F 0 AR

26.

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

At 31 December 2023, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings
that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in Chinese Mainland. This is because the Company controls
the dividend policy of the Chinese Mainland subsidiaries and the
directors determined that the Group’s fund will be retained in Chinese
Mainland for the expansion of the Group’s operation, so such retained
earnings are not likely to be distributed in the foreseeable future. The
aggregate amounts of temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland for which deferred tax liabilities have
not been recognised totalled approximately RMB405,136,000 (2022:

398,679,0007C) °

27. JBEAR

RMB398,679,000).

27. SHARE CAPITAL

e s S
2023 2022
AR NR¥TFT
RMB’000 RMB 000
pepiiliie d=iE Number of ordinary shares:
EE Authorised:
B BT R 0.002 35 76 ) -4 it Ordinary shares of US$0.002 each (2022:
(ZF T4 £ 0.0023E7T) US$0.002) 20,000,000,000  20,000,000,000
BT : Issued:
I T {EL0.002 38 T 35488 Ordinary shares of US$0.002 each (2022:
(ZF 4 1 0.002% L) US$0.002) 1,037,500,000  1,037,500,000
e s S
2023 2022
AR AR¥Fr
RMB000 RMB 000
S Amounts:
ST R Issued and fully paid:
I I {EL0.002 38 T 5488 Ordinary shares of US$0.002 each (2022:
(ZF T4 1 0.002%T) US$0.002) 7,867 7,867
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28. it
45 5 T T 4 Y B B

55

B IR B R 112 HINAR B HE

W% -

(a)

(b)

(c)

e i 15

P55 R 1 B P 2 B 2 B B 8
EEE o MEBERE RS
AR EREIRT B > e
i (B AR A28 W) RE A L AR 3 )
TR H SRR R R P A% S I
BT > AfERAREMNK -

BAGE

RE-F-NFE+—HLHTZ
46 1B ik - AS/A F 1l Sky Bridge
E1750,000 e A 24 A A B (1
TR RE B > DAL, 000
Future Prosperity (BVI)FJHZA (Rf
Future Prosperity BV 2B BT
JRCA) o T B 8 A 2 ] fR A B

B Bk

AR S Y £ OF G A S L B
A B R A ) 3 AL T 4
SIS I A 1 R 0 B A 0t

% 2 BB

AR r I 2 R 3 B v I AL F B
J 2~ R ALK R A > AR B
$& ILBRBLAR M Y 109 R A 2
FERGEE > IR R g EHER
HOE > HEHEREEE R
AWI50% o 2B B B K K
) LA R A0 B P R T R RY
AR 52 L B kAR T R RS
BB > MR G B A
AFORE TR M EARN25% -
fite 75 PR LB A LA ST AR
s A& > IS A A Bl B 7

28. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein for the

current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement of

changes in equity on page 112 of the financial statements.

(a)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. Under the constitutional
documents and the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium is distributable as dividend on the condition that
the Company is able to pay its debts when they fall due in the
ordinary course of business at the time the proposed dividend is to

be paid.

Capital reserve

Pursuant to the share swap agreement on 7 November 2019, the
Company issued 50,000 consideration shares of the Company of
US$1 each to Sky Bridge in exchange for 1,000 shares of Future
Prosperity (BVI), representing the entire issued share capital of
Future Prosperity (BVI). The excess of the par value over the share
capital of the Company was recognised as capital reserve.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group represents the capital contribution
of the then holding company of the companies now comprising the
Group, after elimination of the investments in subsidiaries for the

Reorganisation.

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the articles of
association of the subsidiaries established in the PRC, the Group
is required to appropriate 10% of its net profits after tax, as
determined under the Chinese Accounting Standards, to the
statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of
its registered capital. Subject to certain restrictions set out in the
relevant PRC regulations and in the articles of association of the
subsidiaries, the statutory surplus reserve may be used either to
offset losses, or to be converted to increase share capital, provided
that the balance after such conversion is not less than 25% of the
registered capital of the respective entities. The reserve cannot be
used for purposes other than those for which it is created and is not
distributable as cash dividends.
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29. A LA R

29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS
(a) FHEEHER S (a) Major non-cash transactions
RZFZ A A H LI S During the year of 2022, the Group agreed with Zhenro Properties
A 1B Pk o DAREAST IE 2 s 4 Group to offset the outstanding amounts due from Zhenro
f) L 5 415 WS I 6 o E AR Properties Group by the rentals payable to Zhenro Properties
FEBEOZE > BEEAE AR Group with a total amount of RMB68,267,000.

68,267,0007C ©

(b) RS B A AR E) (b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

it BSRITR i
FERHAE Hftufiak Wl L

Interest-bearing

Interest  bank and other ~ Due to related Lease
payables borrowings companies liabilities
ANRETT  ARBTFT  ARETFT  ARETI
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
RoF=E—H—H At 1 January 2022 - 118,099 2,594 150,404
BB Interest expenses 5,659 - = 6,060
A 7 Disposal of a subsidiary = = (64) (10,790)
TR 7 RIEA B Offset by amount due from related
companies = = = (68,267)
HERBRANSNE Cash flows used in operating
activities (5,699) = (490) -
REEB ST E Cash flows used in financing activities = (17,982) = (5,019)
REFZZHEFZH=4—H  Ac31 December 2022 - 100,117 2,040 72,388
FIEB Interest expenses 3,799 - - 2,956
g New Lease = = = 1,249
REFBIERENE Cash flows from operating
activities (3,799) - 603 -
MEFBTARSNE Cash flows used in financing
activities - (27,017) (204) (72,573)
REFZZH+ZH=4—H  Ac31 December 2023 - 73,100 2,439 4020
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31 December 2023

29. HAEBSRERWE @)

(© MEMBIER N
AR SRR AR SR h

29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (Coatinued)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of cash

wmr flows is as follows:
TR TR T T
2023 2022
AR¥Fr ARBFr
RMB 000 RMB 000
B8 % TR B A Within operating activities 2,989 3,007
RRETEEN Within financing activities 72,573 5,019
M5t Total 75,562 8,026
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30. BHIBETS % 5 30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a)  BRHEAMbs 3 A2 5 A0 - AL (a)  In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere, the Group had
SR ET U TS the following transactions with related parties:
e i —E T
2023 2022
AR T ANBWTFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
B NGk 7 E L Property management services,
RS ~ HE(E AR S LA R value-added services, and brand and
T A B ) RS (i) management output services rendered
to related companies (i)
IE 4 S Zhenro Properties Group 50,786 140,436
TESEEE A\ ) Zhenro Group Company - 4,813
IEEMESMN G ERER Joint ventures and associates of Zhenro
=g/l Properties Group 12,256 22,233
IESRSE A B R s A An associate of Zhenro Group Company 377 6,866
63,419 174,348
TR —E T
2023 2022
AR T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
1) BRI 2w S A A FH B R 0E Lease payment to related companies
IE&EHh 4 Zhenro Properties Group 71,966 5,019
(i) B G IR IS B It (i)  These transactions were carried out in accordance with
[F] 1% 5 AR B B A AT o the terms and conditions mutually agreed by the parties

involved.
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30. BRI 25 ) 30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(b) BB T B AR AT S5 R (b) Outstanding balances with related parties
TR -~
2023 2022
ARIFTFIT ANRHT 7T
RMB’000 RMB 000
JRE WA R W A W) O Due from related companies:
B oM E Trade related
1E 45 s 52 ) Zhenro Properties Group 33,574 89,881
IESRAEEAF Zhenro Group Company 1,277 1,036
RS S ) BB ARk Joint ventures and associates of Zhenro
T ) Properties Group 9,237 18,168
ESRAE I\ R W A ) An associate of Zhenro Group Company 1,353 919
Awf Total 45,441 110,004
T ASF A A W) KR Due to related companies:
H oM Trade related
B E R ER G B Rk Joint ventures and associates of Zhenro
g A ) Properties Group 2,439 1,836
JRE A% B i 2 R K0 Due to related companies:
FEE G M Non-trade related
EAMEEENSESE Joint ventures and associates of Zhenro
k- NG| Properties Group - 204
—F = —E T
2023 2022
AR T AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB000
MEAH - Lease liabilities:
H oM Trade related
RS 2 4 1 Zhenro Properties Group 2,969 72,258
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30. BHIBE TS 2 B )

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)  BLBRE 7 B ARAT Bk 4g) (b) Outstanding balances with related parties (Continued)
—a_=uE . SR
2023 2022
ANR#FIT AR
RMB000 RMB 000
JRE W R W A i Due from related companies
A% Gross amount 226,223 231,547
BE Impairment (180,782) (121,543)
st Total 45,441 110,004

TR SR B 88 5% H W R An B s
AR B4R 15 A M B B 2 W KL iR

An ageing analysis of the due from related companies as at the end

of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss

BT - allowance, is as follows:
e s B S
2023 2022
YN n AR¥F
RMB’000 RMB 000
—4EN Within 1 year 14,413 63,305
—F A 1 to 2 years 31,028 46,699
st Total 45,441 110,004
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30. BB RS )
(b)  SRBHB W ARAT S ()
e BRI 25 ) R A A

(b)

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Outstanding balances with related parties (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of due from

ST related companies are as follows:
—E = TET T
2023 2022
ANRIWFIT ANBHT
RMB’000 RMB 000
4] At beginning of year 121,543 12,707
W (E R AR (FEe) Impairment losses, net (note 6) 59,239 108,836
R At end of year 180,782 121,543

R WS B i 2 )RR A AR - A
Bty BEEMA=MA -

W Wt 75 IR M VL s HEL A A F T2 T
H L E R R TEAT -

Amounts due from related companies were unsecured, interest-free

with a credit term of 3 months.

The calculation of loss allowance for receivables arising from

related parties was carried out by an independent specialist, JLL.

© ABEEFEEHA B FHM (c) Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group
e S TET T
2023 2022
ANRIWFFI ANRHTT
RMB000 RMB000
FL (R B Aa A Short term employee benefits 6,846 10,591
RIRE FH IR B AL e 4 A Pension scheme contributions and
social welfare 889 844
AT FEEA BB FHMAE  Total compensation paid to key
management personnel 7,735 11,435

A 0 — P R ORI AT
8o

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 8.
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31, $RJUNB 23 0 2k T 1 31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
FE &R R IREEMNT The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments

are as follows:

R C=EFFTZAZ+—H At 31 December 2023
LG E Financial assets
R 9 A B MR 1
SRR
Financial assets
at amortised cost
AR
RMB000
B 5 RENSEIA ( M]LEEZO) Trade receivables (note 20) 309,747
JREMSC BB 2 w1 3XIE (BT 30) Due from related companies (note 30) 45,441
FEATEN R ﬁﬂ!@l&( KA Financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
HAbE E’J%Iﬁiﬂ HiE (Btek21) and other assets (note 21) 60,510
& R AT 450 (i k22) Cash and bank balances (note 22) 579,146
HEt Total 994,844
LREE Financial liabilities
TS AT R
AL
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
A REFIT
RMB’000
B 5 REAT A (MisE23) Trade payables (note 23) 165,434
A M’.}?Eﬁ }\IE&JE #H M Financial liabilities included in other payables and
SAE (FaE24) accruals (note 24) 153,775
WEHE% FIE (MHEE30) Due to related parties (note 30) 2,439
AR /ﬁ\:m%#‘k MfEE2s) Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (note 25) 73,100
Mt Total 394,748
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31.

RN AN EMTH @)

RE-FZ_H+ZA=+—H

£y <

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(Continued)

At 31 December 2022

Financial assets
TS AR 51 R 1Y
SREE
Financial assets

at amortised cost

AR¥Fr

RMB’000

G 5 G IA (FFE20) Trade receivables (note 20) 282,667

JRE o B e _Jj%k (Bt EE30) Due from related companies (note 30) 110,004
FEAFTK HAMEW A Financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables

HAth & E’Jélﬁﬂ & (ffet21) and other assets (note 21) 94,371

Bl MERTTEERR (Fiak22) Cash and bank balances (note 22) 691,627

o Total 1,178,669

S RE Financial liabilities
FeEr AR B R Y
SHAE

Financial liabilities

at amortised cost

ARBFT

RMB’000

B 5y AT A (M5t 23) Trade payables (note 23) 149,479
é1’)\ LAt A SR IE S T2 Y Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals

AR (fEE24) (note 24) 136,094

Wgﬁﬁﬁﬂgﬁfa‘)\ (Bt 30) Due to related parties (note 30) 2,040

FEESRAT B At fE 2R (Mt aE2s) Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (note 25) 100,117

MGt Total 387,730
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32.

224 EAMFEEBMA AR Zhenro Services Group Limited

S T AT B AT
&

AR B TR AR A R P (R
A MER AT EN SR IARI) @
R

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial instruments,

other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably approximate to

fair values, are as follows:

BT i AFE
Carrying
amounts Fair values
ANEH T N
RMB'000 RMB’000
—F_=HE+"A=+—H 31 December 2023
FHESRAT REAMN MK — FERIM  Incerest-bearing bank and other borrowings —
non-current 9,060 8,575
FU At 8 3R — FE B Other payables — non-current 7,364 7,171
At Total 16,424 15,746
AR (EL ~VHE
Carrying
amounts Fair values
ANBRHT T AR TIT
RMB'000 RMB000
“EFE - CFt-HA=1+—H 31 December 2022
FHEERAT HHANEZK — JERIH  Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings —
non-current 15,100 15,353
oMb REAT I — JE R Other payables — non-current 11,114 10,822
Azt Total 26,214 26,175
B Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and bank balances,

R B & RRITHR  BaE
JE AT AR - HA R A
B A 7 1Y O~ B TR By K
W~ R 5 MEATROR ~ A A A A
T e st 2 1 0 < i B (RO BB A
A5F B B 7 IR DA K Rt B R AT B A i 3K
£ B J03 388 1 B - B KL SR T (AR A
FER MR %% TR 2 MR E -

'

i

trade receivables, financial assets included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets, amounts due from related parties, trade
payables, financial liabilities included in the current portion of other
payables and accruals, amounts due to related parties, and the current
portion of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings approximate to
their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these

instruments.
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32.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group's corporate finance team headed by the finance manager is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. The corporate finance team reports
directly to the board of directors of the Company. At each reporting
date, the corporate finance team analyses the movements in the values
of financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial
officer. The valuation process and results are discussed with the board of

directors twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the

fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, and non-current portion of other payables have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and
remaining maturities. The Group's own non-performance risk for interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings and other payables was assessed to be

insignificant as at end of year.
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32. 2T HMAPMEEATEM 32, FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

J& B ) OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
WENTEZ AR : Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:
R CEZE+YH=Z+—H 31 December 2023

WlmGz  ERTRE EAATERE

Bl i\ BAMR it
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
(5 —#%) (S =#%) (SE=H)
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
ANBEFE  ARWTT  ARMTT  ARFTL
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
FTESRAT MM Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
— JEHIH — non-current - 8,575 - 8,575
HABRER FE Other payables
— JE B — non-current = = 7,171 7,171
5t Total - 8,575 7,171 15,746
SECCEFZA=T—H 31 December 2022

wRMGe  ERTBE  EAATEE

i AR A B 5t
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
(SF—H) (=) (=)
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
ANBFTT  ARWTFT  ARKTE  ARKFTT
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ST ESRAT MMM Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
— JERp — non-current - 15,353 - 15,353
HABRER FH Other payables
— JE B — non-current - - 10,822 10,822
A5t Total - 15,353 10,822 26,175

[l U226 ERMBEMAMAT Zhenro Services Group Limited
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33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments mainly include trade
receivables, amounts due from related companies, financial assets included
in prepayments, other receivables and other assets, cash and bank
balances, trade payables, amounts due to related companies, and financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, which arise directly
from its operations. The Group has other financial assets and liabilities
such as lease liabilities and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the

Group's operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Generally, the Group
introduces conservative strategies on its risk management. To keep
the Group’s exposure to these risks at a minimum, the Group has not
used any derivatives and other instruments for hedging purposes. The
Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading
purposes. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing

each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Foreign Currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise
from the bank balances denominated in HKD and USD. But the Group
considers the risk exposure to foreign currency fluctuation is limited as
long as the HK$ remains pegged to the US$. This analysis is performed
on the same basis for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most of its
business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally denominated in
the functional currencies of the group entities. The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency

exposure should the need arise.
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33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its trade receivables,
other receivables, amounts due from related companies and cash and bank

balances.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit risk associated with
cash and bank balances since they are substantially deposited at state-
owned banks and other medium or large-sized listed banks in Chinese
Mainland. Management does not expect that there will be any significant

losses from non-performance by these banks.

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk for trade receivables
and other receivables from third parties as the customer bases of the
Group's trade receivables and other receivables from third parties are
widely dispersed. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an

ongoing basis.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.
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33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure to
credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, which is mainly based on
past due information unless other information is available without undue
cost or effort, and year-end staging classification. The amounts presented

are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

31 December 2023

12AA A
S
12-month ERERNENE SRR
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
i BB IR L3 it
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total

AT ARFTE  ARETT AREFL  ARKTFZ
RMBUW  RMBUW  RMBUW  RMBWW  RMBUO

BRI Trade receivables - - - 392,795 392,795
e A 08 Due from related companies

UL Trade relaed - - - 2603 2603
ATATERTHE  EMBIERR  Financial assts included in prepayments,

HEENEHERE other receivables and other assets

- ¥ - Notmal” 61,723 - - - 61,723

—HE - Doubtful” - 3178 - - 3178
R Cash and bank balances

- HkiEH ~ Not yet past due 579,146 - - - 579,146
it Toul 640,869 3178 - 619,018 1,263,065
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33.

W B BB 45 B H B R BR 33, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

(%) AND POLICIES (Continued)
%E}ﬂ Fﬁﬁ (#5) Credit risk (Continued)
Bic fel R gt L 1D B A K 4 B B () Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)
“EFCCEFZA=1—H 31 December 2022
12 A
[FEwHH
12-month EREENERGRER
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
HTE s MR H=IEB fifenk At
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Simplified approach Total

ARKTE  ARKTT  ARNTT  ARKTT  ARETT
RMBUOO  RMBWO  RMBUW  RMBUW  RMBUW

AEMERIGE Finance lease receivables 38,046 = = = 38,046
UL lEU Trade receivables’ - - - 325,09 325,09
TEB A IR Due from related companies
FakR Trade related - - - B1547 B1547
AT  HMBIGIER  Financial asses included in prepayments,
HEENSMEE other receivables and other assets
-~ - Nomal” 98,263 - - - 98263
R Cash and bank balances
— A —Not yet past due 091,627 - - - 091,627
&t Total 827,936 - - 556,840 1,384,776
* A S O S LA A 0 7 0 2 0 B WK % For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach for
T 5 B J38 A8 60 () 6 RHIA B 33 20 impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 20.
i -
ok ER AT R - BRI R H AL #%  The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables

TEE M4 S DA B R ) B R
i ) HL R UR 32 %5 R A E 0 15
B R B 1 W0 0 e R AR s
FEMEEZFREARBEBIER ] -
BRI e B A N SRR [
Bt o

0 IEZ MR 4E A R A Zhenro Services Group Limited

and other assets and amounts due from related companies is considered to be
“normal” when they are not past due and there is no information indicating that
the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.
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33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of

funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing bank and other

borrowings. Cash flows are closely monitored on an ongoing basis.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on the

contractual undiscounted payments, was as follows:

At 31 December 2023

38 A DA B
KER  AHFR I 1)L At
Less than More than

3 months or 3 months and
ondemand  within 1 year Over 1 year Total
ANEHTE  ARETE  ARETT  ARETE
RMB 000 RMB000 RMB 000 RMB000

B 5 AT 3 Trade payables 165,434 = = 165,434
LA SR R T 2 Other payables and accruals 153,775 - - 153,775
T ERAT BRI A K Interest-bearing bank and other

borrowings 892 65,874 9,495 76,261
HEALR Lease liabilities 793 2,740 1,041 4,574
A TR /A R R Due to related companies 2,439 - - 2,439
At Total 323,333 68,614 10,536 402,483
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33 M R B AT P H B R B 33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

(%) AND POLICIES (Continued)
{)ﬁ@] ﬁﬁ}ﬂ Fﬁ (%) Liquidity risk (Continued)
W_E A=+ —H At 31 December 2022
38 A AR
BERK 3EARIE LRI E A5t
Less than More than

3 monthsor 3 months and

ondemand  within 1 year Over 1 year Total
NBHTE  AR¥TT ARWTT ARWTT
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
& 5 EA E0E Trade payables 149,479 = = 149,479
HAMEM TR R &M Other payables and accruals 136,094 - - 136,094
T BT R A AR Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings 1,770 86,901 15,855 104,526
HEAR Lease liabilities 876 70,988 3,118 74,982
JREASH B 7 3OR Due to related companies 2,040 = = 2,040
At Total 290,259 157,889 18,973 467,121
BAE B Capital management
AEBEAERN I EAERREAL The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are to
B R AR O e I MR RR R ) B A B safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
s DASCHREH R BOR(E (B m A AL maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and

maximise shareholders’ value.

7 B2 T AR KR L B A AL P K o The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in

BHEARE - BENIGIBEAR light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital

T% A SR T B8 oA R A T R structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
© [ RRR R EA BT R - return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.
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33 M M B AT P H B R B 33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

(4 AND POLICIES (Continued)
BAEH (47) Capital management (Continued)
ALBENEAABRERELEEA > & The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is interest-
7B G LR & B R R bearing bank and borrowings divided by total equity as of the end of each
AT RAEH R DR AR R - B4R financial year. The gearing ratios were as follows:
R
TR e
2023 2022
AW T ANRWT T
RMB’000 RMB 000
it BT R HoAth 3K Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 73,100 100,117
fE2s 4a% Total equity 1,088,542 1,169,291
EAAFILER Gearing ratio 6.7% 8.6%
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34. A2 vl BN DL 34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY
G IR - A B A R IR R 1 Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at
R the end of the reporting period is as follows:

TR “ET T

2023 2022
ANRWEF ANREFr
RMB000 RMB’000
TR e NON-CURRENT ASSETS
BB A R g Investments in subsidiaries 2,524 2,524
B E CURRENT ASSETS
JRE WAL B Bt /A ] 3K0E Due from related companies 1,127,649 1,039,133
HoAth FE SR IH Other receivables = 49
Bla MERTT 45 % Cash and bank balances 68 45
TENE Total current assets 1,127,717 1,039,227
REHME CURRENT LIABILITIES
oAb A RIE Other payables 1,051 255
BB E NET CURRENT ASSETS 1,126,666 1,038,972
FEE NET ASSETS 1,129,190 1,041,496
s EQUITY
BEAFIHEA N RERS Equity attributable to owners of the parent
A Share capital 7,867 7,867
Tt Reserves 1,121,323 1,033,629
AR TOTAL EQUITY 1,129,190 1,041,496
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34. ARG WBR DR (4

35.

36.

fit

A AT

34.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

JBeA i A B RER U A5t

Exchange

Share Capital fluctuation
premium reserve reserves Total
ANBHTT AR¥FT ARWFT ARETT
RMB000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB000
WoE - HF—H—H At 1 January 2022 1,061,564 2,168 (89,302) 974,430
LN N Total comprehensive income for the year - - 59,199 59,199

MEFEZZHEFTZH=1T—HHK  At31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023

“F=F—H—H 1,061,564 2,168 (30,103) 1,033,629
LN N Y Total comprehensive income for the year - - 87,694 87,694
REFZ=HFZA=T—H At 31 December 2023 1,061,564 2,168 57,591 1,121,323

4%
MRZEZWEZH =+ NAH» AXFHE
DH IR AR B K & DA~ HEME JB R
)= FIERE M B AR &k (B A
AAE B R T E T ET A JUE
(TR ]) ) RHIE T HET IR S
(1) ZF A AR N IS B AL Tk (8 28
FRK) REIE N EETNZS 5 (i) =
Z AR H I O R Tk (&
W) RHIE R EETIR S 5 RGv =
F Y AR T A A W R (e A
bR BT R HEETIIE S © A BRZ5EE
G E— LN > WS HAN R HIES
MEEER -F - =F+ A 1TNHA
TR & A RE R

b A B
HH GBS AR
B HE TSRS W -

35.

36.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 28 February 2024, an extraordinary general meeting was held to consider, approve and
ratify (i) the 2024 Fuzhou Mabao Lease Agreement (as defined in the Company's circular
dated 9 February 2024 (the “Circular”)) and the transactions contemplated thereunder; (ii)
the 2024 Fuzhou Mawei Lease Agreement (as defined in the Circular) and the transactions
contemplated thereunder; (iii) the 2024 Putian Fortune Centre Lease Agreement (as defined
in the Circular) and the transactions contemplated thereunder; and (iv) the 2024 Putian
Street Lease Agreement (as defined in the Circular) and the transactions contemplated
thereunder. For further details on the transactions, please refer to the joint announcement
issued by the Company and Zhenro Properties Group dated 29 December 2023 and the

Circular.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
board of directors on 28 March 2024.
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Financial Summary

BET-H=1+—HI4E
Year ended 31 December
B = e e
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
ANRETFT AREFIT AREFT AREFT AREFT
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000

A Revenue 1,145,503 1,141,293 1,335,788 1,102,752 716,220
A Gross profit 244,672 252,856 428,111 383,375 244,489
ER (E) / (Loss)/profit for the year

i (81,936) (280,749) 177,641 175,159 109,160

EEYNEIE ZEPN (Loss)/profit for the year

@15@5 A attributable to owners
(B518) /WM of the parent (81,189) (281,326) 174,578 171,647 105,358
#t—HA=+—H
As at 31 December
“RO=ERE T R ZECERE R UE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
ANRETFT AREFIT ANRETFT AREFIT ARETT
RMB000 RMB 000 RMB000 RMB 000 RMB 000
FE i Eh G E Non-current assets 804,324 733,535 1,076,026 145,325 139,912
mENE Current assets 1,042,394 1,248,014 1,442,542 1,830,355 389,194
Y AR Total assets 1,846,718 1,981,549 2,518,568 1,975,680 529,106
JEviE B Non-current liabilities 29,602 47,786 165,118 29,761 40,919
mE AR Current liabilities 728,574 764,472 880,149 562,283 360,127
ABAH Total liabilities 758,176 812,258 1,045,267 592,044 401,046
Rt Total equity 1,088,542 1,169,291 1,473,301 1,383,636 128,060
EARHEA N Toral equity attributable
FEAERERSZA%H  co owners of the parent 1,082,431 1,163,643 1,451,140 1,363,566 111,502
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